
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 

Riverbank House 
Bideford 

Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 

DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

 

Date: 1 April 2022 
 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford 

Thursday 14 April 2022 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The 

Council is also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used 
are Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public 

will be able to attend the meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public 

participation. Any members of the public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch 
through the Councils YouTube Channel https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 

AGENDA 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 

 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 14) 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 10 March 2022. 
 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube


 

 

3.   Declaration of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 

 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 

considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 

consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  

5.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 

 

6.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 

 

7.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 

meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 

(a)   Application No. 1/1057/2021/FULM (Pages 15 - 53) 

 Installation and operation of a solar farm together with all associated works, 
equipment and infrastructure (Further Information) - Land At Webbery Barton And 
Cleave Farm, Bideford, Devon 

 

(b)   Application No. 1/0910/2021/FUL (Pages 54 - 67) 

 Change of use of land to increase maximum number of pitches from 5 to 15 - 
Seabreeze Certificated Location Caravan Site, Long Lane, Appledore 

 

(c)   Application No. 1/1351/2021/FUL (Pages 68 - 77) 

 Erection of covered slurry store - Land At Worden Farm, Bradworthy, Devon. 
 

(d)   Application No. 1/0081/2022/FUL (Pages 78 - 87) 

 Removal of abandoned, partially constructed building and replace with no.1 

residential dwelling - Land At Great Philham Farm, Hartland, Devon 
 

(e)   Application No. 1/1340/2021/FUL (Pages 88 - 97) 

 Erection of 2 flats (Amended Plans) - 17 Barton Tors, East The Water, Devon 

 



 

 

(f)   Application No. 1/0036/2022/FUL (Pages 98 - 104) 

 Installation of 1 x 27.5-metre-high ground based Swann Engineering 1S lattice tower, 
6 x multi-band sector antenna fixed to tower headframe, 2 x 0.6m DIA transmission 

dishes fixed to tower headframe, 1 x ICD Airo cabinet (2100x750x600), 1 x M35 
Emerson cabinet (1600x1200x600), 1 x MK5B Link AC cabinet (1200x500x1700), 1 x 

ICD Furo cabinet (2100x750x600), 2.1m high chainlink fence around with 1m wide 
gate 7m x 6m compound, Existing Stadium Lighting to be mounted on bespoke steel 
frame (10 x luminaires, 5 x control units and 1 x electricity distribution panel), Other 

ancillary equipment and cabling. - Bideford AFC (1987) Ltd, Robins Nest Clubhouse, 
The Sportsground. 

 

8.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 105 - 114) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 

Summary 
 
Appeal Decision – Application No.1/0913/2020/FUL 

 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/1180/2020/FUL 

 

9.   Costs on Appeals (Pages 115 - 118) 

 Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref:  APP/W1145/W/21?3279537 – Goats Hill 
House, Northam, Bideford 
 

10.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 119) 

 AGMB Decisions 24.02.2022 – 31.03.2022 
 

11.   Planning Decisions (Pages 120 - 128) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 

enclosed from 24 February 2022 to 31 March 2022.        
 
 

12.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 

 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 

disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

13.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 



 

 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 

 
- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 

- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 

- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 
 

All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 
 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 

 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 

website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 

 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 

 

 

For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 

Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford 
 

Thursday, 10 March 2022 - 9.30 am 

 
PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 

 Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, 

D McGeough, P Watson and R Wiseman 

   
ALSO PRESENT S Dorey - Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring 

Officer) 
 S Harrington - Planning Manager 
 L Davies - Principal Planning Officer 

 J Jackson - Principal Planning Officer 
 S Boyle - Principal Planning Officer 

 S Chappell - Conservation Officer 
 J Williams - Public Health & Housing Manager 
 S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer 

 K Brown - Democratic Services Officer 
 

 Councillor A Dart 
 

104.    MINUTES  
 

It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Watson and – 

 
Resolved: 
 

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2022 be agreed as a correct 
record. 

 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough   X 

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:  For 8, Abstentions 1) 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

 

 
105.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST  

 

The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 

accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

106.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 

That the Agenda as circulated be agreed. 

 
107.    URGENT MATTERS  

 

There were no urgent matters brought forward. 
 

108.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 

The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council’s public participation scheme.  
 

109.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

(a)   Application No. 1/1133/2021/REMM 
 

 The following Councillors had attended the site visit listed below: 

 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie,  

R Lock, P Watson and R Wiseman 
 
 

Application No. 1/1133/2021/REMM - Reserved matters application 
for details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in respect of 

a proposal for 274 no. dwellings, associated infrastructure and open 
space pursuant outline planning permission 1/0039/2014/OUTM - 
Land to the South of Clovelly Road, Bideford, Devon 

 
Interests:  None 

 
Officer recommendation: Grant  
 

 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 

Councillor Langford for the following reason: 
 
“To consider highway safety on the surrounding area.” 

 
The Planning Manager informed Members of an update in relation to 

this application.   Unexpectedly an updated noise control scheme and 
an additional scheme relating to the Asda site which is adjacent to 

Page 6



3 
 

 
 

this site, had been submitted late by the applicants on 9 March 2022.   
Whilst the reports indicate the scheme is acceptable subject to 

mitigation, the Planning Officer and Environmental Protection Officer, 
together with Committee Members and members of the public have 

been given limited opportunity to scrutinise these documents.   
Therefore, it is recommended this application be deferred to a future 
date. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Lock 

that the application be deferred. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 

 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the application be deferred for the reason as stated above. 

 

 
(b)   Application No. 1/0128/2020/FULM 

 

 The following Councillors had attended the site visit listed below: 
 

Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie,  
R Lock, P Watson and R Wiseman 
 

 
Application No.1/0128/2020/FULM - Development of 38 dwellings 

together with access, car parking and associated works - Land 
Opposite Landon Road Industrial Estate, Bradworthy, Devon 
 

Interests:  None 
 

Officer recommendation: Grant subject to a Section 106 Agreement 
 
 

The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 

Page 7



4 
 

 
 

Councillor Boughton if the Officer was minded approving for the same 
reason as those outlined in the response from Bradworthy Parish 

Council. 
 

The Principal Planning Officer presented the report and advised 
Members of the main planning considerations.   Members were 
asked to consider additional wording to Conditions 8 – 10 namely: 

 
“Also reflects specifically the planting on the Southern boundary”.  

This reflects the recommendation in the Applicants LVIA”. 
 
 

During the debate Members raised the following matters: 
 

Members sought confirmation that the NHS contribution would be 
used solely for Bradworthy Surgery.   The Principal Planning Officer 
advised that the NHS had specifically requested the monies for this 

purpose and that can be secured in the S106 Agreement. 
 

The contribution towards off-site biodiversity net gain for projects 
undertaken by the ND Biosphere at Abbotsham Cliffs and/or 
Roborough.  Members believed that the monies should be used 

within the immediate area and certainly within the village of 
Bradworthy.   The Planning Manager commented that as there is a 

ND Biosphere it allows for the contribution to be used in the local 
area.  The Environment Act 2021 will allow applicants the option to 
purchase credits from the Secretary of State who could then 

distribute the net gain nationally.  
 

Affordable Housing - Councillor Leather referred to the District 
Valuers report and pointed out that as it is only valid for three months 
and had been produced eight months previously, reliance should not 

be placed on the viability conclusion.  He questioned whether the 
application should be deferred to allow for the development to be 

revalued. The Planning Manager addressed this issue and clarified 
the figures as set out in the District Valuers report.   
 

Councillor Wiseman outlined the risks involved regarding deferring 
the application and the development being revalued.  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Craigie, seconded by Councillor 
Christie that the application be deferred for clarification on the 

following issues raised: 
 

 Valuers Report – out of date 

 S106 Agreement – Ward Members to be involved 

 Biodiversity Offset contribution 

 
A recorded vote was taken. 

 

Page 8



5 
 

 
 

 
Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock  X  

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson  X  

Cllr R Wiseman  X  

 
 

(Vote:  For 6, Against 3) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the application be deferred for clarification on issues 

raised. 

 
 

S Lander addressed the Committee objecting to the application 
Councillor Dart, Ward Member, addressed the Committee 
 

 
(c)   Application No. 1/1119/2021/OUT 

 
 Application No. 1/1119/2021/OUT - Outline application with all 

matters reserved for the conversion of 2 no. former almshouses to 2 

no. units of holiday accommodation - The Laurels Inn, Petrockstowe, 
Okehampton 

 
Interests:  
 

Officer recommendation:  Refuse 
 

 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Wiseman for the following reason: 

 
“The application raises questions around the size of the buildings 

being able to provide high quality tourism development, and the 
impact the development will have on the listed buildings, in line with 
ST13”. 

 
The Planning Officer presented the report and informed Members of 

the main planning considerations and the reasoning for the 
recommendation of refusal. 
 

When debating the application, the following issues/concerns were 

Page 9



6 
 

 
 

raised: 
 

 This being an Outline application with all matters reserved 
potential impact of the proposed development on heritage 

assets of the village could not be assessed.  
 

 Insufficient information provided. 

 

 Outstanding objections from three statutory Consultees. 

 
Councillor Leather advised that if a FUL application was to be 

submitted, negotiations could take place with the Planning Officer to 
ensure it is an acceptable application. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Wiseman, seconded by Councillor 
Watson that the application be refused. 

 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 

(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the application be refused for the reasons as stated in the 

report. 
 

 

Mr John Gower, Agent, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application. 

 
 

(d)   Application No. 1/1253/2021/FUL 

 
 Application No. 1/1253/2021/FUL - Retrospective application for the 

retention of mobile home for ancillary domestic use - West Villa, 

Chilsworthy, Holsworthy. 
 

Interests: None 
 

Page 10



7 
 

 
 

Officer recommendation:  Grant 
 

 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 

Councillor Hepple if the Officer was minded to recommend approval.  
The reasons for the call in are as follows: 
 

1. Existing unlawful use and subject to enforcement proceedings 
2. No justification to retain mobile home and inappropriate 

development 
3. Contrary to local planning policies 

 

 
Prior to the presentation the Principal Planning Officer gave the 

following update: 
 
The report refers to the Council’s Five Year Supply position – this is 

not a material consideration to this application and should therefore 
be disregarded. 

 
Amendment to Condition 3 – 
 

“Within three months of the date of this permission, a scheme for the 
cladding or painting of the mobile home and decking, including 

timings for installation, shall be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority.   The cladding shall be installed, or the 
painting undertaken in accordance with the approved details and 

retained as such thereafter.   Natural materials and dark colours 
should be utilised.  The prior written approval of the local 

planning authority shall also be obtained in respect of the 
appearance of any replacement mobile home on the site. 
 

Reason:    In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
site. 

 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report and informed 

Members of the main planning considerations. 
 

During the debate Members mentioned the need to give support to 
small rural businesses where possible and as a licensed business 
there would be controls through the licence. 

 
Councillor Christie raised a concern in relation to the proximity of the 

two dwellings being erected behind the mobile home and 
recommended that an additional condition be imposed restricting the 
number of dogs to four. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson 

that the application be refused. 

Page 11



8 
 

 
 

 
A recorded vote was taken. 

 
Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton  X  

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie  X  

Cllr R Craigie  X  

Cllr C Leather  X  

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough  X  

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman  X  

 
(Vote:  For 3, Against 6) 
 

The motion was lost. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor 
Craigie that the application be Granted. 
 

A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock  X  

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson  X  

Cllr R Wiseman X   
 

(Vote:  For 7, Against 2) 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the application be Granted, subject to the conditions as set 
out in the report, an amendment to Condition 3 and the 

additional condition as stated above.  The wording of the 
condition to be delegated to Officers in conjunction with the 
Chair and Vice Chair. 

 
 

Jody Harris addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
Councillor Hepple, Ward Member, addressed the Committee. 
 

 

Page 12



9 
 

 
 

 
(e)   Application No. 1/1281/2021/LBC 

 
 Application No. 1/1281/2021/LBC - Repairs to bellcote and copings, 

rendering and facade redecoration. - Great Torrington Heritage 
Museum, Market House, Pannier Market 
 

Interests: Councillor Brown declared a personal interest – dual hatted 
– Gt Torrington Town Council 

 
Officer recommendation:  Grant 
 

 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee as 

the property is in the care of the District Council. 
 
Prior to the presentation the Conservation Officer explained why in 

her report she had used the words “in the care of” – “the Authority are 
the custodians of these buildings and must pass them on to future 

generations”.    
 
The Conservation Officer presented the report and informed 

Members of the main planning considerations. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor 
Watson that the application be approved. 
 

A recorded vote was taken. 
 

 
Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 

 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the application be Granted, subject to the conditions as set 
out in the report. 

 

 

Page 13



10 
 

 
 

 
110.    APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  

 

The Committee noted the Appeal Decisions. 

 
111.    COSTS ON APPEALS  

 

There were no Costs on Appeals. 
 

112.    DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 

The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 

 
113.    PLANNING DECISIONS  

 

RESOLVED 
 

That the Planning decisions for the period 20 January 2022 to 24 February 2022 be 
noted. 

 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 11.30am. 
 

 
    
 

 

Page 14



 
Committee Report – 14th April 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1057/2021/FULM 

Registration date: 1 September 2021 

Expiry date:  1 December 2021 

Applicant:  Lightsource SPV 175 Limited  

Agent:  Pegasus Group 

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Land At Webbery Barton And Cleave Farm,  
Bideford,  
Devon, 
 
   
 

Proposal:  Installation and operation of a solar farm together 
with all associated works, equipment and 
infrastructure (Further Information) 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7a



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 

This application was called in by Councillor Lock for members to consider: 
 
- Overlooking 
- Noise 
- Traffic 
- Privacy 
- Environment 
- Footpaths 
- Intrusion into the Haddacott County Wildlife Site. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
      

1/0997/2012/FULM Construction of photovoltaic 
(PV) solar array and 
associated works 

PER 18.02.2013 

     

1/0279/2019/SCR Installation of a solar 
photovoltaic (PV) farm with 
ancillary infrastructure 

SCRP 10.05.2019 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 

Site Description: 
The application site is located approximately 2.5km southeast of the settlement boundary of 
Bideford and less than 1km from the village of Alverdiscott to the east. The application site is 
divided into three parcels of land extending to some 63.2 hectares and is currently 
predominantly in used for agricultural purposes. The existing site includes hedgerows around 
the existing agricultural fields with small areas of woodland, particularly in the central section 
of the site. The external field boundaries are defined by mature trees/hedgerows, vegetation 
and pockets of woodland.   
 
There are no public highways or public rights of way that extend through the site. Access to 
the site is by an unnamed road to the west of the Application Site that runs between 
Gammaton Moor in the south and Webbery Barton in the north.  
 
There is an existing Alverdiscott electricity sub-station central to the parcels of land, with 
power lines and pylons extending across the site. There is an existing solar farm at Cleave 
Farm that lies adjacent to the Application Site boundary.  
 
There is an unnamed stream that runs along the northern boundary of the western section of 
the site, the southern boundary of the central parcel of the site and the southern boundary of 
the eastern section of the site. The site lies wholly within Flood Zone 1 defined as land with 
the lowest risk of flooding, having a less than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding.  
 
Proposed Development: 
This application seeks the installation of a photovoltaic (PV) solar farm (up to 49.9MW) 
together with ancillary infrastructure and associated works. 
  

Page 16



The proposed development seeks the addition of solar PV cells arranged in lines across the 
existing fields orientated to the south mounted on a simple metal framework to a maximum 
height of 3 metres. Rows will be spaces with a minimum of 2.5 metres between panels. In 
addition, the associated infrastructure would include the following:  
 

 7 Switchgear Substations spaced around the site adjoining the internal access roads, 
typically 7.7m * 2.6m and 3.3m high; 

 14 Inverters adjacent to the Switchgear Substations around the site. The inverters are 
approximately 8.2m long and 2.3m wide; the small open-air transformers are 
surrounded by a fence enclosing an area of approximately 10m2; 

 14 Transformers adjacent to the switchgear substations and Inverters around the site. 
The transformers are approximately 5.4m long and 4.4m wide with a height of 
approximately 3.2m; 

 A 132kV Substation 

 A Customer Substation located to the south-east of the DNO Substation; 

 An Auxiliary Transformer, located to the south-east of the DNO Substation; 

 A Storage Container located to the south-east of the DNO Substation; 

 A Monitoring and Communications Building, together with associated weather station 
and communications equipment required to enable remove monitoring of the site. 
This building is typically 3.8m * 3.2m and 3.3m high; 

 A composting toilet 

 Security fencing around the site perimeter is to form secure 'deer style' fencing with 
timber and posts of approximately 2 metres in height. Gates are included in the 
fencing for access to the site and to the field margins for maintenance access 
within each field; 

 Internal access track within the site; 

 Infilling and reinforcing existing vegetation with appropriate native tree, hedgerow or 
shrub planting to enhance visual screening; 

 CCTV and site security systems installed on poles 2.5m in height; and 

 Associated works required in ground preparation and the construction of building 
foundations. 

 

Consultee representations: 

 

Alverdiscott Parish/Town Council:  
No comments received 
 
Huntshaw Parish Council:  
No comments received 
 
Weare Giffard Parish Council:  
No comments received 
 
Yarnscombe Parish:  
No comments received 
 
Bideford Town Council:  
18.02.2022 
RESOLVED: That the application is approved.  
 
07.10.2021 
RESOLVED: That the application is approved.  

Page 17



 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
01.03.2022 
I refer to the above application and your recent re-consultation. A programme of 
archaeological work has been undertaken within the proposed development site. These 
investigations did not reveal any heritage assets of such significance that any further 
archaeological mitigation is required on site. A report setting out the results of the field 
evaluation undertaken has been submitted to the Historic Environment Team and two 
samples are being processed for radiocarbon dating. 
 
Upon the receipt of these radiocarbon dates the evaluation report will be updated. I have 
been assured that funds are resources are in place to complete these outstanding tasks and, 
as such, the Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning 
application.  
 
21.10.2021 
My ref: ARCH/DM/TO/36956a 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. A programme of archaeological 
investigation, consisting of a geophysical survey and intrusive field evaluation, has been 
undertaken within the proposed solar farm site. While the Historic Environment Team are still 
awaiting the submission of the final report on the results of these investigations we have 
received an interim summary of the results of this fieldwork. 
 
In the light of the results of the archaeological field evaluation, the Historic Environment 
Team do not consider that the scale and situation of this development will have an impact 
upon any significant heritage 
assets, and, as such, no further archaeological mitigation is required. 
 
The Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning application.  
  
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
02.12.2021 
I have reviewed the additional information on the planning portal for this application and can 
advise we have no further comment to make and would refer to the comments made in our 
formal response dated 15th October 2021.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
19.11.2021 
I've looked through the re-consultation documents and I do not believe that I need to 
comment further.  
  
Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
14.02.2022 
Thank you for your letter of 9 February 2022 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we do not wish to offer 
any comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 
archaeological advisers, as relevant. 
 
It is not necessary for us to be consulted on this application again, unless there are material 
changes to the proposals. However, if you would like detailed advice from us, please contact 
us to explain your request. 
 

Page 18



03.12.2021 
Thank you for your letter of 15 November 2021 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we do not wish to offer 
any comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 
archaeological advisers, as relevant. 
 
It is not necessary for us to be consulted on this application again, unless there are material 
changes to the proposals. However, if you would like detailed advice from us, please contact 
us to explain your request.  
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
10.02.2022 
Thank you for this application, I have no further comments from a designing out crime and 
ASB reduction perspective to those previously submitted.  
 
16.11.2021 
Re Land At Webbery Barton And Cleave Farm, Bideford, Devon - 16th November 2021. 
 
Thank you for this application, I have no additional comments from a crime and ASB 
reduction perspective to those previously submitted.  
 
05.10.2021 
Thank you for this application, I have no objections in principle to the proposal. 
 
Solar farms are, by their very nature and location, potentially vulnerable to criminal attack and 
so any appropriate means of preventing/deterring this is in principle supported. 
 
I note that deer style fencing is proposed for perimeter demarcation. I can find no details of 
proposed fencing and gates for the compounds and facilities buildings. It is recommended 
that 2.4 weldmesh fencing and gates, to an appropriate standard such as LPS 1175 issue 8, 
be installed for compounds and substations.  
 
I would advise that the perimeter and internal fences incorporate a PID system. PID is a 
Perimeter Intrusion Detection System, it is series of fence mounted sensors, that monitors 
and detects any form of intrusion from the perimeter and then can provide a real time alert of 
this. 
 
Where appropriate and feasible, buildings should be protected by an intruder alarm, this is 
recommended to be monitored and compliant with current National Police Chiefs Council 
guidance. The buildings should also have robust external doors/windows. These are advised 
to meet an appropriate security standard such as LPS 1175 or equivalent. 
 
The CCTV is noted and supported. It is recommended the system have real time detection 
monitoring and response rather than a system which only records. Cameras, wiring and 
recording or monitoring equipment should be secured. CCTV should be designed in co-
ordination with external lighting and landscaping. A passport for compliance 
document, previously known as an Operational Requirement (OR), should be drawn up prior 
to installation to ensure any system will be fit for purpose. 
 
Consideration should also be given to incorporating a movement activated audio challenge 
system as part of the overall security strategy?  
 

Page 19



I would suggest that the above brief guidance should also be applied to any compounds 
during the construction phase of any approved project 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
25.02.2022 
We have reviewed the additional information and have no further comment to add since our 
letter dated 15th October 2021.  
  
18.10.2021 
Recommendation: 
We have no in-principle objections to the above planning application, from a surface water 
drainage perspective. 
 
Observations: 
The applicant is proposing a series of swales to attenuate the runoff from the proposed solar 
farm in line with best practice which will provide a betterment compared with the existing 
scenario. The applicant has stated that the swales will be maintained by the site 
owner/tenant. We would encourage a buffer zone either side of any field ditches so there is 
access for maintenance. We would recommend that any existing field ditches and ordinary 
watercourses within the red line boundary are also maintained by the site owner.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
19.11.2021 
I’ve looked through the re-consultation documents and I do not believe that I need to 
comment further. 
 
19.10.2021 
Observations: 
I have no issue with the access points proposed by the applicant. The proposed route has 
previously been used for similar developments and, as has been noted in the applicant's 
submitted information, there is no evidence that this has resulted in severe issues. 
 
As a result, subject to the below condition, I raise no highway issues. 
 
Recommendation (no objections subject to condition): 
 
1. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received 
and approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with 
such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays 
inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on 
Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 

Page 20



confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway 
for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has 
been given by the Local Planning Authority;  
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work; 
 
REASON: To ensure safe and suitable access for all road users.  
 
Natural England:  
28.02.2022 
Natural England has previously commented on this proposal and made comments to the 
authority in our letter dated 8 October 2021. 
 
The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this resubmission although 
we made no objection to the original proposal. 
 
The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly 
different impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal. 
 
Natural England:  
30.11.2021 
Thank you for your consultation. 
 
Natural England has previously commented on this proposal and made comments to the 
authority in our letter dated 8th October 2021 (our ref: 369579). 
 
The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this resubmission although 
we made no objection to the original proposal. 
 
The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly 
different impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.  
 
08.10.2021 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE 
Designated sites 
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will 
not affect any designated sites. 
 
Protected Landscapes 
Your decision should be based on national landscape policy and landscape policies set out in 
your Local Plan. 
 
Natural England's detailed advice on this and other natural environment issues is set out 
below. 
 
Climate Change 

Page 21



Natural England recognises that climate change represents the most serious long term threat 
to the natural environment because of the damage it will cause to ecosystems, the 
biodiversity, landscape 
value, and services to society which they support. Solar energy developments have an 
important role to play in meeting national targets to reduce UK contributions to greenhouse 
gases. The present 
challenge is to move to a low carbon economy without unacceptable impacts on the natural 
environment (NPPF para 155). 
 
Designated sites 
The development site is within 5km of the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) which is notified for its intertidal habitats and overwintering bird interest. 
Further information on the SSSI and its special interest features can be found at 
www.magic.gov.uk The composition of the SSSI bird assemblage alters through time as 
species populations fluctuate, therefore any native wetland bird species (in practice waders 
and wildfowl) will be a legitimate part of the bird assemblage.  
 
The proposal triggers Natural England's Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) for the Taw Torridge Estuary 
SSSI for 'solar schemes with a footprint greater than 0.5ha'. 
 
Birds associated with the estuary make use of agricultural land around and away from the 
estuary at times of high tides and may be displaced by development such as solar farms 
which can result in the loss of available roosting and feeding habitat. 
 
It is our advice, based on the material supplied with the consultation that, in so far as 
statutory designated sites are concerned, there are no significant impacts identified and 
Natural England therefore does not object. 
 
Further consideration could be given to mitigating the impacts on common snipe across the 
site.  
 
Protected Landscapes 
The proposed development is for a site within 7.5km of the North Devon Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB), a nationally designated landscape, and has triggered Natural 
England's 
Impact Risk Zones for solar developments greater than 10ha. 
 
Natural England advises that the planning authority uses national and local policies, together 
with local landscape expertise and information to determine the proposal. The policy and 
statutory framework to 
guide your decision and the role of local advice are explained below. 
Your decision should be guided by paragraphs 176 and 177 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which gives the highest status of protection for the 'landscape and scenic beauty' 
of AONBs and 
National Parks. For major development proposals paragraph 177 sets out criteria to 
determine whether the development should exceptionally be permitted within the designated 
landscape. 
 
Alongside national policy you should also apply landscape policies set out in your 
development plan, or appropriate saved policies. 
 
We also advise that you consult the AONB Partnership and give weight to any advice they 
provide. Their knowledge of the site and its wider landscape setting, together with the aims 

Page 22



and objectives of the AONB's statutory management plan, will be a valuable contribution to 
the planning decision. Where available, a local Landscape Character Assessment can also 
be a helpful guide to the landscape's sensitivity to this type of development and its capacity to 
accommodate the proposed development. 
 
The statutory purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance the area's natural beauty. 
You should assess the application carefully as to whether the proposed development would 
have a significant impact on or harm that statutory purpose. Relevant to this is the duty on 
public bodies to 'have regard' for that statutory purpose in carrying out their functions (S85 of 
the Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 
2000). The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that this duty also applies to proposals 
outside the designated area but impacting on its natural beauty.  
 
You may also find useful the Torridge District Council guidance document 'An Assessment of 
the Landscape Sensitivity to Onshore Wind Energy & Field-Scale Photovoltaic Development 
in Torridge 
District' and the Devon Landscape Policy Group Advice Note No. 2: 'Accommodating Wind 
and Solar PV Developments in Devon's Landscape' particularly with reference to cumulative 
impacts and siting 
and design. 
 
Biodiversity net gain 
Development provides opportunities to secure a net gain for nature as outlined in paragraphs 
174, 179 and 180 of the NPPF, the Defra 25 year Environment Plan and the Environment 
Bill. Policy ST14 of the Joint Torridge and North Devon Local Plan also expects all 
development to provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
 
We advise you first to follow the mitigation hierarchy as set out in paragraph 180 of the NPPF 
and consider what existing environmental features on and around a site can be retained or 
enhanced before considering what new features could be incorporated into a development 
proposal. 
 
Consideration should be given to removing the field within the Haddacott Moor County 
Wildlife Site (CWS) from the application boundary. The objective here should be to restore 
habitats. Further advice should be sought from Devon County Council. 
 
An evidence based approach to biodiversity net gain can help LPAs demonstrate compliance 
with their duty to have regard for biodiversity in the exercise of their functions (under Section 
40 NERC Act, 
2006). Biodiversity metrics are available to assist developers and local authorities in 
quantifying and securing net gain. 
 
Natural England's Technical Information Note Solar parks: maximising environmental benefits 
(TIN101) provides a summary of advice about their siting, their potential impacts and 
mitigation requirements for the safeguarding of the natural environment. You may also wish 
to note the industry guidance 'Solar farms and biodiversity opportunities' 
 
A development of this scale should be ambitious in its scope for achieving biodiversity net 
gain and we note the submitted information suggest 56.9% net gain. Any habitat creation 
should be guided by 
existing plans such as biodiversity action plans or by emerging strategic approaches such as 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS). The site sits within the Culm Natural Character 
Area and could contribute to, for example, the Devon Wildlife Trust's Working Wetlands 

Page 23



project. We would advise the applicant to discuss the proposal with the Devon Wildlife Trust 
who have extensive experience in restoring and creating culm grassland. The shade and 
shelter created by the panels is likely to affect 
the outcome. It may also be more effective to take a hay cut from the CWS to seed the 
adjacent fields rather than use a seed mix. 
 
There may also be the potential for the development to have a wider positive impact by 
financially contributing to local environmental / social initiatives in the Parishes affected to 
help connect people and wildlife. 
 
Local sites and priority habitats and species 
Your authority should ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the 
proposal on any Local Sites such as County Wildlife Sites (CWS). 
 
Part of the development site falls within the Haddacott Moor CWS and consideration should 
be given to removing the relevant field from the application boundary. The objective here 
should be to restore 
habitats. 
 
Natural England's 'Technical Information Note TIN101 encourages existing land drainage to 
be maintained. Any SuDS scheme to deal with surface run-off should be designed to ensure 
that it does not compromise the local drainage and affect the culm grassland by diverting 
water away from the wetland site.  
 
Priority habitats and Species are of particular importance for nature conservation and 
included in the England Biodiversity List published under section 41 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 found here. Consideration should be given to 
how any loss will be avoided, mitigated or compensated. 
 
Soil and land quality 
Under the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015 (DMPO) Natural England is a statutory consultee on development that would 
lead to the loss of over 20ha of 'best and most versatile' (BMV) agricultural land (land graded 
as 1, 2 and 3a in the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) system, where this is not in 
accordance with an approved plan. 
 
From the description of the development this application is likely to affect 16.5ha of BMV 
agricultural land (Grade 3a). The agricultural use of the land would subsist alongside the 
proposed PV panels through the grazing of sheep and the land would be restored to full 
agricultural when planning permission expired (approximately 40 years). 
 
We consider that the proposed development is unlikely to lead to significant long term loss of 
best and most versatile agricultural land, as a resource for future generations. This is 
because the solar panels would be secured to the ground by steel piles with limited soil 
disturbance and could be removed in the future with no permanent loss of agricultural land 
quality likely to occur, provided the development is undertaken to high standards. Although 
some components of the development, such as construction of a sub-station, may 
permanently affect agricultural land this would be limited to small areas. 
 
Local planning authorities are responsible for ensuring that they have sufficient information to 
apply the requirements of the NPPF. The weighting attached to a particular consideration is a 
matter of 

Page 24



judgement for the local authority as decision maker. This is the case regardless of whether 
the proposed development is sufficiently large to consult Natural England. 
 
General guidance for protecting soils during development is also available in Defra's 
Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites, and 
should the development proceed, we recommend that relevant parts of this guidance are 
followed, e.g. in relation to handling or trafficking on soils in wet weather. 
 
Protected Species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected 
species. 
 
Natural England has produced standing advice to help planning authorities understand the 
impact of particular developments on protected species. We advise you to refer to this 
advice. Natural England will only provide bespoke advice on protected species where they 
form part of a SSSI or in exceptional circumstances. 
 
The Institute of Lighting Professionals has produced practical guidance on considering the 
impact on bats when designing lighting schemes - Guidance Note 8 Bats and Artificial 
Lighting. They have 
partnered with the Bat Conservation Trust and ecological consultants to write this document 
on avoiding or reducing the harmful effects which artificial lighting may have on bats and their 
habitats. 
 
Following submission of this advice to the LPA we are able to consider offering advice to the 
developer through our Discretionary Advice Service. 
 
If you have any queries relating to the advice in this letter please contact me on the details 
below.  
 
The Environment Agency:  
06.10.2021 
Whilst we note that the proposal is EIA development, we do not consider that this proposal 
raises any concerns within our remit. We therefore have no objections to this proposal.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
09.02.2022 
The Environmental Protection Team refers to its comments in the consultation response 
dated 30 September 2021.  
 
15.11.2021 
In relation to the above application and the additional information, the Environmental 
Protection Team refers to its previous consultation response dated 30 September.  
 
30.09.2021 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are 
outlined below. 
 
Noise Impact 
The Noise Impact Assessment is detailed and the noise impact of the proposed development 
has been undertaken in accordance with appropriate guidance and methodology. The 
Assessment reports very low levels of source noise and suggests that, in the main, no 
neighbouring third party dwellings will exceed the background level during the daytime or 

Page 25



night-time period. This indicates a low impact on residential amenity. In order to ensure that 
noise emissions from the proposed development do not adversely affect neighbouring 
amenity, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the following 
condition: 
 
The rating level of noise emitted from the plant and equipment serving the solar farm shall 
not exceed 30 dB LAr,Tr, (as defined in BS 4142:2014+A1:2019) at any time when evaluated 
at the boundary of noise sensitive receptors. Noise levels shall be measured and rated in 
accordance with British Standard BS 4142:2014+A1:2019. 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
The Assessment indicates that the compliance with the recommended noise limit is 
achievable. 
 
Glint and Glare Assessment 
The Glint and Glare Assessment indicates that a number of properties may theoretically 
experience reflected light for periods of time during certain times of the year but that the 
impact is largely negated due to location, distance and existing natural screening. Although 
the Assessment appears comprehensive and thorough, it would be prudent to ensure any 
unforeseen problems with reflected light can be addressed following the completion of the 
development. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends the imposition of the following condition: 
 
Within 28 days from the receipt of a written request from the local planning authority 
confirming that problems of glint are occurring (following a complaint to the local planning 
authority from the occupant of a dwelling which lawfully existed or had planning permission at 
the date of this consent), the solar array operator shall submit a scheme of measures to 
prevent further glint, for the approval of the Local Planning Authority. Within 48 days (or other 
timescale agreed with the LPA) of obtaining approval for the scheme, the solar array operator 
shall fully implement the scheme. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
Impact on Amenity from Construction 
Due to the existence of neighbouring dwellings, there is the potential for detriment to 
residential amenity from the construction works associated with the proposed 
development if control measures are not in place. The applicant has provided a Construction, 
Decommissioning and Traffic Management Method Statement that outlines appropriate 
measures to prevent or minimise disturbance to neighbouring residents during development. 
The intended working hours are not apparent from the information provided. The 
Environmental Protection Team recommends a condition restricting construction works and 
delivery times to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays 
only with no works permitted on Sundays and Bank Holidays in order to protect residential 
amenity during noise sensitive times.  
 
Conservation Officer:  
28.03.2022 
The application is supported by a Heritage statement dated August 2021 prepared by the 
Pegasus group. The assessment takes the standard format and the observation and 
conclusions of the submitted Heritage Statement are accepted.    
 
The study radius stops short of Huntshaw which contains a cluster of listed buildings 
including the Grade II* Church of St Mary Magdalene. A building of the highest significance in 
heritage terms.  However, the Local Authority has the information within the Heritage 

Page 26



statement and the prepared viewpoints to be able to assess the visual impact on this 
settlement sited beyond the edge assessment area radius. 
 
The solar farm will be visible from Huntshaw but the visual impact on views back to 
Huntshaw and impact on the setting are considered to be less than substantial (in terms of 
harm) as set out in the paragraph 202 of the NPPF and should assessed in terms of the 
public benefits of the proposal.   
 
The viewpoint assessment notes the impact on the view from the entrance of the site to 
Huntshaw is minor adverse which is accepted.  
 
North Devon Council:  
02.03.2022 
Thank you for your enquiry which was received on the 15 February 2022 
In addition to the comments made through ENQ/2760/2021, after assessing the application, 
on the basis of the above advice, NDC wish to express that there are no further observations 
on the scheme and leave it to TDC to assess if all matters raised have been sufficiently 
addressed. 
 
The comments in this letter are purely officer opinion and are made without prejudice to the 
outcome of a planning application. They are not binding upon the Officer or the Council. 
 
22.10.2021 
Site Description 
The site is located within TDC area and comprises an area of agricultural land to the south of 
the boundary for NDC. 
 
The land is undulating with rising landform on all boundaries. Within the site the land is 
interspersed with existing hedges and wooded areas. There is an existing solar installation 
and Substation and a number of pylons crossing the site. 
 
The road system accessing the site is rural in nature. 
There are residential properties within viewing distance of the site. 
 
Recommendation: 
Observations 
Legal Agreement Required:- No 
 
Constraints/Planning Policy 
DM01 - Amenity Considerations 
DM02 - Environmental Protection 
DM02 - Environmental Protection 
DM03 - Construction and Environmental Management 
DM04 - Design Principles 
DM05 - Highways 
DM06 - Parking Provision 
DM07 - Historic Environment 
DM08 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
DM08A - Landscape and Seascape Character 
DM14 - Rural Economy 
DM15 - Farm Diversification 
DM17 - Tourism and Leisure Attractions 
DM18 - Tourism Accommodation 

Page 27



ST01 - Principles of Sustainable Development 
ST02 - Mitigating Climate Change 
ST03 - Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience 
ST04 - Improving the Quality of Development 
ST05 - Sustainable Construction and Buildings 
ST10 - Transport Strategy 
ST11 - Delivering Employment and Economic Development 
ST14 - Enhancing Environmental Assets 
ST15 - Conserving Heritage Assets 
ST16 - Delivering Renewable Energy and Heat 
ST23 - Infrastructure 
 
Considerations 
Proposal Description 
This application seeks consultation in regard to detailed planning permission for the 
installation and operation of a Solar Farm together with all associated works and 
Infrastructure (1/1057/2021/FULM) 
 
Planning Considerations Summary 
- Principle of development 
- Landscape character 
- Heritage assets 
- Ecology 
- Flood risk and drainage 
- Amenity 
- Highways 
- Conclusions and suggested conditions 
 
Planning Considerations 
In the determination of a planning application Section 38 of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 is relevant. It states that for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination is to be made in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development 
plan for this area includes the Devon Waste Plan and North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
The relevant Policies are detailed above. 
 
Section 16 of the Listed Building Act, in considering whether to grant listed building consent 
for any works the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.  
 
In considering to grant planning permission which affects a listed building or its setting the 
Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest which it possesses in 
accordance with Section 66 of the Listed Building Act. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. 
 
Principle of development 
As advised in ENQ 26760/2021, I have sought the advice of the Authorities Sustainability 
Officer and Planning Policy Team who advise that the principle of renewable energy is 
encouraged by policy ST16 subject to the scheme according with matters in relation to 

Page 28



potential landscape impact and impact on the Landscape Character type (ST14, DM08A) or 
resulting in adverse cumulative impact with other schemes. 
 
Landscape Character: 
The Landscape Character Type is 3A - Upper Farmed and Wooded Valley Slopes. 
 
Following a site visit to the perimeter of the site, it is apparent that there is a large 
installation/substation in place as exiting, and that the proposal would be constructed in the 
vicinity of this existing installation.  
The Landscape comprises a mix of LCT: 
- 1F - Farmed Lowland Moorland and Culm Grassland 
- 5A - Inland Elevated Undulating Land 
- 3A - Upper Farmed and Wooded Valley Slopes 
 
Whilst I do not consider the site would directly impact on the North Devon LCT area of 3A, it 
is essential for all LCT areas essential that the proposal would be as well screened as 
possible utilising existing wooded areas and providing effective boundary treatments, and 
using as much low land area as possible. 
 
The Sustainability Officer has confirmed that the area is crossed by numerous pylons and 
alongside an existing solar farm which detracts from landscape character. The Landscape 
Strategy appears to respond appropriately to existing woodland copses, stream valley 
habitats and general field boundaries so any long distance views of the site from within NDC 
would be unlikely to be significant. 
 
From an NDC perspective, the Site Plan indicates the proposal is well located to fit within the 
high, level plateau areas around the existing substation. The area is crossed by numerous 
pylons and alongside an existing solar far which detracts from existing landscape character. 
The Landscape Strategy appears to respond appropriately to existing woodland copses, 
stream valley habitats and general field boundaries so any long distance views of the site 
from within NDC would be unlikely to be significant. 
 
It is not clear if there would be any justification for raising potential cumulative issues with the 
recently approved scheme at Litchardon (70718) given the differing host Landscape 
Character Types, intervening vegetation, and very limited inter-visibility. 
 
Visually, the landscape is undulating forming a partial 'bowl' around the site. Far views 
appear restricted by the undulating landscape forms. It is difficult to see the site from views 
along the road to Webbery to the north but fleeting views may be attainable from field 
accesses or more permanent views from individual property. I have not had opportunity to 
assess from individual property. I understand you will assess this with 
the applicants LVIA. Immediate views of the site appear restricted to localised roads, public 
accessed tracks, and sporadic dwellings on upper slopes of the land form to the east. 
 
In terms of current land use, mapping illustrates that the land has a mix of Grade 3 and 4 
Agricultural land which would support the inclusion of Solar Infrastructure. You may wish to 
investigate the possibility of using the land in between the rows of panels for agricultural uses 
to facilitate an agricultural use of the site. A condition was attached to the approval of 
permission for Litchardon Farm (ref: 71708) 
 
Matters of site security must be addressed to include suitable boundary fencing such as Deer 
fencing, which would not adversely impact on the wider rural character, and no undue 
additional lighting should be included, or should be suitably controlled. CCTV should be to a 

Page 29



minimum necessary for security and should not result in loss of privacy to any neighbouring 
use. 
 
NDC have no objections to the principle of this proposal or the use of the agricultural land in 
question, accordant with ST16 - Delivering Renewable Energy and Heat.  
 
Heritage assets 
The impact on heritage assets would be considered against part 16 of the NPPF and policies 
ST15 - Conserving Heritage Assets and DM07 - Historic Environment. The scheme is 
accompanied by a Heritage Assessment. 
 
The closest listed buildings on the boundary with TDC are Weach Barton, Eastleigh (Grade 
II) and Little Pillhead Farmhouse, Westleigh (Grade II) where Policies ST15 and DM07 would 
apply. The impact on Heritage assets, and in particular the wider setting, was a key 
consideration in application 71708 and if this development would be read in conjunction with 
a listed asset, or the setting, the advice of the relevant Heritage body is required. 
 
The advice of the DCC HET would be required in respect of historic archaeology matters. It 
may be necessary to require a WSI in respect of Archaeological matters, or to include a 
suitable condition if required.  
 
Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 
wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(Habitats Regulations 2017). 
 
It is understood that TDC would consider ecological and agricultural losses, resulting from the 
inclusion of the panels and equipment, and would look to deliver a net gain for biodiversity, 
and approprate ecological management, through appropriate management 
conditions and the consideration of a detailed LEMP in addition to assessing local landscape 
character and visual impacts to accord with ST14 and DM08. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
Part 14 of the framework at paragraph 155 states that inappropriate development in areas at 
risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest risk 
of flooding. According to the mapping, the site does not appear to be located within an area 
of flood risk which would appear to accord with drainage policies. 
 
Development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere and 
the comments of DCLLFA should be sought. 
 
Highways 
At paragraph 110 of the framework new development should ensure that safe and suitable 
access to the site can be achieved for all road users, and significant impacts from the 
development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 
safety can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. Paragraph 
111 is clear that 'development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on the highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the highway would be severe. This is reflected through polices ST10 (Transport 
Strategy) DM05 (Highways and DM06 (Parking) of the NDTLP 
 

Page 30



The Impact on the highway network should be considered through the Environmental 
Statement and the accompanying Transport Assessment.  
 
Key highway issues may occur mostly at Construction and Decommission phase where 
deliveries and removals could be conditioned to off peak times and access points to the 
site should provide suitable and safe access/egress/parking and turning at all phases. 
Access throughout the lifetime of the scheme would be limited to site security and 
maintenance. 
 
It is apparent that site access can be achieved at all phases of the development, and for the 
lifetime of the development, but the comments of DCC Highways would be essential to 
assess this further to ensure accordance with ST10, DM05 and DM06. 
 
Amenity: 
Objector's comments would be considered through the course of the application. 
 
The site would be visible from properties in the vicinity of the development area but this does 
not necessarily mean that the impact on amenity is 'significant' or so undue as to warrant 
refusal of the scheme (DM01, DM04). Matters of Glint, Glare and noise must be 
fully assessed by Environmental Health, and through consideration of the Glint and Glare and 
submitted noise reports. It is likely that Construction and decommission phases would 
generate the most potential for short term impacts to amenity from noise/dust associated with 
the working of the site. Glint and Glare would be an issue for 
the lifetime of the scheme and effect on the local road network and any properties in the 
vicinity must be carefully considered.  
 
Conclusion 
On balance the proposal would deliver the following benefits: 
- Opportunity to show that North Devon is committed to reducing its carbon footprint, and 
would promote renewable energy to meet National and Local aims to Net Zero by 2050 
(ST02, ST03, ST16, NPPF 14) 
- The development would contribute positively towards the presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development reflecting the framework in terms of social, economic and 
environmental objectives (ST01, ST04). 
- The development would deliver economic rural growth (ST07, ST11, DM14, DM15, NPPF 
6) 
- The site would utilise an existing power source in the vicinity of the site (ST16 and Solar 
farm guidance) 
- The site would utilize lower grade land and would not appear to use best or most versatile 
land. Future use of the land can be secured for grazing with agreement of land 
owners/developers (DM15) 
- The site would not appear to directly affect a protected area or AONB, SSSI (ST14, DM15, 
DM08A part 15 NPPF) 
- The nature of the use is 'temporary' allowing the land to revert back to its former use once 
no longer required for energy use, and subject to the implementation of a detailed 
decommissioning scheme (ST11, DM14) 
- The site should demonstrate retention of established landscape features such as woodland 
or hedgerows and should demonstrate significant biodiversity net gains across the site and 
ecological mitigation (ST14, ST23, DM08, DM08A NPPF 14 and 15) 
- The site must not detract from local tourism or other public attractions such as PROW 
(ST11, ST13, DM17 DM18) 

Page 31



- You must be satisfied that the site access and method of accessing the scheme are 
considered safe at all phases of the scheme from a highway perspective and in consultation 
with DCC highways (ST10, DM05, DM06) 
- The site must not lead to adverse impact on flood zones and must be acceptable subject to 
the comments of DCLLFA (ST10, DM04 Part 14 NPPF)  
- The impact on heritage assets must not be unduly significant or result in loss of significance 
(ST15, DM07 NPPF 16) 
- The site must be able to be suitably conditioned such that the technical requirements and 
any issues from Statutory Consultees can be suitably addressed (Environmental Health, 
Flooding and Drainage, Ecology, Architecture etc.) 
 
These benefits must be balanced against any constraints in terms of: 
- Impact on heritage assets or the setting of heritage assets 
- Impact on amenity of neighbouring uses 
- Impact on Ecology and biodiversity 
- The effect on the Highway network 
- The visual impact of the scheme and any cumulative aimcpts with approved schemes.  
 
If the benefits outweigh the constraints then the application would be considered to accord 
with the adopted development plan subject to suggested conditions in respect of: 
 
- Time 
- Plans 
- Removal of the use when no longer required or after the expiration of the agreed time frame 
for the lifetime of the scheme 
- Removal of equipment not required to generate electricity as soon as possible 
- Finishes for equipment cabinets and other equipment to be agreed 
- Location of electrical cabling underground 
- No external CCTV/lighting unless part of the approved plans 
- Safe site access to be provided in accordance with agreed details 
- Provision of CEMP 
- Removal of temporary construction/access points 
- Inclusion of all agreed landscaping, biodiversity, LEMP, Ecological mitigation measures 
- Retention of vegetation where agreed 
- Construction times restriction 
- Should Glint or Glare become an issue it is dealt with appropriately 
- Implementation of agreed Drainage plan 
- All foul drainage and surface water runoff disposed of appropriately 
- Implementation of necessary Archaeological works 
- Use of land between the arrays for grazing of livestock 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act and principles contained in the Convention on 
Human Rights have been taken into account in reaching the recommendation contained in 
this report. The articles/protocols identified below were considered of particular relevance: 
 
Article 8 - Right to Respect for Private and Family Life 
THE FIRST PROTOCOL - Article 1: Protection of Property 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  39  Number of letters of support:  13 
Number of representations received:  25 Number of neutral representations: 1 
Number of objection letters:  10  

 
3rd party representations are summarised below. 
 
Landscape:  
- Large scale and industrial character of development; 
- Visual impact from Huntshaw Cross and wider area; 
- Loss of character of rural landscape; 
- Visual impact on rural, pastoral landscape; 
- Moderate to high landscape sensitivity to large scale solar farms; 
- Cumulative impact alongside existing solar farm; 
- Need to ensure planting is implemented; 
- Loss 53m hedgerows; 
- Loss of peace, scenery and wildlife of countryside area; 
- Adverse impact on landscape for two generations; 
- 4 miles of 2m high security fence, 55 CCTV cameras on 2.5m high posts alien structures, very 
visible. 
- Failing to 'conserve, protect and enhance valued landscape and historic environment'. 
 
Pollution:  
- Concern over disposal of panels at end of life; 
- Contamination of ground from materials in solar panels; 
- Waste/contamination from panels that are not able to be recycled. 
 
Residential Amenities:  
- Noise during construction phase; 
- Working hours need to be enforced; 
- Loss of privacy for neighbouring properties especially due to CCTV; 
- Noise from generator. 
 
Highways:  
- HGV traffic on narrow country lanes during construction period; 
- Danger to cyclists, horse riders and walkers; 
- HGV traffic on small road through Stony Cross; 
- Reduced speed limit required during construction phase; 
- Safety of residents and other road users from construction traffic; 
- Better to access site from Bideford; 
- Traffic assessments undertaken during lockdown and therefore not accurate; 
- Impact of extended times that HGV traffic will drive through Stony Cross during construction. 
 
Consultation:  
- Lack of consultation; 
- Lack of face to face consultation; 
- Limited consultation period online; 
- Few able to access online consultation. 
  
Ecology:  
- Includes land that is part of Haddacott Moor County Wildlife Site - Culm grassland; 
- Deer fencing barrier to birds and bats foraging and breeding grounds; 
- 'Slight harm' from transformers and inverters if low frequency may affect birds; 
- Loss of skylark territories; 
- Impact on bird, bat and other mammals habitats; 

Page 33



- Large construction traffic on narrow lanes creates possible damage to road surfaces, hedgerows, 
grass verges and banks; 
- Loss of biodiversity and habitats; 
- Loss of biodiversity as loss of open farmland; 
- Loss of hedgerows; 
- Mitigation for biodiversity loss not adequate; 
- Mitigation for biodiversity loss will take time to establish; 
- Additional habitat other than bat and bird boxes should be provided; 
- Need to ensure mitigation for lost biodiversity is monitored and enforced. 
 
Other Issues:  
- Loss of agricultural land for food production; 
- Grass underneath shaded and unsuitable for grazing; 
- Condition should be applied so that after 40 years returned to full agricultural use; 
- Preference for investment in other energy sources such as biofuels, nuclear; 
- Only generate electricity in daytime; 
- Nuclear power more sustainable and efficient; 
- Costs will lead to higher energy bills; 
- Reduction in local employment due to loss of agriculture; 
- Capacity of solar farm reduced and benefits exaggerated; 
- Dispute figures on energy production and carbon dioxide saved; 
- Dispute sustainability of scheme; 
- Impact on national grid stability; 
- Impact on tourist industry due to loss of countryside; 
- Large quantity of infrastructure to be built in addition to solar panels; 
- Loss of carbon sequestration in soil due to impact on grass growth; 
- Other more appropriate renewables should be considered; 
- Possible impact of cable trenching on septic tank drainage in fields that occurred at neighbouring 
solar farm. 
 
Supporting comments can be summarised as follows:  
- Source of green energy that can help to tackle climate change and reduce our reliance on fossil 
fuels.  
- Supports government policy to increase sources of renewable energy. 
- Better option than nuclear energy due to issues of waste disposal. 
- Energy output per acre greater than other green energy systems. 
- Need to increase energy to support increasing demands. 
- Cheaper option for electricity. 
- Retention of grazing land for sheep underneath panels. 
- Situated on underutilised grade 3-4 land that is not suitable for agriculture as heavy clay structure. 
- Fairly well secluded from eye due to location and not eyesore. 
- Appearance not important. 
- Located not in the countryside but in hardworking agricultural land. 
- Utilises existing infrastructure in terms of transport and connection to National Grid. 
- Road widened to enable construction of existing substation is suitable for access. 
- Next to Alverdiscott Sub Station so can be easily connected to National Grid. 
- Create employment. 
- Beneficial to local environment. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern 
Devon's Rural Area); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST11 (Delivering Employment and Economic 
Development); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); ST16 

Page 34



(Delivering Renewable Energy); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); 
DM03 (Construction and Environmental Management); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); 
DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and 
Seascape Character);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
Material Planning Considerations: 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Agricultural Land Classification 
3. Impact on Landscape Character 
4. Heritage Impact  
5. Impact on Residential Amenities 
6. Security 
7. Highways Access 
8. Construction Phase Provisions 
9. Drainage and Flood Risk 
10. Ecology & Biodiversity Net Gain 
11. Representations 
12. Planning Balance  
 

1. Principle of Development: 
 

1.1. Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law 
(namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) 
of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) must 
be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions.   

 
1.2. The NPPF sets out national policy and notes at paragraph 11 that for the consideration of 

planning applications there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For 
decision makers this means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-
date development plan without delay.  Specifically in relation to meeting the challenge of 
climate change, the NPPF notes that the planning system should support the transition to 
a low carbon future in a changing climate taking full account of flood risk and coastal 
change.  This includes supporting renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure (paragraph 148).  Further policy provision is made at paragraph 154 in 
relation to the determination of applications for renewable energy developments.   

 
This confirms that 'local planning authorities should:  
 
a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon 
energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to 
cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and  
b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. Once suitable 
areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been identified in plans, local planning 
authorities should expect subsequent applications for commercial scale projects outside 
these areas to demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in identifying 
suitable areas'. 

 

Page 35



1.3. There are no specific areas for renewable energy developments identified in the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
1.4. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) makes recommendations for the 

consideration of large scale, ground mounted solar photovoltaic farms noting that Local 
Planning Authorities should encourage the effective use of land by focussing large scale 
solar farms on previously developed and non-agricultural land, provided that it is not of 
high environmental value.   

 
1.5. The application site is a greenfield site in an active agricultural use.  Further consideration 

of the quality of the application site for agricultural purposes is set out in subsequent 
section, however it should be noted that the rural nature of the District would limit the 
number of large scale previously developed sites within the surrounding area for 
consideration as an alternative site.  Likewise, the majority of land within the surrounding 
area is either developed or in active agricultural use, with few vacant brownfield sites for 
consideration as alternative sites for this type of development. 

 
1.6. At a local level, Policy ST01 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) 

emphasises that development proposals will be considered with a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, as contained in the NPPF.  

 
1.7. The application is located within the countryside. As a result, the provisions of section (4) 

of Policy ST07 of the Local Plan are relevant which states that in the countryside, beyond 
Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that which is 
enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development 
which is necessarily restricted to a countryside location. 

 
1.8. Policy ST16 relates more specifically to renewable energy proposals and seeks to support 

renewable and low carbon energy and heat generating development (with the exception of 
wind energy) in principle within the landscape character types where: 

 
'(a) landscape sensitivity is best able to accommodate them, assessed in accordance with 
the Councils' Landscape Sensitivity Assessments and by the landscape's sensitivity to 
accommodate the scale of development; 
(b) there is no significant impact on local amenities; and  
(c) the special qualities of nationally important landscape, biodiversity and heritage 
designations and their settings are conserved or enhanced' 
  

1.9. Section (4) of Policy ST16 further notes that renewable energy development (other than 
wind energy) will be supported where it can demonstrate that the cumulative impact of 
operational, consented and proposed development on landscape character does not 
become a significant or defining characteristic of the wider fabric, character and quality of 
the landscape. 

 
1.10. Taking into consideration the provisions of both national and local policy, a solar PV 

development would be supported in principle, subject to further detailed consideration in 
relation to the following material matters.  

 
2. Agricultural Land Classification 

 
2.1. Section 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment and 

notes that planning policies and decisions should contribution to and enhance the natural 
and local environment in a number of ways.  These include recognising the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside as well as the economic and other benefits of the 
best and most versatile agricultural land (paragraph 170). The Glossary to the NPPF 
defines 'Best and most versatile agricultural land' (BMV) as: 'Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of 
the Agricultural Land Classification'. 

 

Page 36



2.2. Guidance contained within the NPPG for solar farms sets out a number of factors which 
Local Planning Authorities should consider in the determination of an application for a 
large scale, ground-mounted solar photovoltaic farm.  These include: 

 
'where a proposal involves greenfield land, whether (i) the proposed use of any agricultural 
land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has been used in 
preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for continued agricultural use 
where applicable and/or encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays'. 

 
2.3. The Agricultural Land Classification system was devised by the then Ministry of 

Agriculture, Fisheries and Food in 1988.  This is determined agricultural land quality based 
on the climate, site characteristics (e.g. gradient, flood risk and micro relief) and soils (e.g. 
texture, structure, depth and chemical properties).  The system classifies agricultural land 
into the following grades: Grade 1 = excellent quality agricultural land; Grade 2 = very 
good quality agricultural land; Grade 3 = good to moderate quality agricultural land - 
divided into sub-grade 3a (Good quality agricultural land) and sub-grade 3b (moderate 
quality agricultural land). Grade 4 = poor quality agricultural land and Grade 5 = very poor 
quality. 

 
2.4. The applicant has provided supporting information in this regard, noting: 

 
The project will take 63ha of agricultural land out of its current production. The Agricultural 
Land Classification Report undertaken in November 2019 assessed 60.1ha of the 63ha 
within the site boundary, and of this 5ha is grade 3a and 43.6ha is grade 4. The loss of 
5ha of grade 3a is of low significance and medium sensitivity. The loss of 43.6ha of grade 
4 land is medium significance and low sensitivity. Due to the temporary nature of the loss 
during the construction phase (6 months), the loss of land during the construction phase is 
deemed not significant. 

 
2.5. Natural England commented on this application, and have a slightly different estimation 

regarding the loss of BMV agricultural land: 
 

"From the description of the development this application is likely to affect 16.5ha of BMV 
agricultural land (Grade 3a). The agricultural use of the land would subsist alongside the 
proposed PV panels through the grazing of sheep and the land would be restored to full 
agricultural when planning permission expired (approximately 40 years)." 

 
2.6. Notwithstanding this inconsistency, Natural England raise no objections regarding this 

point: 
 

"We consider that the proposed development is unlikely to lead to significant long-term 
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, as a resource for future generations. This 
is because the solar panels would be secured to the ground by steel piles with limited soil 
disturbance and could be removed in the future with no permanent loss of agricultural land 
quality likely to occur, provided the development is undertaken to high standards. Although 
some components of the development, such as construction of a sub-station, may 
permanently affect agricultural land this would be limited to small areas." 

 
2.7. The applicants confirm that the area on which solar panels will be placed can continue to 

be grazed by sheep and claim the proposal will have minimal impact on the existing farm 
business. It is not anticipated the scheme will result in any significant employment impacts 
to the agricultural economy.  

 
2.8. It is recognised that there are more permanent features within the site, however, when 

viewed in the wider context of the site these are deemed to be minimal, and in any event, 
some remedial measures are likely to be possible at the end of the development’s lifetime. 
This will be covered by condition.  

 

Page 37



2.9. Overall, it is considered that the majority of the site which the solar farm would be located 
is not classified as best and most versatile agricultural land. In addition, as noted in the 
response from Natural England, the proposed solar farm would not result in the permanent 
loss of the agricultural land for future generations (subject to a condition securing the sites 
use a temporary). Whilst guidance contained within the NPPG seeks to direct large scale 
solar farms to previously developed or non-agricultural sites, this should be considered 
against the availability of such sites within the District and the level of soil disturbance 
resulting from the development as well as the 'temporary' nature of the proposed 
development. Taking this into consideration, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
this regard.  

 
3. Impact on Landscape Character 

 
3.1.1. National policy guidance contained within the NPPF notes that planning decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment including protecting and 
enhancing valued landscapes, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and the wider benefits from natural capital (paragraph 170).  Guidance in 
relation to renewable energy proposals set out in the NPPG notes the importance of 
considering landscape character areas both at a national and local level.  Further guidance 
within the NPPG notes that cumulative impacts require particular attention, particularly with 
respect to large scale solar farms and that local topography is an important factor in 
assessing whether large scale solar farms could have a damaging effect on landscape.  
The NPPG also notes that the potential impact of glint and glare should also be a 
consideration in relation to landscape impact along with the potential to mitigate landscape 
and visual impacts through, for example screening with native hedges.   

 
3.1.2. Guidance in relation to assessing the landscape impacts of renewable energy proposals is 

set out in the NPPG and notes that these should consider both direct and indirect effects, 
cumulative impacts and temporary and permanent impacts.  In order to assess the 
significance of impacts, a number of criteria should be considered including: the sensitivity 
of the landscape and visual resource, the magnitude or size of the predicted change and 
noting that some landscape character types may be more sensitive to certain types of 
change than others.  

 
3.1.3. Policy ST16 of the Local Plan in relation to renewable energy proposals states that such 

development will be supported in landscape character types where: 
 

'(a) landscape sensitivity is best able to accommodate them, assessed in accordance with 
the Councils' Landscape Sensitivity Assessments and by the landscape's sensitivity to 
accommodate the scale of development'. 

 
3.1.4. The site is largely located within Landscape Character Area 5A (Inland Elevated 

Undulating Land) as set out in the Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North 
Devon and Torridge Districts (JLCA). The special qualities of this landscape type include: 

 
- Long views from elevated ridgelines. 
- Patchwork of fields and hedges. 
- Working, rural landscape. 
- Valued Culm grassland and wetland habitats providing texture to the landscape.  
- Quiet, relaxed and tranquil. 

 
3.1.5. The eastern part of the site is LCT 1F Farmed Lowland Moorland and Culm Grassland 

 
- Distinctive Culm grassland habitats and associated birdlife.  
- Traditional management regimes (including grazing by North Devon Reds).  
- Small field patterns enclosed by thick Devon banks and surrounded by open grazing 
land.  
- Isolated farms and farmsteads.  

Page 38



- High levels of tranquillity and remoteness. 
 

3.1.6. The JCLA identifies a number of forces for change which have previously or currently 
taking place within these landscape character areas. In addition future forces for change 
are detailed. The most relevant with relation to this development include: 

 
Previous/Current 
- The installation of domestic-scale renewables such as building-mounted wind turbines. 
- Installation of prominent pylon lines crossing through the landscape. 
 
Future 
- Emerging demand for large-scale photovoltaic developments, capitalising on the solar 

radiation levels of slopes with a southerly aspect. 
- Demand for domestic and community-scale renewable energy installations such as 

solar panels, small wind turbines and ground-source heat pumps 
- The effects of climate change - including more intense drought conditions affecting the 

landscape's wetland habitats and Culm grasslands. 
- Changes in crops and land use as a consequence of climate change and response to 

changing markets (e.g. for more UK-based food production and alternative crops such 
as Miscanthus). 

 
3.1.7. As detailed within the submitted Environmental Statement, the National Character Area 

(NCA) profiles, produced by Natural England, provide a broad range of information 
including an outline of the key characteristics of a given area, description of the ecosystem 
services provided and how these relate to people, wildlife and the economy, and an array 
of opportunities for positive environmental change. This application site is within the NCA 
93, The Culm. The Environmental Statement proceeds to detail the key characteristics of 
relevance to this site.  
 

3.1.8. The site is also within the Devon Character Area, High Culm Ridges.  
 

3.1.9. The Council has produced an Assessment of the Landscape Sensitivity to Onshore Wind 
Energy & Field-Scale Photovoltaic Development in Torridge District which assesses the 
landscape sensitivity of various parts of the District to different scale renewable energy 
projects.  This identifies the sensitivity of the landscape character types to different sizes of 
solar PV developments. In this case, both landscape character types are likely to be highly 
sensitive to developments of this scale.   

 
3.1.10. To assist in the determination of this application, the Council sought independent advice 

from a chartered member of the Landscape Institute. This advice consists of a review of 
the submitted LVIA, Landscape and Visual issues, and helps inform the remainder of this 
section. The independent advice does acknowledge some areas of disagreement between 
the LVIA and independent LVIA review, including: 
 
- Inclusion of the Devon Character Assessment 
- Use of local lanes by walkers etc (in determining sensitivity) 
- Cumulative Impacts 

 
3.1.11. Despite the areas of disagreement, neither the submitted LVIA or Independent Review 

predict an overall significant adverse impact on the landscape.  
 

3.2. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
 

3.2.1. Technical Guidance (Note 1/20) produced by the Landscape Institute provides guidance 
on the production and review of Landscape and Visual Appraisals as well as Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessments (LVIAs).  This confirms that such assessments should 
include consideration of both landscape and visual effects of a development as well as the 
need to establish the landscape baseline and sensitivity of the landscape to change. 

Page 39



 
3.2.2. An Environmental Statement has been submitted in support of the application which 

includes an assessment of Landscape and Visual Impacts. Main objectives of the 
documents are detailed as follows: 

 
- Identify, evaluate, and describe the current landscape character of the Application Site 

and its surroundings. 
- Verify the sensitivity of the landscape to the type of development proposed.  
- Identify potential visual receptors (i.e. people who would be able to see the 

development) and representative viewpoints, and evaluate their sensitivity to the type 
of changes proposed.  

- Identify and describe any likely effects of the development on identified landscape and 
visual receptors.  

- Evaluate the magnitude of change and its significance.  
- Identify and integrate any mitigation measures that may help in offsetting or reducing 

adverse effects.  
- Assess the residual effects upon the identified landscape and visual receptors. 

 
3.2.3. The majority of the site is set within a topographical bowl and is surrounded by woodland 

and hedgerow limiting wider landscape views of the scheme. This is not to say the site will 
not be visible, with distances views of parts of the site being available from higher ground 
to the south and west, and localised views available through field gateways. The existing 
rural landscape is influenced by existing electricity infrastructure features including pylon 
lines, the Gammaton Moor sub-station, along with the existing Cleave Solar Farms.  

 
3.2.4. A study area for the Landscape Assessment of 5km has been utilised by the applicants, 

with a more detailed focus of up to 2km. This is considered to be acceptable in accordance 
with best practice. It should be noted that the study area is not intended to provide a 
boundary beyond which the Proposed Development will not be seen, but rather to define 
the area within which to assess its potential significant landscape and visual effects. 

 
3.2.5. independent LVIA review identifies that construction effects area transitory, and 

decommissioning effects are generally considered to be beneficial. Thus, whilst it is 
acknowledged there will be visual impacts arising from the construction and operation, it is 
considered appropriate to focus on the operational impacts (this is also the approach of the 
LVIA).  

 
3.2.6. In terms of operational Landscape Effects, the LVIA and the Independent Review predict 

adverse landscape effects on the site and in an area up to around 2km from the site. 
Within this study area, it is predicted the development would result in minor and moderate-
minor adverse impacts on the character and quality of the landscape. The Planning Officer 
concurs with this.  

 
3.2.7. With regards to Visual Effects, the Independent Review notes that in the operational stage, 

generally negligible and minor adverse effects are predicted in views from the north, west 
and east. Major-moderate adverse visual impacts are predicted for receptors to the south 
due to the topography and more prominent fields in the western portion of the sites. 
Significant effects are predicted in the form of 'individual visual effects'. For example, when 
stopped in a field gateway. However, when taken as a whole the development is not 
considered to result in any significant adverse landscape or visual effects.  

 
3.2.8. The Planning Officers observations are consistent with that of the LVIA review. It is 

acknowledged that there will be some adverse landscape and visual effects, however, 
when the development is considered as a whole these are not considered to be 
significantly adverse. In relation to policy, there is some conflict with policy ST16 in this 
regard, in particular, with ST16 3 (a) and DM08 due to the adverse impacts arising from 
the scheme, and the landscape sensitivity to this scale of development, however, overall 
the landscape impacts are not significantly adverse. In addition, the proposal could also be 

Page 40



said to be contrary to policy ST14 (g), which requires the protection and enhancement of 
local landscape character, taking into consideration the key characteristics and historical 
dimension of the landscape and their sensitivity to change. 

 
3.2.9. Finally, Natural England note: "The proposed development is for a site within 7.5km of the 

North Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), a nationally designated 
landscape, and has triggered Natural England's Impact Risk Zones for solar developments 
greater than 10ha." 

 
In the opinion of your planning officer, due to the topography and the screening, there will 
not be any harm to the North Devon AONB. 

 
3.3. Cumulative Landscape Impacts 

 
3.3.1. Guidance contained within the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should not rule 

out otherwise acceptable renewable energy developments through inflexible rules on 
buffer zones or separation distances.  Other than dealing with set-back distances for safety 
between renewable energy developments, distance in itself does not necessarily 
determine whether the impact of a proposal is unacceptable with other aspects such as 
local context, topography, local environment and nearby land uses being key 
considerations.  The NPPG further notes that the approach to assessing the cumulative 
landscape and visual impact of large-scale solar farms is likely to be the same as that for 
wind turbines although notes that in the case of ground mounted solar panels with 
effective screening and appropriate land topography, the zone of visual influence could 
potentially be zero.   

 
3.3.2. Policy ST16 of the Local Plan in relation to renewable energy development notes, at 

Section (4) that: 
 

'Renewable and low carbon energy development (other than wind energy) will be 
supported where it can demonstrate that the cumulative impact of operational, consented 
and proposed development on landscape character does not become a significant or 
defining characteristic of the wider fabric, character and quality of the landscape'. 

 
3.3.3. Section 5.7 of the Environmental Statement/LVIA takes account of the cumulative impacts 

of the development in relation to existing solar farms and electricity infrastructure within the 
surrounding landscape, and notes that no significant in combination or cumulative effects 
are predicted (albeit this is a brief assessment as acknowledged by the LVIA review). 
 

3.3.4. Following the consultation response from NDDC, consideration has been given to 
application 71708 (North Devon Council), however, the proposal is considered to be 
significantly distanced from this site, with limited intervisibility. Therefore the cumulative 
impacts are not considered significant by the Planning Officer.   

 
3.3.5. The Independent LVIA review acknowledges the potential for cumulative effects when 

taken in combination with other electricity infrastructure, however, recommends these 
effects are unlikely to be significant. The Planning Officer concurs with this view.   

 
3.4. Glint and Glare 

 
3.4.1. A Glint and Glare Assessment has been produced in support of the application, produced 

by neo-environmental. The Glint and Glare Assessment provides an evaluation of the 
degree of impact from glint and glare which would result from the proposed development. 
The submitted Assessment has set a 1km radius from the site to identify ground-based 
receptors and a 30km study area for aviation receptors.  The study identifies that within 
1km of the Application Site, there are 73 residential receptors and 76 road receptors which 
were considered. 

 

Page 41



3.4.2. The report concludes that the effects of glint and glare and their impact on local receptors 
has been analysed in detail and there is predicted to be no impacts on residential 
receptors and negligible on road receptors and aviation assets. 

 
3.4.3. The Council's Environmental Protection Officer has commented in relation to the likely 

impacts from the development in terms of glint and glare noting: 
 

‘The Glint and Glare Assessment indicates that a number of properties may theoretically 
experience reflected light for periods of time during certain times of the year but that the 
impact is largely negated due to location, distance and existing natural screening. 
Although the assessment appears comprehensive and thorough, it would be prudent to 
ensure any unforeseen problems with reflected light can be addressed following the 
completion of the development. As a result, a condition relating to how any future 
complaints relating to glint and glare can be dealt with is recommended as part of any 
planning permission granted.’ 

 
3.4.4. The proposed development is not considered to result in any potential issues relating to 

glint and glare and an appropriate condition is recommended to ensure any potential future 
complaints can be addressed.  

 
3.5. Trees 

 
3.5.1. An Arboricultural Assessment has been submitted in support of the application. The site 

consists generally of agricultural fields, however, there are hedgerows and trees/groups of 
trees within/surrounding the site which are generally of moderate quality. 

   
3.5.2. As summarised by the Arboricultural Assessment, no individual trees are required to be 

removed in order to implement the proposed development, with the overwhelming majority 
of the arboricultural resource being retained. The extent of the required hedgerow 
removals will be limited to circa 26 linear metres of moderate quality hedgerow and circa 
15m of low-quality hedgerow to allow for the construction and access track plus circa 12m 
for the routing of the security fence. A total of circa 53m. This will be mitigated by the 
planting of new hedgerows and will be conditioned (the biodiversity management plan 
indicates approximately 1065m of new hedgerows).  

 
3.5.3. A condition will be recommended requiring a finalised arboricultural method statement and  

tree protection plan, which will help prevent any damage to landscape features and 
ecology during the construction phase.  

 
3.5.4. A Landscape Strategy has been submitted by the applicants, which details proposed trees, 

hedgerow and planting. In addition, retained features are detailed. Subject to a condition to 
secure new planting which will mitigate the loss of hedgerows, it is considered that 
sufficient arboricultural information has been provided to confirm that the development can 
be undertaken without undue detriment to the majority of the existing trees and hedgerows 
on the application site and appropriate tree protection measures would be incorporated 
into the development. 

 
3.6. Conclusion 

 
3.6.1. Overall, there is some policy conflict which arises from this scheme (see 3.2.8). In addition, 

whilst there will not be any ‘significant adverse landscape or visual impacts’ when 
considered as a whole, there will still be an adverse impact which members will need to 
weigh up as part of any planning balance.  

 
4. Heritage Impact 

 
4.1. National policy contained in the NPPF notes that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 

Page 42



should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be (paragraph 192).  Further, any harm to, or loss of, the significance of 
a designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification. 

 
4.2. Policy DM07 of the Local Plan reiterates the national guidance in relation to heritage 

assets and notes that; 
 

'Proposals which conserve and enhance heritage assets and their settings will be 
supported.  Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and their settings, 
proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and an 
acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national 
policy tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets.'   

 
4.3. Policy ST15 is also relevant, which relates to 'Conserving Heritage Assets' 

 
4.4. A heritage assessment was submitted with this application, which comprehensively sets 

out the policy background and methodology for consideration. 
 

4.5. With regards to the submitted heritage assessment notes: 
 

- No designated heritage assets are located within the site.  
- The Scheduled Monument of an Iron Age enclosure and Roman marching camp lies 

c.365m west of the central parcel of the site (Figure 7, A).  
- A total of 14 Listed Buildings are located within a 1km radius of the site. All are Grade 

II except for the Church of All Saints at Alverdiscott, which is Grade II* (Figure 7, D). 
- No World Heritage Sites, Conservation Areas, Registered Parks and Gardens, or 

Registered Battlefields are located within the study area. 
 

4.6. In addition to the above, it is worth noting that St Mary Magdalenes Church (Grade II*) and 
Hunstaw Barton (Grade II) are 1.8 kilometres to the south of the site. Due to the 
topography, there are likely to be views between the two.  

 
4.7. With regards to 'Built Heritage', the submitted heritage assessment notes that the scheme 

only results in limited/no harm to the setting of any heritage asset within 1km of the site.  
 

4.8. The Council's Conservation Officer has commented on the scheme, and notes: 
 

"The application is supported by a Heritage statement dated August 2021 prepared by the 
Pegasus group. The assessment takes the standard format and the observation and 
conclusions of the submitted Heritage Statement are accepted.    
 
The study radius stops short of Huntshaw which contains a cluster of listed buildings 
including the Grade II* Church of St Mary Magdalene. A building of the highest significance 
in heritage terms.  However, the Local Authority has the information within the Heritage 
statement and the prepared viewpoints to be able to assess the visual impact on this 
settlement sited beyond the edge assessment area radius. 
 
The solar farm will be visible from Huntshaw but the visual impact on views back to 
Huntshaw are considered to be less than substantial as set out in the paragraph 202 of the 
NPPF and should assessed in terms of the public benefits of the proposal.   
 
The viewpoint assessment notes the impact on the view from the entrance of the site to 
Huntshaw is minor adverse which is accepted." 

 
4.9. The Planning Officer concurs with the Conservation Officers view, and considers the 

proposal is likely to result in less than substantial harm to the setting of any heritage asset. 
This harm will be discussed in the planning balance. 

 

Page 43



4.10. Having regards to below ground heritage, the applicants submitted an Archaeological 
Evaluation Report during the processing of this application, produced by Oxford 
Archaeology. Devon County Councils Historic Environment Team were consulted and note 
most recently: 

 
"A programme of archaeological work has been undertaken within the proposed 
development site. These investigations did not reveal any heritage assets of such 
significance that any further archaeological mitigation is required on site. A report setting 
out the results of the field evaluation undertaken has been submitted to the Historic 
Environment Team and two samples are being processed for radiocarbon dating. 
 
Upon the receipt of these radiocarbon dates the evaluation report will be updated. I have 
been assured that funds are resources are in place to complete these outstanding tasks 
and, as such, the Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning 
application." 

   
4.11. Overall, the proposal is considered to be acceptable with regards to below ground 

heritage.  
 

4.12. In conclusion, this application is likely to cause limited harm to any heritage asset or its 
setting, and this harm is considered to be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme 
relating to the production of renewable energy. As such ST15 and DM07 are satisfied.  

 
5. Impact on Residential Amenities 

 
5.1. The NPPF notes that all communities have a responsibility to help increase the use and 

supply of green energy but this does not mean that the need for renewable energy 
automatically overrides environmental protections and the planning concerns of local 
communities. As noted above, Policy ST16 of the Local Plan seeks to support renewable 
energy developments where there is no significant impact on local amenities.  Policy DM01 
states that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm the 
amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses. 

 
5.2. In addition Policy DM02 of the NDTLP relates to Environmental Protection and seeks to 

ensure proposals have an acceptable impact with regards to hazards and pollution.  
 

5.3. The proposed development seeks the addition of solar panels to a maximum height of 3 
metres. In addition, there is supporting infrastructure at various locations within the site, 
and fencing surrounding the scheme.   

 
5.4. The nearest neighbouring dwelling to the site is Moorlands to the southwest 

(approximately 125 metres separate the dwelling from the proposed panels). Lower 
Kingdon is approximately 150 metres to the south of the site. Dwellings around Stoney 
Cross are approximately 300 metres to the north of the site. Due to the distance separating 
the site from any dwelling, there are not considered to be any impacts regarding loss of 
light, privacy or overbearing impacts which arise from the scheme. A condition relating to 
CCTV is recommended, to ensure that neighbours are not overlooked (see section 6).  

 
5.5. A Noise Impact Assessment is provided with this application. The Councils Environmental 

Protection Officer has reviewed this application with regards to noise, and advises: 
 

"The Noise Impact Assessment is detailed and the noise impact of the proposed 
development has been undertaken in accordance with appropriate guidance and 
methodology. The Assessment reports very low levels of source noise and suggests that, 
in the main, no neighbouring third party dwellings will exceed the background level during 
the daytime or night-time period. This indicates a low impact on residential amenity. In 
order to ensure that noise emissions from the proposed development do not adversely 

Page 44



affect neighbouring amenity, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the 
imposition of the following condition:  
 
The rating level of noise emitted from the plant and equipment serving the solar farm shall 
not exceed 30 dB LAr,Tr, (as defined in BS 4142:2014+A1:2019) at any time when 
evaluated at the boundary of noise sensitive receptors. Noise levels shall be measured 
and rated in accordance with British Standard BS 4142:2014+A1:2019.  
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties The Assessment 
indicates that the compliance with the recommended noise limit is achievable" 
 
Subject to condition, there are not anticipated to be any noise concerns arising from this 
development. 

 
5.6. To avoid neighbouring nuisance during the construction phase, the Councils 

Environmental Protection Officer recommends a condition restricting hours of 
construction/delivery. In addition, whilst there are no anticipated problems regarding Glint 
and Glare, a condition is recommended to safeguard neighbours should a problem arise.  

 
5.7. There is no evidence to suggest that the siting of Solar Panels results in contamination 

issues during the operational phase. A Construction Environmental Management Plan will 
be conditioned to limit any potential pollution issues during construction.   

 
5.8. Taking into consideration the above information, relationship of neighbouring properties to 

the proposed development, and the retained hedgebanks, as well as the scale and nature 
of the proposals, together with the recommended noise condition, a harmful impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers is not considered to result. DM01 and DM02 are 
therefore satisfied.  

  
6. Security 

 
6.1. Policy DM04 sets out design principles for development proposals and notes, at section (g) 

that development should provide public and private spaces that are well designed, safe, 
attractive and complement the built form, designed to minimise anti-social and criminal 
behaviour. In addition, Policy DM04 notes that the amenities of existing and future 
neighbouring occupiers should be safeguarded. 

 
6.2. The submitted plans propose the inclusion of CCTV cameras facing into the site to be 

mounted on posts 2.5 metres in height (drawing no. UK_EPD_CCTV Camera_00). As 
detailed on the proposed layout plan, the cameras will be installed on posts around the 
perimeter fencing and will face into the site. The perimeter fencing is detailed on plan 
(UK_EPD_Fence_00), which details a two-metre-high fence with the addition of small 
mammal holes to enable free access.   

 
6.3. Comments have been received from the Police Designing Out Crime Officer in response to 

the application. These raise no in principle objections to the proposed development from a 
crime and disorder perspective. Additional advice is given within the consultation.  

 
6.4. Representations received have noted concerns about the relationship of CCTV cameras to 

neighbouring properties and the potential for overlooking with a resultant loss of privacy.  
The submitted plans propose the CCTV cameras to be angled into the site rather than 
towards neighbouring properties.  In addition, the proposed cameras would be located 
adjacent to the deer fencing which is located inside the existing hedge boundaries and 
therefore set away from the boundaries of the site.  As a result, the proposed CCTV 
cameras would be located at a distance to neighbouring dwellings and are unlikely to 
cause concerns. For the avoidance of doubt, a condition will be utilised to ensure CCTV 
cameras are angled into the site.  

 

Page 45



6.5. The proposed security details are considered to be acceptable for the nature and location 
of the proposed development. DM04 is satisfied.  

 
7. Highways Access 

 
7.1. Policy DM05 of the Local Plan states that all development must ensure safe and well-

designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the 
needs and accessibility of all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians.  In addition, 
all development shall protect and enhance existing rights of way, footways, cycleways and 
bridleways.  Finally, ST10 relates to the districts ‘Transport Strategy’. 

 
7.2. It is generally accepted that Solar Farms when operational do not give rise to significant 

traffic movements. Chapter 7 of the Environmental Statement thus focuses on construction 
and decommissioning phases of development.  

 
7.3. The applicants estimate the volume of traffic which will occur during the construction of the 

proposed development will include ‘approximately 1,050 deliveries to the Application Site, 
spread over the 7 month construction period. At the most intense period of construction 
there will be around 10 deliveries, 20 HGV movements, per day, though typically less than 
this number during the rest of the construction period’. 

 
7.4. The Environmental Statement claims a construction management plan has been provided, 

which sets out proposals for delivery of materials, plant and labour to and from the 
Application Site. It covers mitigation such as delivery time restrictions, construction traffic 
signs and management of HGV movements to minimise delay and ensure the safety of 
other users. The Construction Route will utilise the existing access to Alverdiscott 
Substation, and the existing construction access route previously used for the adjacent 
solar farm.  

 
7.5. The County Council's Highways Officer has reviewed the submitted plans and notes: 

 
"I have no issue with the access points proposed by the applicant. The proposed route has 
previously been used for similar developments and, as has been noted in the applicant's 
submitted information, there is no evidence that this has resulted in severe issues. As a 
result, subject to the below condition, I raise no highway issues." 
 
A condition is required which relates to the provision of a Construction Management Plan 
(CMP).  

 
7.6. A decommissioning management plan will be required to ensure there are no highways 

concerns during the decommissioning phase. This will also be conditioned.  
 

7.7. There are no existing Public Right of Ways or cycle routes which route across or adjacent 
to the site according to Devon County Council's interactive Rights of Way map 

 
7.8. Overall, this application is considered to be acceptable with regards to highways, and the 

impact is not considered 'severe'. Therefore the proposal is considered compliant with 
Local and National Policy.  

 
8. Construction Phase Provisions 

 
8.1. Policy DM03 of the Local Plan states that all development that will generate a significant 

volume of construction and operational waste will be required to demonstrate through a 
waste audit statement how the waste will be minimised, and residual waste will be reused 
or recycled on site or segregated for reuse and recovery elsewhere.   

 

Page 46



8.2. Policy DM02 relates to environmental protection noting that development proposals will be 
supported where they do not result in unacceptable impacts to atmospheric pollution, 
pollution or surface or ground water, noise and vibration and light pollution. 

 
8.3. A 'Construction, Decommissioning and Traffic Management Method Statement' (CDTM) 

was submitted with this application. This details the potential waste during the construction 
process. This is considered to be acceptable due to the inclusion of recycling and the 
appropriate management of topsoil where relevant. Due to the nature of the scheme, the 
proposal is not considered likely to produce significant volumes of operational waste. 

 
8.4. An hours of operation condition will be implemented which will control noise on site (as 

noted in section 5.) The CDTM also notes contractors will be required to conform to the 
construction noise code of practice BS 5228. It is not anticipated there will be significant 
dust issues arising from the construction/decommissioning, however, if conditions are very 
dry then the CDTM notes misting/spraying will be utilised.  

 
8.5. Highways have requested a Construction Management Plan, which will limit the impact of 

development on the local highways network. The CDTM indicates compounds and wheel 
washing facilities will be utilised, which will also be a requirement of the Construction 
Management Plan and will be secured by condition. 

   
8.6. The CDTM sets out decommissioning information, however, a condition will be required to 

secure the decommissioning of the site and its restoration.  
 

8.7. The Environmental Statement advises that construction pollution is an indirect risk to 
surrounding habitats. A Construction Environmental Management Plan will be conditioned, 
which will seek to limit this.  

 
8.8. Subject to conditions relating to construction management, decommissioning, hours of 

operation, and compliance with the CDTM the proposal is considered to be acceptable 
regarding the construction phase provision.   

 
9. Drainage and Flood Risk 

 
9.1. This application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment, produced by PFA consulting 

dated October 2021.The report identifies that the entire site is within Flood Zone 1, with the 
majority of the site being at 'Very Low' risk of flooding. A sustainable drainage strategy is 
proposed for managing surface water, which includes the addition of swales to intercept 
extreme flows which may already run off site.  

 
9.2. Devon County Council were consulted on this application in their role as Lead Local Flood 

Authority. No objection is raised, and it is noted that the swales are likely to result in a 
betterment to the existing scenario on site. In addition, the Environment Agency raise no 
objections.  

 
9.3. A condition will be recommended to ensure that the proposed mitigation/enhancement is 

provided. Subject to condition, the application is policy compliant with regards to drainage.  
 

10. Ecology & Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

10.1. Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development 
on wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
(Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further reinforced within the Torridge District Local 
Plan through Policy DM08 of the Local Plan which requires new development to 'avoid 
adverse impacts on existing ecology features as a first principle, and enable net gains by 
designing in biodiversity features'.   

Page 47



 
10.2. This application was screened in 2019. Following consultation with Natural England, the 

application was considered EIA development due to the location of development (within 
5km of the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) which is notified 
for its intertidal habitats and overwintering bird interest), and the potential for localised and 
transboundary impacts on local bird populations. As a result, an Environmental Statement 
was submitted with this application. 

 
10.3. The submitted environmental statement comprises details of breeding and wintering birds, 

including accompanying surveys. The Environmental Statement notes: "During the surveys 
no species linked to Taw-Torridge Estuary SSSI were observed within the Application Site 
and wider survey area; with lapwing, golden plover and curlew only ever heard (presumed 
to be flying over the area)." Natural England were consulted on this application and note: 

 
"It is our advice, based on the material supplied with the consultation that, in so far as 
statutory designated sites are concerned, there are no significant impacts identified and 
Natural England therefore does not object." 
 
Natural England advise further consideration could be given to mitigating the impacts on 
common snipe across the site. A Biodiversity Management Plan is submitted; however, it 
does not specifically relate to common snipe. In the opinion of the planning officer, this 
would not warrant a reason for refusal due to the level of biodiversity net gain proposed.   

 
10.4. There are not considered to be any significant impacts on designated sites, however, it 

should be noted that part of the proposal is within the County Wildlife Site at Haddacott 
Moor. Natural England advice notes: 

 
"Consideration should be given to removing the relevant field from the application 
boundary. The objective here should be to restore habitats." 
 
The planning officer discussed this with the agent, who advised: 
 
"One field in the most northern parcel of the Site lies within a non-statutory County Wildlife 
Site (Haddacott Moor CWS) which is designated for its Culm grassland habitat. The 
Proposed Development has been designed to avoid all semi-improved grassland and 
Culm grassland habitats, and as such, five field parcels within the Haddacott Moor CWS 
were removed from the layout during the pre-application stage to avoid impacts to 
qualifying habitats of the Haddacott Moor CWS. As a consequence, the development will 
only result in the direct land take of one field parcel within the Haddacott Moor CWS. The 
extended Phase 1 habitat surveys confirmed that Culm grassland is not present within this 
field parcel, with habitats recorded as poor semi-improved grassland. The impact of the 
proposed development on the CWS is considered further within ES Chapter 6 
Biodiversity." 

 
10.5. Policy DM08 (5) relates to local sites, and notes:  

 
Development likely to affect adversely locally designated sites, their features or their 
function as part of the ecological network, including County Wildlife Sites, County 
Geological Sites and sites supporting Biodiversity Action Plan habitats and species, will 
only be permitted where the need for and benefits of the development clearly outweigh the 
loss, and the coherence of the local ecological network is maintained. 
 

10.6. In this case there is a slight loss to a section of the CWS, however, no significant harm is 
predicted to its wider function. The benefits of the scheme are discussed in the planning 
balance in section 12. In the opinion of the planning officer, the benefits outweigh the harm 
and this would not be a sufficient reason for refusal.  

 

Page 48



10.7. The submitted Environmental Statement is comprehensive. In summary, in terms of 
species, Hazel dormouse were identified to be present on the application site. In addition, 
the habitats present could also support amphibians, reptiles, badgers, bats, otter, water 
vole and breeding birds. Great crested newts were concluded to be absent. As previously 
noted, the Application Site was determined to have limited value to wintering birds 
including those associated with Taw-Torridge Estuary SSSI. Subject to 
mitigation/enhancement, the proposal is not considered to result in any direct significant 
adverse impacts on habitats, protected or notable species. 

 
10.8. A Biodiversity Management Plan was submitted with this application, which details a 

variety of ecological enhancement measures, and a plan for the management of the site. 
Habitat enhancement measures include: 

 
- Mixed native species hedgerow planting, including approximately 1065m of new 

hedgerows; - Native field margin tree planting;  
- x2 areas of copse planting, to include large native oak trees;  
- 10.91ha of species-rich marshy grassland creation;  
- 5.99ha of species-rich tussocky meadow grassland creation, located around the 

Application Site in large areas of grassland fields margins surrounding the solar 
compartment fence-lines; and,  

- 1.08km of attenuation storage/hydraulic control areas; seeded with wetland meadow 
seed mixes 

 
Significant biodiversity Net Gain is predicted (56.90%). 

 
10.9. To ensure the net gain is achieved, the biodiversity management plan, and a scheme of 

monitoring will be conditioned.  
 

10.10. Taking into consideration of the information received, and the lack of objection from any 
statutory consultee, the scheme is considered compliant with local and national policies 
relating to ecology and biodiversity.  

 
11. Representations  

 
11.1. The sections above deal with many of the concerns raised in the received representations. 

Only material planning considerations are taken into considerations.  
 

11.2. A number of concerns are raised which relate to the consultation. This application was 
consulted on, then following amendments made to the site layout to increase the number 
of panels, was reconsulted on. A final consultation took place following the Council's 
receipt of independent landscape advice. A statement of community involvement is also 
provided by the applicants. Overall, it is considered that the consultation on this application 
is appropriate.  

 
11.3. Representations note that the site is unsuitable for grazing, however, the applicants 

Biodiversity Management Plan indicates grazing by sheep will take place. Overall, the 
scheme is acceptable in this regard.  

 
11.4. It is noted that the capacity of the solar farm is exaggerated, and other methods of energy 

generation would be preferable. Ultimately national and local policies support solar 
schemes as a renewable source of energy production. The scheme is acceptable in this 
regard.  

 
11.5. This application does result in some landscape harm, however, there is no reason to 

suggest that this would significantly impact on the local tourism industry.  
 

11.6. A condition will be applied limiting the scheme to 40 years, with the land returning to 
agriculture afterwards.  

Page 49



 
11.7. 3rd party representation raises concerns regarding working practices and the potential for 

3rd party damage. 3rd party damage would be a civil matter, whilst working practices 
would be controlled via condition (CEMP, CMP, CDTM, and hours of operation).  

 
12. Planning Balance/Conclusion 

 
12.1. As set out in 3.2.8, there is some policy conflict relating to the landscape impacts of this 

scheme, including the landscape sensitivity of the site to large scale solar development. In 
the opinion of the planning officer, moderate weight should be given to these conflicts, 
bearing in mind that overall, there are not anticipated to be any ‘significant adverse 
landscape or visual impacts’ when considered as a whole. In addition, it is acknowledged 
that there will be less than substantial harm to the setting of some off-site heritage assets, 
which will need to be weighed up against the positives of the scheme. The positives of the 
scheme include the production of low carbon energy (significant), and a significant 
biodiversity net gain. In addition, there will be minor positives regarding surface water run-
off. Neutral impacts include neighbouring amenity, highways, and security. In the opinion 
of the Planning Officer, whilst there is some harm identified, the positives arising from the 
scheme are considered to be significant and outweigh this harm, which is a material 
consideration. As a result, approval is recommended.  

 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
         
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         When the land ceases to be used as a photovoltaic park for renewable power production or at 

the end of the period of 40 years from the date of grid connection (such date to have been 
given to the Local Planning Authority within one month of grid connection) whichever shall first 
occur, the use hereby permitted shall cease and all materials and equipment brought onto the 
land in connection with the use shall be removed and the land restored to its previous state or 
as otherwise agreed, in accordance with details (including highways and construction 
management details) that have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the decommissioning works taking place. Decommissioning works shall be 
completed within a year of the last export from the site to the grid. 

                       
           Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity and character of the surrounding countryside. 

Page 50



 
 4         Prior to the development hereby permitted being brought into use, the SUDS/swales detailed 

in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (October 2021) shall have been 
constructed/developed and shall be managed in accordance with the details within the same 
document thereafter.  

            
           Reason: To ensure the appropriate management of surface water 
 
 5         All electrical cabling between the solar panel rows and the on-site connection buildings shall 

be located underground. Thereafter the excavated ground shall be reinstated to its former 
condition. 

                       
            Reason: To limit the visual impact arising from the scheme.  
 
 6         Construction works and associated deliveries shall not take place other than between 0700 to 

1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works 
permitted on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

                       
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties 
 
 7         The rating level of noise emitted from the plant and equipment serving the solar farm shall not 

exceed 30 dB LAr,Tr, (as defined in BS 4142:2014+A1:2019) at any time when evaluated at 
the boundary of noise sensitive receptors. Noise levels shall be measured and rated in 
accordance with British Standard BS 4142:2014+A1:2019. 

            
           Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
 8         Within 28 days from the receipt of a written request from the local planning authority 

confirming that problems of glint are occurring (following a complaint to the local planning 
authority from the occupant of a dwelling which lawfully existed or had planning permission at 
the date of this consent), the solar array operator shall submit a scheme of measures to 
prevent further glint, for the approval of the Local Planning Authority. Within 48 days (or other 
timescale agreed with the LPA) of obtaining approval for the scheme, the solar array operator 
shall fully implement the scheme.  

                       
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
 9         Prior to the commencement of any development hereby granted planning permission and 

before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 
development hereby granted planning permission, a finalised Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out as approved and the fencing shall be 
erected prior to the commencement of any of the development hereby permitted and shall be 
maintained until the development has been completed and all equipment, machinery and 
surplus materials have been removed from the site (or phase thereof). 

            
           Reason: To protect the trees to be retained on this site from damage before and during the 

course of development as per the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. 
 
10         Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
            
           (a) the timetable of the works; 
           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 

Page 51



9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
           (l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
           (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 

of any work; 
            
           REASON: To ensure safe and suitable access for all road users. 
 
11         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the recommended 

mitigation and enhancement measures set out in the section 6 of the Environmental Statement 
(as revised), and any other relevant supporting documentation including the Biodiversity 
Management Plan (as revised). 

                       
           Reason: To protect species and habitats on the site and for the enhancement of biodiversity on 

the site. 
 
12        The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

Biodiversity Mitigation Plan (as revised) and Landscape Strategy (as revised). All planting and 
mitigation/enhancement measures should be carried out within one year of any grid 
connection. To ensure the mitigation and enhancement measures are implemented and are 
effective, within the first year following the completion of the planting, followed by every five 
years thereafter for the lifetime of the development, a monitoring report (produced by a 
suitably qualified ecologist/individual) shall be submitted to the authority which shall be made 
available to the public. If the report indicates that the aims of the Biodiversity Mitigation Plan, 
or the biodiversity net gain estimate is not being achieved, then additional enhancement 
measures shall be submitted for approval along with said monitoring, and shall be 
implemented within one year of them being agreed.   

                       
           Reason: To ensure the aims of the biodiversity mitigation and enhancement is achieved.  
 
13         The CCTV cameras proposed as part of the approved development shall be angled into the 

site and such as to ensure that overlooking or a loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers does 
not result. 

                       
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 
 
14         No external artificial lighting, with the exception of the proposed emergency and motion 

sensitive security lighting, shall be installed during the operation of the site as a solar PV 
facility without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the surrounding area and for ecological 

purposes. 

Page 52



 
15         Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). The CEMP shall focus on 
any environmental factors/risks not covered by condition 10 which relates to construction 
management, and should include details such as but not limited to; 

            
           - Control of emissions 
           - Management of potential pollution 
           - Materials storage, including any hazardous material storage and removal.  
           - Lighting 
           - An ecological construction management plan.  
            
           Reason: 
           To limit any the impact of the construction works and protect ecology in accordance with ST14 

and DM08 of the NDTLP.  
 
16         The approved development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the 

submitted Construction, Decommissioning and Traffic Management Method Statement, dated 
August 2021. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and to prevent the risk of 

pollution. 
         

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

GAMM_01  03.11.2021 
     

GAMM_SLP_01  01.09.2021 
   

P20-0920_01  01.09.2021 
   

P20-0920_06 I  03.11.2021 
     

UK_EPD_TLT  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_TFM  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_SWG  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_S40  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_RCS  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_MH/CB  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_INV  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_GTD  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_FNC  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_CSS  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_CAM  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_AUX  01.09.2021 
   

UK_EPD_132KV+450  01.09.2021 
     

PNL_4L-25-6665  01.09.2021 
     

P20-0921_15  01.09.2021 
       

P20-0921_05 A  03.11.2021 
        

 
 
 

Page 53



 
Committee Report – 14th April 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0910/2021/FUL 

Registration date: 17 August 2021 

Expiry date:  12 October 2021 

Applicant:  Mr Jason Mugford  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Seabreeze Certificated Location Caravan Site,  
Long Lane,  
Appledore, 
Devon, 
EX39 1NF,   
 

Proposal:  Change of use of land to increase maximum 
number of pitches from 5 to 15 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7b



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Councillor Hames call-in. Reasons for call in: 
1. Adverse impact on character and appearance of the site and surrounding countryside 
2. Contribute to coalescence between Appledore and Northam 
3. Detract from setting and special qualities of the AONB  
4. Adverse access due to inadequate highway conditions and lack of footways 
5. Adverse effect on amenities of neighbouring residents 
6. Any economic benefit outweighed by the adverse environmental and other impacts 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
     

1/0874/2012/FUL Formation of new field access 
(and closure of existing) 

PER 04.02.2013 

     

1/0139/2016/FUL Full planning permission for 
the permanent siting of Lodge 
Accommodation and Store 

REF 30.03.2016 

     

1/0551/2017/FUL CL Store and Seasonal 
Supervisory Caravan 

REF 24.08.2017 

     

1/0024/2019/FUL Change of use of 5 unit 
caravan and camping club 
site to all year round 30 pitch 
touring caravan site and 
provision of supervisory unit. 

REF 08.04.2019 

        

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The application relates to a broadly rectangular and relatively flat grassed parcel of land measuring 
approximately 150 x 45 metres, tapering to approximately 38 metres at its northern extent. The site 
has a vehicular access at its southern boundary and is enclosed on all four sides by mature 
hedgebanks and vegetation. 
 
The site is bounded by existing residential dwellings to the east, the Long Lane public highway to the 
south and open fields to the north and west.  Further to the north, at a distance of approximately 100 
metres are the Northam Burrows and the Taw and Torridge Estuary. 
 
To the east of the site is located the small hamlet of dwellings known as Watertown, whilst Appledore 
is approximately 400 metres to the north east, with Northam the same distance to the south and 
Westward Ho! a similar distance to the southwest.  
 
Since 2015, the site has formed part of a Certificated Location (CL) of the Caravan Club, 
accommodating up to five caravans. A storage building was permitted on appeal in 2017 (3196529) 
and is sited to the south of the site.  
 
Proposed Development: 
The application seeks a change of use, which would enable a maximum of 15 caravan pitches on site 
(10 hard standing pitches and 5 grass pitches).   
Additional landscaping is proposed, in the form of new hedgerows and tree planting.  
 
Waste water will be disposed of via mains sewer. 
 

Page 55



Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
25.02.2022 
It was resolved to recommend that this proposal be refused on the following grounds: 
 
It would detrimentally change the character of the site, surrounding area and coastal location, contrary 
to policy NOR of the NDaT Local plan 2031, with specific reference to Local Plan Strategic Policy 
ST09 as it would have an adverse impact on the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the 
site which forms part of the Undeveloped Coast and the adjoining areas to the west, south and 
southeast which also form part of the Undeveloped Coast.  
 
It proposes development of a piece of land that would contribute to coalescence of the settlements of 
Appledore and Northam (Policy NOR(h) para 10.355 of the NDaT Local Plan 2031 
 
The proposals do not support AONB, NOR(k) and DM18 (2)(h) which support development that 
respects the landscape setting including the special landscape character and qualities of the adjoining 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty/protects and enhances the setting and special qualities of the 
Area. 
 
There are no pavements in the area and this does not allow for safe passage for pedestrians. 
It is contrary to ST14(f) and DMO8A andST03, DM01(a) ST10(3)(g) and DM18(2)(e) of the Local 
Plan. 
 
Concerns were expressed regarding noise pollution and also from barbecues. 
Attention is drawn to the fact that planning permission was granted for a single gate, this is in breach 
as a double gate has been installed. Planning consent was also granted for a container to be cladded, 
to date the container is installed but no cladding has appeared. 
 
17.09.2021 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused on the grounds that: 
 
It would detrimentally change the character of the site, the surrounding area and coastal location, 
contrary to policy NOR of the NDaT Local Plan 2031. 
 
It represents development of the undeveloped coast, contrary to para 10.355 of NDaT Local Plan 
2031. 
 
It proposes development of a piece of lands that would contribute to the coalescence of the 
settlements of Northam and Appledore (policy NOR(h), para 10.355 of the NDaT Local Plan 2031). 
 
It would have a detrimental effect on the AONB, contrary to policies ST14(f) and DM08A of the NDaT 
Local Plan. Similarly, the extended views of the Burrows SSSI would be compromised, contrary to the 
expectations for the transition zone as outlined in para 3.23 of 
the NDaT Local Plan 2031, contrary to policy ST03. 
 
The proposal would have an adverse impact on the visual amenity for local residents and visitors 
alike, contrary to NDaT Local Plan 2031 policy DM01(a).  
 
The local highway infrastructure is not sufficient to allow the safe passage of caravans that may use 
the site, which is contrary to policies ST10(3)(g) and DM18(e) of the NDaT Local Plan. 
 
AONB Team:  
23.02.2022 
Planning Application 1/0910/2021/FUL - Change of use of land to increase maximum number of 
pitches from 5 to 15 at Seabreeze Certificated Location Caravan Site Long Lane Appledore 
 

Page 56



Thank you for consulting the North Devon Coast AONB Partnership, with regard to this application. I 
apologise for the delayed response, but we have been extremely busy lately. 
 
Having studied the plans and proposals, we have the following comments to make. 
 
The site is located on the edge of Northam Burrows Country Park, whose boundary also forms the 
designated boundary of the AONB. As a result the proposal lies outside the AONB, but does have the 
potential to affect the setting of the protected landscape. Whilst we would agree with the submitted 
LVIA that key views from Northam Burrows Country Park are primarily seaward, as illustrated in the 
LVIA (Viewpoint 2 from the former tip road and Viewpoint 4 from across the Skern) the view inland 
would be affected by this proposal. The LVIA viewpoints 2 & 4, do illustrate that permanent 
development at this location would have the effect of increasing the developed area, in the setting of 
the AONB, when viewed from the Burrows. Over the past 20 years, the former green corridor that lay 
adjacent to Northam Burrows Country Park has been steadily eroded between Westward Ho! and 
Appledore and this application is another example of how this area is steadily being lost. 
 
In addition, Northam Burrows has one of the darkest night skies, within the designated AONB and this 
is steadily being eroded by development on the edge of the Burrows. Therefore, we have concerns 
regarding 
potential light spill affecting the dark night skies and tranquillity of the Burrows at night.  
 
The proposed site, is also located on the site of the former RAF Northam Radar Station, which was a 
large dispersed site, operating during World War 2, which was located both on and off the Burrows. 
Whilst we acknowledge that no known archaeological features are likely to be harmed by the proposal 
most of this former site has largely remained free of development, so this may be something that 
needs to be considered. We would suggest that you seek additional advice from your own 
Conservation Officer as well as the County Council Environment Section with regard to the heritage 
impacts of the proposal. 
 
In conclusion, the proposal does have the potential to impact upon the setting of the designated 
AONB and planning policy dictates that this should be a consideration when making a planning 
decision. In our opinion, the proposal as it stands has potential to reduce the undeveloped green 
space on the edge of the designated area, as illustrated by Viewpoints 2 & 4. Nonetheless we 
recognise the important role that tourism, has to play in the economic recovery of the area and as 
result we do not recommend outright refusal of the application. 
 
However, we would be concerned if this proposed caravan park became larger, or became a 
permanent feature within the setting of the AONB. This we believe would be contrary to AONB 
Management Plan Policy, as a result we would recommend the following. 
 
1. That permission be given for occupancy of the site, on a temporary basis rather than permanent, a 
suggested period being from April until October, to prevent the development becoming a permanent 
feature within the setting of the AONB. 
 
2. That no external lighting be erected on site, that could have the potential to affect the dark night 
skies of the AONB as per AONB Management Plan Policy A2 ("Preserve the dark skies, peace and 
tranquillity of the AONB")  
 
We trust you will make not of our recommendations, when considering this planning application.  
 
Natural England:  
28.02.2022 
No objection  
 
05.10.2021 
No Objection  
 
 

Page 57



Environmental Protection Officer:  
10.02.2022 
Further to the comments in the initial consultation response dated 1 October 2021, the Environmental 
Protection Team acknowledges the amendments to the application. 
 
The reduced number of pitches from 20 to 15 with all new pitches located on the western boundary, 
the introduction of screening on the eastern boundary and the site management plan outlining site 
rules all assist in alleviating the previous concerns with regards amenity impact. Subsequently, the 
Environmental Protection Team has no objections to the proposed development. 
 
If the proposed development is to be served by an existing non-mains foul drainage provision, the 
applicant will need to demonstrate that the provision has sufficient capacity to accommodate the 
additional loading.  
 
01.10.2021 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team acknowledges that the site is 
currently used for camping and has no records of complaint from residents of neighbouring properties 
with regards disturbance to to their residential amenity. However, due to the close proximity of 
existing dwellings, the Environmental Protection Team has concerns for the potential detriment to 
their residential amenity from the significant increase in pitches being sought in this application. 
Having regard for the close proximity and the limitations for introducing any effective attenuation 
measures, the Environmental Protection Team is unable to support this application.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
21.03.2021 
Application: 1/0910/2021/FUL 
 
Seabreeze Certificated Location Caravan Site Long Lane Appledore Devon EX39 1NF - Change of 
use of land to increase maximum number of pitches from 5 to 15: Historic Environment 
 
My ref: ARCH/DM//37445 
 
I was aware of this one, I was copied into  Dave Edgcombe's AONB response, but the HET have no 
comments to make on this application.  
 
Conservation Officer:  
21.03.2021 
Thank you for consulting on this proposal.   
 
The granting of permission for caravans at this location is regrettable in terms of the introduction of 
modern white boxes onto an area of land that forms the backdrop to the Burrows and the views to the 
ridgeway road to Appledore.( Churchill Way) 
 
There are other issues that give cause for concern but are not matters to be addressed under the 
conservation considerations.  However it is worth mentioning that Oyster Cottage, a grade II listed 
building sited on the corner of  Long Lane and Broad lane, has for years suffered damage from large 
vehicles negotiating around the corner as well as cracks within the walls from the volume and size of 
modern vehicles passing.  The addition of visitors towing large caravans to the existing coaches for 
Skern Lodge and the current volume of building related vehicles and the rise of courier vans has 
added to the issues experienced by this property.  It remains with the Highways Officer to resolve in 
terms of signage and management. 
 
The area of land to the north west of long lane forms the site of the former RAF base at Northam.  
The remains have recently been listed and while the majority of the former communications station fall  
within the management of the burrows there are areas containing strategic structures on  the fringes 
of the Burrows that are now in private ownership .  This site is one that forms  land on the margins of 
the former RAF station. 
 

Page 58



The 1947 aerial view indicates the low key use of the land in this area and how the post war 
development has altered the rural nature of the area which links to the burrows and open coastal 
fringe/AONB. 
 
The continuation of this process in seen in this proposal which will have some impact on views from 
the burrows and will erode the open nature of the landscape with the installation of caravans.  The 
nature of caravans are that they are visually obvious within the landscape as white shapes amongst 
the field pattern. The hedges here are not sufficient to provide a level of screening that would conceal 
caravans on site. Nor with the prevailing weather are they likely to hide the scale of modern caravans 
and motorhomes. 
 
There is a level of harm within the environment and on the listed building at Oyster Cottage.  The 
more highly graded building at Diddywell is more sheltered in the landscape and there is no visual 
harm to this heritage asset.   
 
The level of harm is less than substantial under the guidance as set out in paragraphs 199-203 of the 
NPPF but this impact is cumulative in nature given the level of development that this area has 
experienced in the recent past.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
04.01.2022 
Further to discussion with the planning officer and applicant, I have no objection subject to the 
imposition of a condition that the site shall not cater be allowed to cater for children, but be for adults 
only as the applicant advises. If such a condition can be applied, then there is a lower impact on the 
safety of pedestrians which can walk from the site up Broad Lane without a footway and join the 
footway network there. 
 
Devon County Council as Highway Authority does not comment on the transport sustainability of a 
proposal, that is left for the LPA to consider along the other environmental, economic and social 
aspects of sustainability.  
 
21.09.2021 
Observations: 
The route to and from the site for touring caravans and mobile homes via the A386 and Broad Lane is 
considered acceptable. While there is a section of approximately 100m on Long Lane that is relatively 
narrow, there is adequate forward visibility between the junction with Broad Lane and the site access 
for vehicles to safely negotiate this narrow section of road. Broad Lane, as the name implies, is wide 
enough with adequate forward visibiltiy to accommodate the likely increase in vehicle traffic attracted 
to this site. 
 
However, the site is remote from services and facilities and is not served by any form of footway. 
Access to such facilities that tourists would expect to travel to such as shops and pubs is not safely 
achievable on foot and therefore access is not considered safe and 
suitable for all people with a resultant unacceptable impact on highway safety. 
 
Recommendation of Refusal: 
The site is not considered to have safe and suitable access for pedestrians contrary to NPPF (2021) 
paragraph 110 and Local Plan policy DM05.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  3  Number of letters of support:  3 
Number of representations received:  8 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  5  

 
Objections: 
 
- Harm to the character and appearance of the area 
- Harm to the landscape character/undeveloped coast 
- Contribute to coalescence of settlements (NOR H) 
- Harm to the AONB 
- Substandard highways  
- No footways 
- Harm to neighbouring amenity 
- Economic benefits outweighed by harm 
- Impacts on tranquillity of this area (due to arrival of caravans etc).  
- Junction to the site is dangerous.  
- Increase in air pollution 
- Previous appeal decision and previous comments from Environmental Protection indicate the 

scheme isn't acceptable.  
- Impact on listed building.  
- Disagree with the AONB officers comments.  
 
Support: 
 
- The site can accommodate 20 caravans 
- More tourism contributing to economy 
- Adult only site  
- Negligible impact on highways 
- Clear need for overnight camper van facilities in the area (proven by carparks being 

overwhelmed) 
- Reducing pressures on Appledore car parks. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of 
Development); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST09 (Coast 
and Estuary Strategy); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST13 (Sustainable Tourism); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM18 (Tourism Accommodation);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations with this application are: 
- Principle of Development 
- Character and Appearance  
- Residential Amenity 
- Biodiversity 

Page 60



- Highways 
- Drainage 
- Heritage 
- Conclusion 
 
1. Principle of Development  
 
1.1. This site is within the countryside and therefore Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan (NDTLP) is relevant. Policy ST07 of the NDTLP sets out the spatial development strategy 
for northern Devon's rural area, and clarifies that in the countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages 
and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic 
and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location.   
 
1.2. Policy ST13 is also relevant, which sets out the overarching approach to tourism development 
within the district and states 'High quality tourism development that promotes a year-round industry 
will be supported.  Tourism growth should be sustainable and should not damage the natural or 
historic assets of northern Devon.' 
 
1.3. Policy ST07 and ST13 should be read in conjunction with policy DM18, which relates 
specifically to Tourism Accommodation. Policy DM18 of the NDTLP sets out the local planning policy 
context in relation to the provision of tourism accommodation.  Part 2 of the policy relates to 
development in the countryside, and notes: 
 
Outside the Sub-regional, Strategic, Main and Local Centres, the development of new and the 
expansion or rationalisation of existing tourism accommodation will be supported where it: 
 
(a) is related directly to and compatible in scale with an existing tourism, visitor or leisure 
attraction; or 
(b) reuses or converts existing buildings; or 
(c) improves facilities for or diversifies the range or improves the quality of existing tourism 
accommodation; 
 
1.4. This proposal is directly related to the existing tourism facilities on site and will improve the 
range of existing tourism accommodation at the location via an increase in the number of pitches and 
provision of hard standings with electric hook-ups. In terms of scale, this increases the existing 
facilities by a maximum of 10 caravans, which is considered to be compatible with the size of the site, 
and the existing facility. The site is also in proximity to Northam Burrows, Appledore, and Westward 
Ho!, which all have strong links to the tourism industry within the district. The proposal is compliant 
with DM18 (2) in this regard.  
 
1.5. Policy DM18 (d) reiterates that the scale of the proposal shall be appropriate to the size of the 
existing settlement or attraction. As previously noted, the increase in the number of plots is 
considered to be commensurate with the size of the site, and the overall site area. Thus, the scale of 
this scheme is considered appropriate, whilst the potential economic benefits from increased tourism 
are noted.   
 
1.6. The remaining criterion in DM18 require the proposal to have an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the area, acceptable highways impact, cause no significant harm to 
heritage assets or important landscapes and have an environmental enhancement. These points will 
be considered in the remaining report. 
 
1.7. In addition to the above, because of the sites location regard has to be given to policy ST09 
(Coast and Estuary Strategy). In particular, ST09 (7) notes:  
 
"Development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will be supported where it does not detract 
from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped character of 

Page 61



the Heritage Coasts, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be located outside the 
Undeveloped Coast and estuary." 
 
1.8. In this case the proposal is the expansion of an existing facility and therefore it cannot 
reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast designation. Nonetheless, the proposal will 
only be supported where is does not cause harm to the areas landscape character. This will be 
discussed further in section 2.  
 
1.9. 3rd party representation and the Call-In reason notes policy NOR (para H) is relevant which 
seeks to avoid "development that would contribute to coalescence between Appledore and Northam 
and the designated Green Wedge in Northam;" 
 
In the opinion of your Planning Officer, this would not be a sufficient reason for refusal. In particular, 
NOR10 relates to the 'green wedge', and this proposal is not within this area. In addition, the proposal 
does not relate to residential development, is minor in nature, and would not result in any significant 
coalescence between the two settlements over and above what already exists. Finally, the spatial 
policies detailed above would support increased tourism development on this site (subject to other 
material considerations).  
 
1.10. For the reasons discussed above, this proposal has policy support and is acceptable in 
principle, subject to the remaining material considerations.   
 
2. Character and Appearance 
 
2.1. Policy ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes: development will 
achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant 
places. Designs will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of 
the site, its wider context and the surrounding area, taking full account of the principles of design 
found in Policy DM04.  
 
2.2. Policy DM04 then proceeds to detail 14 design principles which should be taken into 
consideration within any new development. The crux of DM04 requires new developments to be of 
high-quality design, including being well related to their surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, 
include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the local area.  
 
2.3. Policy DM08A is also relevant which relates to landscape impacts and seeks to ensure that 
proposals do not cause undue landscape harm. 
 
2.4. One of the key considerations when reviewing applications for new or extended caravan parks 
is the impact on the surrounding landscape/character and appearance of the area. A Landscape and 
visual impact assessment was submitted with this application, produced by David Wilson Partnership. 
The LVIA assessed the scheme based upon a maximum of 20 caravans on site. Since then, the 
description has been amended and the scheme only relates to a maximum of 15 caravans. As the 
number of caravans has decreased, it can be assumed that the findings of the report are still relevant 
(if anything a reduction in the number of units will only decrease the impact).  
 
2.5. As noted within the LVIA, the site falls within the Devon County Council "Taw Torridge 
Estuary" Landscape Character Area and within the Torridge District Landscape Character Type (LCT) 
4F: Dunes. The Devon Character Assessment describes the landscape:  
 
"This is a flat, sky-dominated landscape with strong sensory characteristics. The habitats within the 
mosaic (dunes, beach, saltmarsh, mudflats and farmland) each have unique qualities of pattern, 
colour and texture which are juxtaposed in different combinations. The salty smell of mudflats and the 
sea are ever-present, as are the calls of birds. Within the dunes, the landscape feels disorientating, 
and has a strong sense of enclosure, isolation and wilderness. This contrasts with the open views 
towards the surrounding settlements, and the time-depth associated with the strip fields at Braunton. 
The estuary settlements have a strong maritime character, with historic quays and impressive 
bridges." 

Page 62



 
2.6. The LVIA document is produced by a qualified landscape consultant and significant weight 
can be attributed to its contents. The document concludes: 
 
"The proposal is for an increase in the levels of use for the site for touring caravans to 20 units, an 
increase of 15 on the current useage. The area of landscape and visual influence of the site for this 
scale and type of development is small, extending to around 1km from the site. Beyond that distance, 
effects are predicted to be negligible. 
 
Landscape effects on the host landscape are assessed as being minimal, as are landscape effects on 
the AONB and the neighbouring landscape. Visual effects are predicted to be moderate adverse on 
the closest neighbours to the site and slight adverse on people walking on Northam Burrows. 
Mitigation through hedgerow management to thicken the visual barrier between the site and 
neighbouring areas would help to reduce the scale of effect.  
 
Visual effects from other areas are predicted to be minimal." 
 
2.7. 3rd party representation disputes the findings of the LVIA report; however, the Planning Officer 
would advise that as the report is produced by a qualitied individual it can be generally considered to 
be accurate. The AONB team were consulted on this application. The AONB team recognise that the 
proposal does have the potential to impact on the setting of the AONB (due to intensification), 
however, do not object. Two conditions are recommended, including a seasonal occupancy condition 
(to limit the permanent impact of the site on the AONB) and an external lighting condition (to limit the 
impacts on dark skies). Subject to condition, and taking into consideration the AONB comments and 
submitted LVIA, it can be concluded that whilst the proposal may have some impact on the landscape 
character, this would not be significant enough to warrant a reason for refusal.     
 
2.8. The applicants have submitted a planting scheme which will help limit the impact on any 
neighbouring dwellings, however, it will be important to retain and protect the existing hedgerows on 
site. As such, a hedgerow protection plan will be required by condition.  
 
2.9. Based upon the above, the proposal can be said to be compliant with ST07, ST09, ST13, 
ST14, DM08a and DM18.  
 
3. Residential Amenity 
 
3.1. Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 
significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses or result in harm to the future 
occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses. 
 
3.2. Policy DM02 of the NDTLP relates to Environmental Protection and seeks to ensure proposals 
have an acceptable impact with regards to hazards and pollution.  
 
3.3. The Councils Environmental Protection Team were consulted on this application. Whilst initial 
concerns were raised, these were removed following the submission of a management plan, the 
provision of enhanced planting, and the siting of new plots on the opposite boundary.  
 
3.4. 3rd party representation notes that there would still be the potential for nuisance arising from 
this development due to intensification. Whilst the Planning Officer sympathises with these residents, 
there is no local evidence to suggest that touring caravan sites cause significant noise nuisance, and 
indeed, no complaints have been received from this established site. Based upon this, and the lack of 
any objection from Environmental Protection, policies DM01 and DM02 are satisfied.  
 
3.5. The submitted landscaping scheme will be conditioned to limit any impacts on neighbouring 
amenity and ensure that caravans will be physically separate from neighbours. In addition, a further 
condition will be imposed to ensure that the site complies with the submitted management plan. 
 
 

Page 63



4. Biodiversity 
 
4.1. Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 
wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is also 
supported by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP. In addition, Policy ST14 seeks to deliver biodiversity 
enhancement through development. 
 
4.2. A wildlife trigger list was submitted with this application, along with a statement justifying the 
lack of any formal Ecological Report. This is considered reasonable, and there are unlikely to be any 
significant ecological concerns resulting from the scheme. Due to the amount of landscaping 
proposed, net gain is achieved. Overall, policies DM08 and ST14 are satisfied.   
 
4.3. Subject to conditions to secure the additional planting, the proposal is considered to accord 
with policies DM08 and ST14 of the NDTLP. 
 
5. Highways 
 
5.1. Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, among other things, to ensure that development 
does not adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe 
and well designed.  In addition, DM06 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that appropriate parking 
provision is delivered as part of development. 
 
5.2. The Highways Authority initially objected to this scheme due to the increase in pedestrians 
using the highway (where no footpath exists). The applicants submitted additional information, 
including a management plan indicating this is an adult only site. Subject to a condition limiting any 
children on site, Highways have removed any objections.   
 
5.3. In terms of 'sustainability', the planning officer considers this location to be 'Sustainable' for the 
purposes of tourism. Namely, it is in proximity to a variety of tourism attractions and the Northern 
Devon Coast. Once here, it is unlikely visitors will need to travel far to access many of the Districts 
tourism assets.   
 
5.4. The site has adequate parking and turning.  
 
5.5. Based upon the above points, it is considered the proposal complied with ST10, DM05 and 
DM06 of the NDTLP, along with national policies within the NPPF. 
 
6. Drainage 
 
6.1. Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality improvements, water efficiency measures 
and the use of rainwater'. In addition, policy DM04 notes development should provide effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of 
rainwater.  
 
6.2. The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance provide further advice on foul drainage, with a 
hierarchal approach being used. The PPG notes new development should aim to discharge foul water 
into the public sewer; however, if this is not possible then a package treatment plant may be used. It 
proceeds to note if a package treatment plant is not possible to use, then a septic tank will be 
considered. Justification for the use of alterative drainage systems other than mains drainage is 
required. 
 
6.3. This application proposes to utilise an existing drainage system, which connects into the 
mains sewer. This is acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant regarding drainage.   
 
 

Page 64



7. Heritage 
 
7.1. This application is approximately 100 metres from Oyster Cottage, which is a grade II listed 
building. In addition, the site is approximately 100 metres from the former Northam Chain Home 
Radar Station, which is also grade II listed.  
 
7.2. Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP, and Part 16 of the NPPF requires that great weight is 
given to the conservation of heritage assets, with any harm caused to the heritage asset or its setting 
to be outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. This is reinforced by Sections 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which require the Local Planning 
Authority to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building/s, its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
7.3. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states: When considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective 
of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to 
its significance.  
 
7.4. The Council's Conservation Officer was consulted on this application, and notes that the 
proposal will cause less than substantial harm to the setting of any heritage asset. In the opinion of 
the Planning Officer, this harm is outweighed by the economic benefits of the scheme.  
 
7.5. Devon County Council's Historic Environment Team raise no objections with regards to below 
ground heritage.  
 
8. Conclusion/Recommendation 
 
8.1. The principle of holiday accommodation/an intensification of the existing caravan site is 
acceptable. There would be some minor landscape harm which arises from the scheme, and less 
than substantial harm to the setting of the listed buildings/structures; however, this will be limited and 
would not be sufficient to refuse the application when taking into consideration the economic benefits 
arising from the tourism use. Conditions will be required to limit impacts on neighbouring amenity and 
highways safety. There are no drainage or ecological concerns.  Approval is recommended. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
  
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 

Page 65



            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         The premises/site shall be used for holiday accommodation only and for no other purpose. 
            
           Reason: To ensure that the holiday accommodation is occupied in accordance with the 

justification for the development provided. 
 
 4         No caravans, motorhomes or tents shall remain on site or be brought onto the site between 

the 1st November and 31st March each calendar year.  
            
           Reason: To limit the landscape harm which would arise from the siting of caravans on this site 

overwinter, and limit the site as a touring site. 
 
 5         This development shall be limited to 15 touring pitches only, and not for static caravans. For 

the avoidance of doubt, no more than 15 touring caravans/motor homes shall be present on 
site at any one time. 

            
           Reason: To limit the landscape harm which would arise from the siting of static caravans on 

the touring caravan areas of the site. 
 
 6         Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no 
external lighting shall be installed on the site unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

                                                        
           Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the surrounding area, neighbouring 

amenity, and ecology 
 
 7         Prior to the excavation of any of the 'hard standing pitches', a plan for the protection and 

enhancement of the boundary hedgerows shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details, which shall include the timing of any fence protection and subsequent removal.  

            
           Reason: To protect the hedgerows on this site from damage before and during the course of 

development, and to ensure the management and enhancement thereafter. 
 
 8         The landscaping hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 

details.  The planting shall be completed within the first available planting season once the 
development is brought into use. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of 
any tree, that tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, 
dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as 
that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation.   

            
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details 

and limit neighbouring amenity impacts. 
 
 9         The development hereby permitted shall only be occupied by persons over the age of 25.  
            
           Reason: To limit the use of the surrounding highways network by children 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

Location/Site Plan 09.02.2022 
    

 

Page 66



 
 

Page 67



 
Committee Report 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1351/2021/FUL 

Registration date: 9 December 2021 

Expiry date:  3 February 2022 

Applicant:  Mr. Richard Boughton  

Agent:  AHA Designs 

Case Officer:  Debbie Fuller 

Site Address:  Land at Worden Farm  
Bradworthy  
Devon 

Proposal:  Erection of covered slurry store 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7c



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Mr. Richard Boughton is a District Councillor for Torridge District Council. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0604/2021/FUL Erection of agricultural 
livestock building 

PER 02.09.2021 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
'Worden Farm,' is situated in the open countryside to the west of Bradworthy. The site is adjacent a 
county road. There are other farm holdings in the area, but the area is a sparsely populated area 
between Bradworthy and Meddon. 
 
According to the planning statement, submitted with the planning application, the farm has 122 
hectares of land, of which 51 are owned, with the remainder rented. It is a dairy farm that has 168 
cows and averages 180 youngstock per year. 
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a covered slurry store, with a 
working capacity of 3,200 tonnes. This will provide approximately 6 months storage and replace an 
existing slurry tower on the site, which is no longer fit for purpose. 
 
The proposed building is to be sited to the north of the existing farm sheds, and measures 48.7 
metres in length, 18 metres in width, and 8 metres overall height, (6 metres to the eaves). Due to the 
topography of the land, which slopes downwards to the north, the height above ground at the 
southern end is approximately 5 metres, at the northern end is approximately 8 metres. The floor area 
is 885 square metres. The proposed building will have a fully enclosed concrete panel construction to 
a height of 4.4 metres. The proposed materials are steel frame construction with concrete panel and 
cattle board elevations under a fibre sheet roof. 
 
The surface water runoff will be collected in a crated rainwater soakaway to the north of the building. 
 
The planning statement, states that 'The design and construction of this building has been done in 
line with environment agency advice.' 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bradworthy Parish/Town Council:  
Bradworthy Parish Council has no objection to the proposed development 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections.  
 
Natural England: (received 22nd December 2021) 
 
Thank you for the above consultations received by Natural England on 2nd December 2021. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 

Page 69



 
Insufficient Information Provided 
There is insufficient information to enable Natural England to provide a substantive response to this 
consultation as required under the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Please provide the information listed below and re-consult Natural 
England. Please note that you are required to provide a further 21-day consultation period, once this 
information is received by Natural England, for us to respond. 
 
Natural England is not able to assess this case as there is insufficient information provided in 
relation to air quality impacts. 
 
Manure stores, slurry lagoons and livestock sheds are a major source of emissions of ammonia which 
is directly toxic to vegetation and especially to lower plants (mosses, liverworts and lichens). 
Ammonia is also a major contributor to the deposition of nitrogen, which reduces habitat biodiversity 
by promoting the growth of a relatively small number of the more vigorous plant species which then 
out-compete the other species present. 
 
Our Impact Risk Zones have identified that interest features of the following designated sites: 
 
o Bradworthy Common SSSI 
 
may be sensitive to impacts from aerial pollutants; such as those emitted from this proposed 
development. The consultation documents provided do not include any assessment of air quality 
impacts. 
 
In order for us to advise on this case an initial screening for air quality impacts should be completed. 
Simple screening tools are available via the internet, the relevant regulator or consultants. The results 
of screening should inform the need for any further, more detailed assessment which may be required 
to fully assess the impacts of the proposal. Natural England would be happy to advise on the results 
of the screening opinion and any further steps required. Natural England has not considered any 
other matters at this stage. We will provide advice on all relevant matters upon receipt of this 
information. 
 
Prior to reconsulting, please ensure a suitable air quality screening assessment is provided. If using 
the Simple Calculation of Atmospheric Impact Limits (SCAIL) model please ensure the applicant has 
enclosed the final input file the outputs for the model and the results with the details of the application. 
If the applicant is replacing an old slurry lagoon or housing with a new system, or changing livestock 
type or numbers, this information should be submitted for both the existing and the proposed 
scenario. For guidance on how to do this in the free online SCAIL, please see the attached annex. 
 
Should the applicant wish to explore options for avoiding or mitigating effects on the natural 
environment with Natural England, we recommend that they use our Discretionary Advice Service.  
 
Natural England: (response to re-consultation, dated 17th February 2022) 
 
Thank you for your consultation of 4th February 2022 regarding the above proposal. Based on the 
information provided, Natural England has the following advice. 
 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE - No objection 
Based on the additional information submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development is unlikely to have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection. 
 
Our reasoning is set out below. 
 
Designated sites 
Due to the scale, nature and location of the proposal, Natural England's Impact Risk Zones identified 
several designated sites as being sensitive to impacts from aerial pollutants such as ammonia. The 
closest of these being Bradworthy Common Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) which is a 

Page 70



component site of the Culm Grasslands Special Area of Conservation (SAC), a European site. 
Further information on their special interest can be found at www.magic.gov.uk.  
 
Manure stores, slurry lagoons and livestock sheds are a major source of emissions of ammonia which 
is directly toxic to vegetation and especially to lower plants (mosses, liverworts and lichens). 
Ammonia is also a major contributor to the deposition of nitrogen, which reduces habitat biodiversity 
by promoting the growth of a relatively small number of the more vigorous plant species which then 
out compete the other species present. 
 
Natural England currently uses a Process Contribution (PC) threshold of 4% of the relevant critical 
level or load at the initial screening stage (when using SCAIL) to rule out damage or a likely significant 
effect to designated sites with regards to pig, dairy and poultry units when considering planning due to 
farm size, magnitude of emissions from farms not under environmental permitting and implications for 
clustering and cumulative effect. 
 
European sites - the Culm Grasslands Special Area of Conservation 
The consultation documents provided by your authority do not include information to demonstrate that 
the requirements of Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitats Regulations have been considered by your 
authority i.e. the consultation does not include a Habitats Regulations Assessment. 
 
On the basis of the information provided, in order to assist your authority in screening for the 
likelihood of significant effects, it is Natural England's advice that the proposal is unlikely to have a 
significant effect on any European site and can therefore be screened out from any requirement for 
further assessment. It is recommended that the following information is used to record your 
conclusions regarding the likelihood of significant effects. 
 
The SCAIL-agriculture screening assessment provided is a coarse assessment of the potential air 
quality impacts on designated sites of the proposed covered slurry lagoon. It indicates a process 
contribution of 2% which is below the 4% of the relevant Critical Level/Critical Load threshold for the 
Culm Grasslands SAC and Bradworthy Common SSSI. 
 
This means that that the proposed slurry lagoon is unlikely to release levels of the pollutant ammonia 
to the extent that would cause an exceedance of the ammonia critical level at the SSSI/SAC. Critical 
levels were taken as 1ug/m3 for nature conservation sites where lower plants (mosses and lichens) 
are an important part of the site integrity, as is the case here. 
 
Bradworthy Common Site of Special Scientific Interest 
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and has no objection. 
 
The applicant should ensure that the slurry lagoon is compliant with the silage, slurry and agricultural 
fuel oil (SSAFO) Regulations and which require the land owner to notify the Environment Agency (EA) 
at least 14 days before building new storage.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  2  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations have been received. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 

Page 71



ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 
(Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character) and DM14 (Rural 
Economy). 
 
North Devon and Torridge Supplementary Planning Documents 
Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), adopted 5th October 2020. 
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 
UK Clean Air Strategy, Defra, 2019; 
 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015; 
 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). 
 
Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. Taking into account 
the criteria of Schedule 3 of the Regulations, the LPA is of the opinion that the proposed development 
is not "EIA development" within the meaning of the 2017 Regulations (as amended) and the proposed 
development will not require an Environment Statement. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Character and appearance 
3.         Highways 
4. Residential amenity 
5.         Air quality 
6. Ecology 
7.         Surface Water Drainage and Water Quality 
 
Principle of Development 
Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP), sets out the spatial development 
strategy for northern Devon's rural area, and clarifies that in the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, 
Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local 
economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development, which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location. The proposal must therefore be considered in the context of the NDTLP 
policies, or parts of policies, that relate to the site's countryside location. 
 
The proposed building is to cover a required, new slurry store, for agricultural purposes, and during 
officer site visits it has been observed that the site is in use as an active agricultural holding. 
 
Policy DM14: 'Rural Economy' is supportive of necessary agricultural change. The larger capacity of 
the new store will provide capacity for approximately 6 months of slurry storage. The applicant has 
explained that the increase storage is necessary to bring the farm up to standard specifically 
instructed by the Environment Agency. 
 
The proposed building is a form of development that is necessarily restricted to a countryside location, 
as required by Policy ST07. Consequently, the principle of development is considered acceptable.  
 
 
 

Page 72



2. Character and appearance 
Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP have a strong design focus and establish the need for 
development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting. In addition, Policy 
DM08A requires development to respect landscape character of both designated and undesignated 
landscapes and seascapes. The site is not within a designated landscape area. 
 
The Landscape Character Type for the area is '5A: Inland Elevated Undulating farmland.' 
 
The key characteristics, amongst other characteristics, (and those which are more relevant to this 
application), are 'Elevated land cut by a series of tributaries forming folds in the landform; Tributary 
valleys lined by broadleaved and wet woodland providing contrasting shelter and texture; Fields 
enclosed by mixed species hedges; Strong farmed character with pasture fields grazed by cattle and 
sheep, occasional fields of arable cultivation and rough grazing of rushy meadows along valleys; 
Farms dispersed throughout the landscape often on exposed ridges, sheltered by groups of trees of 
evergreen shelterbelts; Straight roads traversing ridges and dipping down into valleys, crossing 
streams on sandstone bridges; Overall high levels of tranquillity with dark night skies; Important sites 
of Culm grassland, species-rich fen and rush pasture, valley mire, unimproved grasslands and scrub 
in valley bottoms and areas of impeded drainage. 
 
The special qualities, amongst other aspects, are:- 
o Long views from elevated ridgelines. 
o Patchwork of fields and hedges. 
o Working, rural landscape. 
o Valued Culm grassland and wetland habitats providing texture to the landscape. 
o Quiet, relaxed and tranquil. 
 
The 'Forces for Change' include:-  
o Post-war Intensification of agriculture spurred on by CAP-related subsidies in the 1970s, leading to 
field enlargement, the conversion of pasture to arable and hedgerow removal / damage; 
o Intensification of agriculture and demand for productive farmland leading to the drainage of 
wetlands and Culm grasslands - leaving behind a fragmented habitat resource; 
o Remaining areas of 'marginal' unimproved grasslands and Culm frequently left undergrazed, 
leading to scrub/tree succession; 
o Agricultural intensification and a decline in the agricultural economy leading to an amalgamation of 
smaller farms into larger, industrial-scale units; 
o Increase in visitor, farm and industrial traffic on the rural road network.  
 
The proposed building is sited approximately 5-10 metres from the existing farm, and encroaches into 
an open field to the north. It is also a height of 8 metres at the furthest end (north), and has quite a 
large footprint. However, this type of building is not incompatible with the landscape, in that there are 
other similar sized farms, with intensive livestock buildings/slurry stores, on the opposite side of the 
valley (north west and north). 
 
The proposed building also follows the topography of the land, with part, (almost half of the slurry 
store), underground. The proposed has been sited at the point where the land drops. The valley, 
drops down to the north, and runs east/west, (east towards 'Bradworthy'), and there are few distant 
views from outside of this valley. It is possible to see Bradworthy Church from the application site, in 
the far distance, but as the land rises slightly on the east of the proposed building, part of the building 
will be screened. From distant views within the valley, the proposed building would be seen in relation 
to the existing agricultural buildings on the site. 
 
The proposed materials, (concrete panels and fibre cement roof), are also shown as green/grey in 
colour on the plans, which will help blend with the existing landscape. 
 
Taking into consideration the nature of the proposed development, and its siting, within the context, 
the proposed development is not considered to result in an adverse impact on the character of the 
surrounding landscape. The proposal is considered acceptable in the context of ST04, DM04 and 
DM08A. 

Page 73



 
3. Highways 
Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, inter alia, to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe and well 
designed. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be refused if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or if the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe. Paragraph 110 states, inter alia, that any significant impacts from the 
development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, 
should be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 
 
Access to the farm field is off a private drive from the public highway, and no changes are proposed.  
 
The proposal would not affect the likely vehicle movements to and from the site. 
 
Taking account of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with policies ST10, DM05 of the 
Local Plan, and the NPPF. 
 
4. Residential Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 
significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, or result in harm to the future 
occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses. Policy DM04: 'Design principles' has a 
principle regarding amenity.  
 
The proposed building is to be sited approximately 150 metres from the curtilage of the nearest thrid 
party dwelling, and it is considered that it will not significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers. It is noted that no objections have been received. 
 
Therefore the development accords with Policies DM01, DM04 and DM02 of the NDTLP, which seek 
to maintain amenity to the locality, with special regard to neighbours and future occupiers.  
 
The Council's Environmental Protection Officer has advised that he has no objections, as has the 
Parish Council. 
 
Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal accords with Policies DM01 and DM04. 
 
5. Air quality 
The NDTLP recognises the importance of air quality to public health and wellbeing. It is important for 
the planning system to help improve air quality and minimise the exposure to poor air quality. The 
relevant policy is Policy DM02 'Environmental Protection,' of the Local Plan. 
 
Paragraph 13.11 of the Local Plan notes that proposals should not result in the deterioration of air 
quality to below national standards, and air quality statements will be required to be submitted with 
planning applications in such circumstances.  
 
The UK Clean Air Strategy, Defra, 2019, states, 'The agriculture sector is the main source of 
ammonia, accounting for 88% of UK emissions in 2016. Ammonia reacts with nitrogen oxides and 
sulphur dioxide to form secondary particulate matter which significantly impacts on human health. 
Ammonia also damages sensitive habitats.' 
 
Policy ST02: 'Mitigating Climate Change,' of the Local Plan,' states 'Development will be expected to 
make a positive contribution towards the social, economic and environmental sustainability of 
northern Devon and its communities while minimising its environmental footprint by: (b) conserving 
and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment through the prudent use of key resources 
including land, buildings and energy, whilst protecting and enhancing the area's biodiversity, 
geodiversity, landscape, coastline, air, water, archaeology and culture.' 
 

Page 74



Policy ST03: 'Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience,' criteria (h) states 'ensuring 
risks from potential climate change hazards, including pollutants (of air and land) are minimised to 
protect and promote healthy and safe environments.' 
 
The ‘Air Quality SPD’ was adopted by North Devon Council and Torridge District Council on the 5th 
October 2020. The SPD considers the potential for new developments to affect air quality adversely, 
which types and scales of planning applications require an air quality impact assessment, and if so 
what an air quality impact assessment should include. Chapter 7 'Agricultural Development,' of the 
SPD states that depending on the scale and proximity to either a European Protected Site or a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest, a planning application may need to be accompanied by an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment. 
 
In this instance, the proposal is one of the types set out in Paragraph 7.4 of the SPD, with potential 
adverse impacts on air quality, and due to the scale and proximity to a designated site, (a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest), triggers the need for an Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) with a 
Simple Calculation of Atmospheric Impact Limits (SCAIL) assessment. 
 
Natural England were consulted on receipt of the planning application, and identified that there was 
insufficient information provided in relation to air quality impacts, and that 'Bradworthy Common 
SSSI,' may be sensitive to impacts from aerial pollutants; such as those emitted from this proposed 
development. For detail see their consultation response above. 
 
A SCAIL Assessment for the development on land at Higher Worden Farm, was submitted, and 
Natural England responded stating, 'Based on the additional information submitted, Natural England 
considers that the proposed development is unlikely to have significant adverse impacts on 
designated sites and has no objection.' 
 
On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an adverse impact to air quality, in 
accordance with the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan, and SPD.  
 
6. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP. In addition, Policy ST14 seeks to deliver biodiversity 
enhancement through development. 
 
A Wildlife Trigger List has been submitted as part of the application, which explains why there is not a 
need for an ecological survey, and this is considered to meet the local planning authority's statutory 
duty set out above. 
 
In respect of enhancement, the covering of the slurry store will improve environmental performance at 
the site, and would likely improve water quality through reducing runoff from the slurry store. This is 
considered to represent biodiversity enhancement through improvements to aquatic habitat. 
 
The proposal is considered to accord with policies DM08, ST14 of the Local Plan, and the other 
legislation referred to above. 
 
7. Surface Water Drainage and Water Quality 
The site is not within an Environment Agency flood risk zone and/or Critical Drainage Area.  
 
Policy ST03: 'Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience,' of the NDTLP states:- 
'Development should be designed and constructed to take account of the impacts of climate change 
and minimise the risk to and vulnerability of people, land, infrastructure and property by: (f) adopting 
effective water management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water quality improvements, 
water efficiency measures and the use of rainwater..(h) ensuring risks from potential climate change 

Page 75



hazards, including pollutants (of air and land) are minimised to protect and promote healthy and safe 
environments.' 
 
Policy DM04 establishes that effective water management must be addressed by development.  
 
Policy DM02 of the NDTLP establishes, inter alia, that development will be supported where it does 
not result in unacceptable impacts such as pollution of surface or ground water (fresh and salt) 
including rivers, canals, other watercourses, water bodies, wetlands, water gathering grounds 
including catchment areas, aquifers, groundwater protection areas, harbours, estuaries, or the sea. 
 
A soakaway will manage surface water. The site is of sufficient size to accommodate a drainage field.   
 
The covering of the slurry will likely improve water quality by reducing run off from the currently 
uncovered slurry store. 
 
The proposal is considered to accord with policies ST03, DM02 and DM04. 
 
Conclusion 
It is concluded that the proposed works are acceptable because the proposed building and materials 
are appropriate to the countryside location, and will not detract from the character and appearance of 
the area. The development would not be harmful to residential amenity. There is no harm on 
protected species and/or habitat, including designated sites, and/or drainage concerns, and therefore 
accords with Policies ST07, ST04, DM04, DM08A, ST10, DM05, DM01, DM02, ST02, ST03, ST14 
and DM08 of the Local Plan, the NPPF and the NPPG. 
 
For the reasons given the recommendation for this application is for it to be approved, with the 
conditions below. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

Page 76



SWS-RB-01  09.12.2021 
   

SWS-RB-03 (Proposed Floor Plan)  30.11.2021 
   

SWS-RB-03 (Block Plan) 30.11.2021 
   

SWS-RB-04  30.11.2021 
   

SWS-RB-05  09.12.2021 
  

 

Informative 

 
01. The applicant should ensure that the slurry lagoon is compliant with the silage, slurry and 

agricultural fuel oil (SSAFO) Regulations and which require the land owner to notify the 
Environment Agency (EA) at least 14 days before building new storage. 

 

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was a need for further engagement to request information on air 
quality, which the planning agent/applicant subsequently submitted. In such ways the Council has 
demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to 
the planning application. 
 

Page 77



 
Committee Report – 14 April 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0081/2022/FUL 

Registration date: 27 January 2022 

Expiry date:  24 March 2022 

Applicant:  Mr And Mrs Mark And Lorraine Brumham  

Agent:  Metters & Wellby 

Case Officer:  James Jackson 

Site Address:  Land At Great Philham Farm,  
Hartland,  
Devon, 

Proposal:  Removal of abandoned, partially constructed 
building and replace with no.1 residential 
dwelling 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 7d



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Councillor Dart has called the application to Plans Committee if the officer is minded to recommend 
that the application be refused, for the following reasons: 
 

1. This site is in desperate need of attention as what is existing, is an eyesore. 
 

2. We currently have a shortage of housing stock, no 5 year housing land supply and this site is 
already half developed, (owing to the fact that historically there was a permission granted ) 
albeit that it has now lapsed. 

 

Relevant History: 

 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   
1/0150/1993 Agricultural dwelling (outline) PER 22.03.1993 
    

1/0706/1993 Erection of an agricultural 
dwelling (reserved matters) 

PER 20.07.1993 

   
1/2312/2002 Retention of partly constructed 

agricultural dwelling 
REF 24.02.2004 

   
1/0261/2014/FUL Completion of partially built 

dwelling for use as Holiday let 
(amended description) 

REF 09.05.2014 

     
1/1213/2021/FUL Erection of dwelling in place of 

partially constructed building, 
and associated works 

WDN 21.12.2021 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
 
The application relates to a parcel of land within the countryside, to the south of the collection of 
agricultural buildings and dwellings which together form the hamlet of Philham.   
 
The site is accessed across a wide grassed verge that separates the site from the public highway to 
the north.  It slopes gently downwards towards its southern edge, before the land drops away more 
steeply beyond the site into the valley to the south.  The four site boundaries are formed from 
hedgebanks and mature trees.   
 
An existing structure is located on the site, which it is understood relates to a previously lapsed 
planning permission.  The structure comprises the floor slab and blockwork walls built to first floor 
level.  There is also some evidence on site of services that have previously been installed. 
 
The site is located approximately 1.5kms to the south of Hartland. 
 
Proposed Development  
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of one dwelling. 
 

Page 79



The existing structure on the site would be removed.  In its place would be constructed a two storey 
dwelling with walls constructed from natural stone with decorative quoins, beneath a roof covering of 
natural slate.  Fenestration would be formed from light oak coloured UPVC.   
 
The dwelling would accommodate three bedrooms, all with en suite facilities; kitchen / diner; studio; 
utility room; living room; office and dressing room.   
 
A parking and turning area would be provided within the northern part of the site and a driveway 
would be constructed to provide access between the site and the public highway to the north. 
 
Foul drainage is proposed to be managed by a package treatment plant, with surface water to be 
drained to a soakaway. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Hartland Parish/Town Council:  
 
Hartland Parish Council has reviewed planning application 1/0081/2022/FUL. Concerns were raised 
with regards to the building, which far exceeds the original footprint.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Residential Amenity 
The application site is located opposite a farmstead containing agricultural buildings such that there is 
the potential for an adverse amenity impact on the residential amenity of the proposed dwelling. 
However, having regard for the separation distance and screening between the application site and 
farmstead, in particular the large agricultural buildings, any potential adverse impact is negated. 
 
Due to the existence of neighbouring dwellings in close proximity, there is the potential for detriment 
to residential amenity from the construction works associated with the proposed development if 
control measures are not in place. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection 
Team recommends a condition restricting construction works and delivery times to 0700 to 1900 
hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works permitted on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays in order to protect residential amenity. 
 
Land Quality 
There appears to be no detailed information provided on the historic use and subsequent land quality 
of the application site. Agricultural use and activity can result in ground contamination and ground 
conditions that are potentially harmful to human health or unsuitable for occupation without 
remediation. Given the sensitive end use, it is essential that the application site is appropriately 
assessed for any potential contamination that may impact future occupants and, where identified, 
remediated accordingly. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends the imposition of the Authority's full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
Foul Drainage 
It is noted that the proposed dwelling is to be served by a new treatment plant discharging to a 
drainage field. The percolation test results provided show a significant variation in one of the test 
holes and subsequently, percolation testing should be retaken as per guidance.  
 
AONB Team:  
No response. 
 

Representations: 

Page 80



 
Number of neighbours consulted:  2  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  1 Number of neutral representations: 1 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
One neutral representation has been received, which does not object to the proposed dwelling but 
raises concerns in relation to the impact of the proposal on the water supply within the hamlet. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031: 
 
ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST07 (Spatial 
Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST21 (Managing the Delivery of Housing); 
ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 (Design Principles); DM08A (Landscape and 
Seascape Character); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); ST14 
(Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST10 (Transport Strategy); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking 
Provision); DM02 (Environmental Protection);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations with this application are: 

- Principle of Development 

- Character and Appearance  

- Residential Amenity 

- Biodiversity 

- Highways 

- Foul and Surface Water Drainage 

- Tilted Balance and Conclusion 

 

1. Principle of Development  

 

Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 

Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 

must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 

consideration in planning decisions. 

The site is located within the countryside in planning terms, by reason that it is located outside of any 

defined development boundary and is not located within a Rural Settlement.  Policy ST07 of the 

NDTLP sets out the spatial development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area, and clarifies that in 

the countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to 

that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development 

which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location. Similarly, the site is not located one of the 

defined settlements listed at Policy ST06 of the NDTLP.  It is clear that open market residential 

development would not meet these policy requirements and that the principle of residential 

development in this location is not supported by the NDTLP.   

Page 81



 

It is noted that a partially constructed dwelling is present on the site, which relates to an agriculturally 

tied dwelling that was previously permitted under outline permission 1/0150/1993 and reserved 

matters approval 1/0706/1993.  It is understood that the development was commenced after the 

permission had lapsed.  As such, the previous permission and partially constructed dwelling do not 

establish the principle of residential use at the site.  Section 171B(1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 states the following in relation to time limits for enforcement of breaches of 

planning control: 

Where there has been a breach of planning control consisting in the carrying out without planning 

permission of building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under land, no 

enforcement action may be taken after the end of the period of four years beginning with the date on 

which the operations were substantially completed. 

It is clear that the building operations comprising the construction of the dwelling have not been 

substantially completed.  Consequently, the works undertaken on site remain unlawful. 

Notwithstanding the above policy conflict, as a result of the Burwood Appeal 

(APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 

years across Northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS, there is a need to 

apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), 

NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 

Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 

Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 

permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear 

reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 

For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 

automatically out of date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 

development plan is out of date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 

considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 

the policies are generally considered to be out of date for the application of the Presumption. 

The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF.  It is noted that the site is 

located with the AONB (a protected area), however for the reasons set out later in this report this 

alone does not provide a clear reason for refusing the application.   Consequently, as this proposal 

does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker in this case only needs to consider the NPPF's 

requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits; the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF). 

In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy ST21 of the NDTLP which 

relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, ST21(2) is relevant, which supports 

development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual 

Page 82



requirement). The Burwood Appeal decision determined that ST21(2) is currently engaged, which 

requires any proposal to be in a location, of a scale, and nature commensurate with the deficit in 

required housing (criterion a), demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing 

the deficit in housing supply (criterion b), be broadly consistent with the plan’s spatial strategy/vision 

along with the relevant settlement vision and development strategy (criterion c), and be compliant with 

the remaining plan where relevant (criterion d). Dealing with each of these points in turn:  

(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 

be proven. The proposal for 1 dwelling is modest in scale, however, combined with other 

development, can assist in the contribution towards a 5YHLS. The proposal is considered to 

accord with (a).  

  

(b) The application is a full application, with all details provided.  Any pre-commencement 

conditions would need to be discharged, prior to commencement on site.  Once on site, the 

development could be built out relatively quickly, given the modest scale of the development 

proposed.  The proposal is considered to accord with (b). 

 

(c) As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside.  The provision of open market 

residential development in this location would be contrary to the aims of the NDTLP’s spatial 

development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area, which seeks to guide such development 

towards established settlements with development boundaries that can offer some or all of the 

services and facilities required to support a residential use.  This principle is established by 

Policies ST06 and ST07 which adopt a hierarchical approach in recognition of the scale of 

each settlement and the availability of the facilities and services that are available therein, 

noting that Local Centres will be the primary focus for development within the rural area, with 

villages also identified to accommodate more modest levels of open market residential 

development in accordance with local spatial strategies.   

 
It is noted that the site is located approximately 1.5kms to the south of Hartland, which is 

designated as a Local Centre by Policy ST07 of the NDTLP and contains some of the facilities 

and services necessary to support a residential use.  However, the route between the site and 

Hartland is characterised by narrow rural roads without street lighting or footpaths and with 

only limited passing places.  There is no bus service that passes the site.  Consequently, it is 

likely that all journeys to access recreation facilities, schools, employment opportunities, health 

facilities, retail opportunities, social visits, etc. would all need to be made by private motor 

vehicles, with the result that the site is considered to be an unsustainable location.   

 

For the reasons set out above, it is considered that the proposal would be prejudicial to the 

plan’s overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon.  The proposal would be contrary 

to a key aim of the NDTLP; this being to guide residential development towards sustainable 

locations.  This would also be contrary to the aims of the NPPF. 

 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to criterion (c). 

(d) The following sections of this report assess the proposal in the context of the other relevant 

NDTLP policies.   

 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policies ST07 and part  

(c) of ST21.  The following sections of this report provide an assessment of the other material 

considerations pursuant to the application, followed by the planning balance to weigh the factors in 

support of and against the granting of planning permission, which will enable a conclusion to be made 

Page 83



in relation to The Presumption and the tilted balance, in accordance with paragraph 11(d) of the 

NPPF. 

2. Character and Appearance  

 

Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP both have a strong design focus and establish the need for 

development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting.  

In this instance the site is located within the designated AONB.  It is noted that no comments have 

been received from the AONB Team.  Policy DM08A requires development to respect landscape 

character of both designated and undesignated landscapes and seascapes, whilst Policy ST14 seeks 

to protect the special character and qualities of the designated AONB. 

Whilst it is accepted that the existing works that have been undertaken on the site detract from the 

character and appearance of the site and immediate locality, it is your officer’s view that their removal 

should be given no weight in the consideration of the proposed dwelling.  This is because, as set out 

earlier, the building operations have not been substantially completed and therefore remain unlawful.   

A residential development of the two storey dwelling proposed would result in a change to the 

character and appearance of the site.  The site does not relate well to the existing built form that 

forms the hamlet, which is predominantly contained to the northern side of Philham Lane.  The 

submitted Design and Access Statement identifies four viewpoints to the south of the site, across the 

valley, from which the site would be visible.  It is clear that from these viewpoints the site would be 

seen at a distance and as part of a grouping of other built form that comprises the hamlet.  

Nonetheless, when viewed from within closer proximity, Philham Lane provides a clear demarcation 

between the built form to the north and the undeveloped valley to the south.  In this context, it is your 

officer’s view that the dwelling proposed would appear as an incongruous addition within the 

streetscene and would be harmful to the bucolic character and appearance of the open countryside 

and special qualities of the AONB to the south of Philham Lane. 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal conflicts with policies ST04, DM04, 

DM08A and ST14. 

3. Residential Amenity 

 

Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 

significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, or result in harm to the future 

occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses.  Part (i) of Policy DM04 also includes a 

similar policy direction.  

No surrounding dwellings would be overlooked by the proposed development and no other harm 

would result. It is noted that no objections have been received.   

One neutral representation has been received that raises concerns in relation to the water supply 

within the hamlet.  Whilst it is agreed that an adverse impact on water supply is a material 

consideration, no evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the existing situation would be 

made worse by the proposal.   

The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has suggested conditions in relation to working hours 

and contamination, which would assist in mitigating adverse impacts. 

The proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM01. 

4. Biodiversity 

Page 84



 

Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 

is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is also 

supported by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP.  Policy ST14 of the NDTLP seeks to deliver biodiversity net 

gain where possible. 

The application is accompanied by a Bat & Nesting Bird Survey dated October 2021 prepared by 

Penpont Ecology Services Ltd.  The survey did not find any evidence of bats and one bird’s nest was 

identified.  Notwithstanding, the report advises that as a precautionary measure the blockwork 

structure should be dismantled carefully by hand.  If bats are found, works should cease and advise 

sought from an experienced Ecologist.  In addition, to protect nesting birds the structure should be 

removed from the site outside of the bird nesting season. 

In relation to enhancement, the report advises that at least one bird nest box should be installed on 

the site. 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the biodiversity value of the site should not act as a 

barrier to the proposed residential use.  The proposal accords with policies DM08 and ST14. 

5. Highways 

 

Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, inter alia, to ensure that development does not 

adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe and well 

designed.  In addition, DM06 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that appropriate parking provision is 

delivered as part of development.  ST10 and DM06 also seek to encourage the use of sustainable 

modes of transport and reduce reliance on the use of private motor vehicles. 

The highways authority has been consulted and has referred to standing advice.   

Appropriate parking and turning facilities are provided on site and visibility at the junction of the site 

with the public highway is good. 

As discussed above, the site is in a location remote from the services and facilities needed to support 

a residential use and is not served by any public transport options.  Consequently, almost all journeys 

to and from the site will likely be made using private motor vehicles.  This would be contrary to 

policies ST10 and DM06 of the NDTLP which aim to reduce the use of private motor vehicles.  

Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal accords with policy DM05; however, 

there is conflict with policies ST10 and DM06. 

6. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 

 

Policy DM02 of the NDTLP requires that development must not result in unacceptable impacts in 

relation to the pollution of surface or ground water, whilst Policy DM04 establishes that water 

management must be addressed by development.   

It is proposed that foul water would be discharged to a package treatment plant and drainage field.  

The Environmental Protection Officer has commented that the percolation test results provided show 

a significant variation in one of the test holes and subsequently, percolation testing should be retaken 

as per guidance.  Consequently, at this stage there is no indication that satisfactory foul drainage can 

be provided. 

Page 85



Surface water would be discharged to a soakaway, which is acceptable in principle. 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal conflicts with Policy DM02. 

7. Tilted Balance and Conclusion 

 

As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside, outside of any defined development 

boundary.  The principle of residential development in this location is not supported by the NDTLP.  

However, as discussed earlier it is necessary to undertake a ‘tilted balance’ assessment as the Local 

Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 5YHLS. 

The development plan policies referred to above are in broad conformity with the NPPF and therefore 

are not considered to be out of date. In particular, the overarching policy direction of the NDTLP to 

guide open market residential development towards settlements that offer a broad range of the 

services and facilities required to support a residential use is also evident in the NPPF and is a key 

strand of environmental sustainability. 

In terms of the matters that weigh in favour of the proposal; the single dwelling proposed would make 

a contribution, albeit modest, to the housing stock within the district at a time that the Local Planning 

Authority cannot demonstrate a 5YHLS.  The provision of only a single dwelling can only be afforded 

modest weight in relation to its contribution to the housing stock with the district.  There would also be 

a modest benefit to a small scale developer and other tradespersons resulting from the construction 

period, as well as a further modest benefit from the payment of council tax.  Biodiversity net gain at 

the site would also be a modest benefit.   

As discussed earlier, it is your officer’s view that the removal of the existing works should not be given 

any weight in the committee’s consideration of the proposed dwelling.  This is because the works 

undertaken are not substantially complete, and therefore remain unlawful.  

Weighing against the application, the proposed development would be located in the countryside, 

remote from the services and facilities such as schools; health facilities; employment and retail 

opportunities; and leisure facilities that are necessary to support a residential use.  Given the 

unsuitability of the local road network for pedestrians and lack of public transport options available, 

almost all journeys to and from the site will likely be made using private motor vehicles.  In addition, 

the proposed dwelling would appear as an incongruous addition when seen at close proximity and 

would be harmful to the character and appearance of the AONB to the south of Philham Lane.  

In respect of the overall balancing exercise, whilst the positive aspects of the proposal are noted, it is 

considered that the site’s location remote from facilities and services, and the consequent need to 

access such facilities and services by private motor vehicle, is prejudicial to one of the central aims of 

the NDTLP; to guide open market residential development towards sustainable locations that offer a 

range of services and facilities to meet the needs of the future occupiers of the development.  As a 

consequence, the proposal is also considered to conflict with environmental sustainability aims, which 

are also a key pillar of the NPPF.  Added to this is the resultant harm to the character and appearance 

of the area.  In addition, it has not been demonstrated that the dwelling could be appropriately served 

by foul drainage provision. On this basis, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting 

planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

8. Recommendation 

 

Taking account of all of the above, it is recommended that planning permission be refused.  

Human rights 

Page 86



 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
1 The proposed dwelling, by reason of its location in the countryside remote from the day to day 

services and facilities needed to support an open market residential use and lack of access to 
sustainable transport options, would likely result in the reliance on private motor vehicles to 
access essential services and facilities.  This would prejudice the spatial development strategy 
for northern Devon's rural area and would be contrary to the aim of reducing unsustainable 
travel behaviour and private motor vehicle use. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies 
ST07, ST21(c), ST10 and DM06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 and 
the guidance set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its siting to the south of Philham Lane, physically divorced 
from the majority of built form that comprises the hamlet of Philham, would relate poorly to the 
existing built form and would appear as an incongruous addition within the streetscene and 
would detract from the undeveloped character and appearance of the designated AONB to the 
south of Philham Lane.  The proposal is therefore contrary to policies ST04, DM04, DM08A 
and ST14 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 and the guidance set out 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3 The application fails to demonstrate that acceptable foul drainage provision can be provided to 

serve the dwelling proposed.  As such the proposal is contrary to Policy DM02 of the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031.  

 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

2021-34.P1  24.01.2022 
   

2021-34.P2  24.01.2022 
   

2021-34.P3  24.01.2022 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraph  38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
In this instance the applicant did not enter into pre-application discussions with the Council.  
       

 
 
 

Page 87



 
Committee Report – 14th April 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1340/2021/FUL 

Registration date: 25 November 2021 

Expiry date:  20 January 2022 

Applicant:  Mr T Denby  

Agent:  RGP Architects Ltd 

Case Officer:  Ryan Steppel 

Site Address:  17 Barton Tors,  
East The Water,  
Devon, 
, 
,   
 

Proposal:  Erection of 2 flats (Amended Plans) 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 7e



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Cllr Gubb and Cllr McKenzie has called the application to Plans Committee. The reasons for the call 
in are: 
 
- The development has not been planned well/Overdevelopment 
- making house 18 (a semi) into a terraced house 
- loss of light  
- The flats are far too big and are not in keeping with the rest of the surrounding area 
- overbearing and negative impact on the character and appearance of the area 
- Drainage  
- Vehicle egress, highway safety and traffic  
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0544/2007/FUL Conversion of existing 
dwelling into two units of 
accommodation 

PER 24.08.2007 

      

1/0113/2008/FUL Conversion of existing 
dwelling into two units of 
accommodation 

REF 19.03.2008 

     

1/0053/2010/FUL Erection of a 2 bed dwelling REF 11.03.2010 
     

1/0240/2013/FUL Erection of a dwelling REF 10.06.2013 
   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description:  
 
The application site is located towards the southern part of East-The-Water. Barton Tors is a through 
road serving residential dwellings between Gammaton Road (to the west) and Sentry Corner (to the 
north).  Barton Tors comprises of terraced dwellings and semi-detached dwellings. The dwellings 
within Barton Tors are generally rendered and are of traditional design.  
 
Proposal: 
 
This application seeks planning permission for the erection two flats. The proposed footprint is 8m x 
10.5m with a height of approximately 8m.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Parish/Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is refused and that the resolution from the last time this application 
came before this Council for consultation, is reiterated. Members could not see that the amendments 
had mitigated their concerns.  
 
' Overdevelopment of this site  
' Overburdening already existing drainage issues  
' Overburdening an already busy road network 
RESOLVED: That the application is refused on the following grounds: 
 
' Overdevelopment of this site 
' Overburdening already existing drainage issues 
' Overburdening an already busy road network 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Observations: 
 
Barton Tors is subject to a 20 mph speed limit and has accompanying traffic calming in the form of 
speed cushions and ramps. As a result, observed vehicle speeds were generally compliant with the 
posted limit. 
I note that the intention is to create four new parking spaces as part of the proposed development, 
three of these are for the two proposed flats. The eastern of the parking spaces will effectively utilise 
the existing vehicular access at this location albeit having to widen this to create sufficient room for 
three vehicles. The new western parking space will be an extension of the existing two spaces. These 
new spaces are consistent with other private drives in the area with footway that runs adjacent to the 
site boundary providing reasonable visibility. I can 
confirm that I have also consulted the Collision Database and there are no dwelling access related 
crashes recorded in the past five years in the vicinity. 
 
As a result, I do not believe that I could demonstrate a satisfactory evidence base to raise objections 
against this application on safety grounds. In which case, I acknowledge that the proposed 
development offers 'safe and suitable' access, as is the test of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
With regards to parking and whether this is a suitable level for the two flats, I have to consider the 
sustainability of the site. For example, the site is within walking distance of a school, employment 
opportunities, a shop, public transport etc. I also acknowledge the DM06 policy in the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan and the criteria within this. As a result, I can confirm that I am satisfied that 
this level is acceptable. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITION SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
 
1. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on to 
any County Highway 
 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



South West Water:  
 
Asset Protection 
 
Please find enclosed a plan showing the approximate location of a public sewer in the vicinity. Please 
note that no development will be permitted within 3 metres of the sewer, and ground cover should not 
be substantially altered. 
 
Should the development encroach on the 3 metre easement, the sewer will need to be diverted at the 
expense of the 
applicant. 
 
Please click here to view the table of distances of buildings/structures from a public sewer. 
 
Further information regarding the options to divert a public sewer can be found on our website via the 
link below: 
www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/sewer-services-and-connections/diversion-of-public-
sewers/ 
 
Clean Potable Water 
 
South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public water main 
for the above proposal. The practical point of connection will be determined by the diameter of the 
connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company's existing network. 
 
Foul Sewerage Services 
 
South West Water is able to provide foul sewerage services from the existing public foul or combined 
sewer in the vicinity of the site. The practical point of connection will be determined by the diameter of 
the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company's existing network. 
 
The applicant can apply to South West Water for clarification of the point of connection for either 
clean potable water services and/or foul sewerage services. For more information and to download 
the application form, please visit our website: 
www.southwestwater.co.uk/developers 
 
Surface Water Services 
 
The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will discharge as 
high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with evidence that the Run-off 
Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to why any preferred disposal route is 
not reasonably practicable): 
 
1. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 
 
2. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, 
 
3. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where not 
reasonably practicable, 
 
4. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity evaluation) 
 
Having reviewed the applicant's current information as to proposed surface water disposal for its 
development, please note that method proposed to discharge into the ground (infiltration) is 
acceptable and meets with the Run-off Destination Hierarchy. 
 

Page 91



I trust this provides confirmation of our requirements, however should you have any questions or 
queries, please contact the Planning Team on 01392 442836 or via email: 
DeveloperServicesPlanning@southwestwater.co.uk.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle. 
 
Due to the existence of neighbouring dwellings in close proximity, there is the potential for detriment 
to residential amenity from the construction works associated with the proposed development if 
control measures are not in place. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection 
Team recommends a condition restricting construction works and delivery times to 0700 to 1900 
hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works permitted on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays in order to protect residential amenity.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  17  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  5 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  5  

 
The Council have received five objections raising the following matters:  
 
- Overdevelopment/cramped form of development 
- Out of character/design 
- Impact on privacy/loss of light  
- Drainage 
- Parking/Highway Safety 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); BID (Bideford 
Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); ST10 (Transport Strategy); DM05 (Highways); 
DM06 (Parking Provision); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST14 
(Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Planning Considerations 

 
Main Considerations 
 
Principle of Development 
Character and Appearance  
Impact on Amenity 
Highways, Access and Parking 
Drainage Provision 
Ecology 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 
 
Policies ST06 and ST07 provide a settlement hierarchy for Northern Devon's urban and rural area to 
direct where development should be distributed, by specifying areas falling as Strategic Centres, Main 
Centres, Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements. By virtue of the planning application being 
located within Bideford, consideration is to be had to Policy ST06 of the NDTLP. 
 
Policy ST06 states that the main centres will support appropriate levels of growth that will increase the 
towns' capacities to increase self-containment, to meet their own needs and those of surrounding 
communities where such is sought through the local vision. Policy ST06 is clear that development will 
be supported within the development boundaries of the Main Centres. 
Policy BID identifies that Bideford will continue to be a focus for growth in northern Devon and that the 
town will continue to provide a choice of well-designed housing. 
 
Given the above, it is clear that the principle of development is acceptable in this location given the 
sites' positions within the development boundary of Bideford. Notwithstanding the above acceptance 
of the principle of development, it should be noted that a recent appeal decision for a residential 
development in Torrington concluded that the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites and that paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF is engaged. 
 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF indicates that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
should apply and that permission should generally be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF as a whole. In this instance, there is no clear reason to refuse based on a protected area or 
asset and therefore an assessment of the NPPF's requirement to approve unless the adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits, through the application of a 
'tilted balance' would need to be undertaken. This would include an assessment of the policies within 
both the NPPF and the NDTLP. 
 
Paragraph 103 of the NPPF makes clear that significant development should be focussed on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a 
genuine choice of transport modes. It further notes that opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas and that this should be taken into account 
in decision taking. This is further reinforced through Policy DM05 of the NDTLP. The site would have 
access to public transport services and local services and is considered to be a sustainable location 
as recognised by Bideford's status as a Main Centre. 
 
Against this background, and notwithstanding the support for the principle of residential in this location 
within the development boundary of Bideford, due to the lack of a 5YHLS, the planning considerations 

Page 93



will need to be weighed up within the planning balance with the NPPF's requirement to grant 
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits as a material consideration. 
 
The material planning considerations are set out below. 
 
Character and Appearance 
 
Policy ST04 supports development proposal that achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable 
design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places.  Design will be based on a clear process 
that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding 
area taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy DM04. 
 
Particular attention should be given to Policy DM04 of the NDTLP which states that development 
proposals should adhere to the standards of good design. The policy states that good design seeks to 
guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials, access and appearance of 
any new developments. The policy provides fourteen design principles that developments should 
have regard to. 
 
In terms of national planning policy, paragraph 134 of the NPPF makes it clear that development that 
is not well designed should be refused. 
 
The Council have received objection comments noting an adverse character impact and the cramped 
nature of the plot. The application site comprises of a corner plot adjacent to 17 Barton Tors.17 
Barton Tors is a semi-detached dwelling which is currently used as two flats. The existing condition of 
the application site is noted. 
 
Barton Tors is generally host to larger dwellings, both semi-detached or terraced properties. There is 
however little consistency in terms of form, massing, eaves heights and appearance of dwellings. The 
overall design quality is relatively low with no uniformed approach that might require protection 
against incongruously designed schemes. The Council must however accept that design can often be 
subjective to the beholder. 
 
In reference to policies ST04 and DM04, the Council must therefore determine whether the proposed 
design is incongruous, poorly designed and/or has a justifiable adverse impact when compared with 
the site's surroundings. During the application the Council sought amended drawings which improved 
the form and configuration of the roof, and the Council considers the changes to have improved the 
appearance of the proposal. Whilst the comments provided by the objection comments are noted, the 
Council considers the proposal to comply with Policies ST04, DM04 and Chapter 12 of the NPPF.  
 
Impact on Amenity 
 
NDTLP Policy DM01 states that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm 
the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses, and the intended occupants of the proposed 
development would not be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses.  
  
The Council have received objections in relation to the proposal having an adverse impact on 
residential amenity. The objections note that the proposal would be overbearing, overlook private 
gardens and would impact access to sunlight, primarily with reference to the amenity of 18 Barton 
Tors. The Council therefore must consider whether such impact amounts to adverse harm.  
 
The proposal would be located on land immediately adjacent to 17 Barton Tors. Therefore, in the 
opinion of the local authority, much of the impact would be directed towards the privacy of the rear 
garden of 17 Barton Tors. It is however note that 17 Barton Tors was permitted as two flats as a result 
of Planning Permission 1/0544/2007/FUL. Given that 17 Barton Tors is used as flats, any 
garden/amenity is likely to be shared, and therefore any privacy requirements are somewhat 
lessened.  
 

Page 94



The residential curtilage of 18 Barton Tors is located approximately 8.2m from the proposal. The 
proposal would have a height of 5.5m to the eaves and 8m ridge height. The Council notes that there 
would be a first-floor window located on the North-West elevation, however it is opaque and serves a 
bathroom. It is also considered that the first-floor window located on the rear elevation of 17 Barton 
Tors is likely to have a comparable impact when compared against the proposal. It is therefore 
considered unlikely to have an overlooking impact, which could be justified against Policy DM01. The 
Council would not consider there to be an overbearing/loss of light impact because of the distance 
between the proposed development and the objector's private amenity. The Council has also had 
regard to surrounding properties which are all two-storey in height, and therefore such impacts as 
described may already occur. 
 
The Council's Environmental Protection Officer has responded to the consultation which seeks a 
condition to be applied limiting construction and deliveries to 0700 to 1900 hrs Monday-Friday, 0800 
to 1300 hrs Saturdays and with no works permitted on Sundays (and Bank Holidays).   
 
Highways, Access and Parking 
 
Policy ST10 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that development proposals would not adversely impact 
local or strategic transport networks. Policies DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP expect that all 
development must ensure safe and well-designed vehicular access, the protection and enhancement 
of existing pedestrian routes, and an acceptable range of parking provision.  
 
Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that permission should only be 
refused on highway grounds, if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
The Council have received several objections which note concerns regarding highway safety and, in 
particular, the extent of parking provided for the proposed (and existing) flats. However, the DCC 
Highways Authority have concluded that traffic speeds are low, and the parking spaces provided are 
acceptable based on the existing evidence base, complying with the NPPF.  
 
The Council consider the application to comply with Policy DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP.  
 
Drainage Provision:  
 
Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality improvements, water efficiency measures 
and the use of rainwater'. This is reflected in Policy DM04.  
 
The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance provide further advice on foul drainage, with a hierarchal 
approach being used. The PPG notes new development should aim to discharge foul water into the 
public sewer. 
 
The application form identifies that foul drainage will be disposed via mains sewer and surface water 
will be disposed by soakaway. South West Water have confirmed that the proposed approach is 
considered acceptable.  
 
Ecology and Landscaping:  
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced by Policies ST14 and DM08 of the NDTLP which require that development ensures the 
protection and enhancement of biodiversity. 
 
The application has been supported by a wildlife trigger list and report. The report concludes that 
there would not be an adverse impact upon protected species.  

Page 95



 
NDTLP Policy ST14 requires the council to promote examples of net gain in biodiversity. The Council 
have sought enhancements in the form of bird box located on the south-east elevation and the 
planting of an indigenous hedge.  
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         Construction works shall not take place other than between 0700hrs and 1900hrs on Mondays 

to Fridays, Saturdays between 0800hrs and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 

            
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
 4         The recommendations within the Ecological Impact Assessment produced by GE Consulting 

and received 25th November shall be adhered to.  
            
           Reason: In the interests of protected species and biodiversity net gain. 
 
 5         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway.  
            
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 
6         The landscaping hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details.  

The time of planting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the proposed development is brought into use and the scheme shall be 
implemented at those times specified.  If within a period of five years from the date of the 
planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, 
destroyed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree of the same species 
and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details.    

 

Page 96



 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

21056_L1  25.11.2021 
               

21056_L2e  09.02.2022 
   

21056_P2d  09.02.2022 
   

21056_P1B  09.02.2022 
   

21056/V1d  09.02.2022 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 97



 
Committee Report – 14th April 2022 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0036/2022/FUL 

Registration date: 18 January 2022 

Expiry date:  15 March 2022 

Applicant:  EE Limited  

Agent:  Harlequin Group 

Case Officer:  Sarah Boyle 

Site Address:  Bideford AFC (1987) Ltd,  
Robins Nest Clubhouse,  
The Sportsground, 
Kingsley Road, 
Bideford,   
Devon 

Proposal:  Installation of 1 x 27.5-metre-high ground based 
Swann Engineering 1S lattice tower, 6 x multi-
band sector antenna fixed to tower headframe, 2 
x 0.6m DIA transmission dishes fixed to tower 
headframe, 1 x ICD Airo cabinet 
(2100x750x600), 1 x M35 Emerson cabinet 
(1600x1200x600), 1 x MK5B Link AC cabinet 
(1200x500x1700), 1 x ICD Furo cabinet 
(2100x750x600), 2.1m high chainlink fence 
around with 1m wide gate 7m x 6m compound, 
Existing Stadium Lighting to be mounted on 
bespoke steel frame (10 x luminaires, 5 x control 
units and 1 x electricity distribution panel), Other 
ancillary equipment and cabling. 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7f



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been brought to Committee as the proposed scheme is sited on land which is 
owned by Torridge District Council. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0293/1977 ERECTION OF SOCIAL 
CLUB SPORTS GROUND 
KINGSLEY ROAD, 
BIDEFORD 

PER 23.05.1977 

   

1/0325/1978 ERECTION OF SOCIAL 
CLUB THE SPORTS 
GROUND, KINGSLEY 
ROAD, BIDEFORD 

PER 20.06.1978 

   

1/0666/1981 Extend Bideford Football 
Club Headquaters 

PER 16.06.1981 

   

1/0978/1981 USE OF LAND AS A 
GREYHOUND RACING 
TRACK, THE FOOTBALL 
GROUND,KINGSLEY 
RD,BIDEFORD 

PER 17.09.1981 

   

1/2504/2004/TEL Installation of 3 no. antennas 
at a height of 25.5m, 1 no. 
300mm transmission dish at 
a height of 20m and an 
equipment cabinet 

NPW 06.12.2004 

          
 

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The application site is located in the development boundary of Bideford which is designated as a 
Strategic Centre in the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. The site is located in the south east 
corner of Bideford Football Club, where there is already a floodlight tower and associated 
infrastructure. It is surrounded by a mix of residential, commercial, and recreational facilities. It is 
accessed via an entrance to the south west which is both vehicular and pedestrian; then leads on to a 
classified highway. The land the proposal is to be situated on is owned by Torridge District Council.  
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks planning permission for the following: 
 
- Replacement of 1 x 27.5 metre high floodlight tower for a 1 x 27.5 metre high ground based Swann 
Engineering 1S lattice tower 
- 6 x multi-band sector antenna fixed to tower headframe 
- 2 x 0.6m DIA transmission dishes fixed to tower headframe 
- 1 x ICD Airo cabinet (2100x750x600) 
- 1 x M35 Emerson cabinet (1600x1200x600) 
- 1 x MK5B Link AC cabinet (1200x500x1700) 
- 1 x ICD Furo cabinet (2100x750x600) 
- 2.1m high chainlink fence around with 1m wide gate 7m x 6m compound 

Page 99



- Existing Stadium Lighting to be mounted on bespoke steel frame (10 x luminaires, 5 x control units 
and 1x electricity distribution panel) 
- Other ancillary equipment and cabling  
 
Mast to be galvanised and cabinets to be light grey (RAL 7035).  
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Parish/Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is approved. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
No comments received  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
Second Response 
Further to the comments provided in the consultation response dated 25 January with regards the 
above application, the Environmental Protection Team has reviewed the additional information 
provided by the applicant.  Following review, the Environmental Protection Team is satisfied that any 
potential adverse health and amenity impacts previously raised are allayed.  Subsequently, the 
Environmental Protection Team has no objections to the application. 
 
First Response 
In relation to the above application, there is the potential for adverse health and amenity effects 
arising from the proposed development. 
 
The Health and Safety Statement indicates that the proposed development is designed to be in full 
compliance with the requirements of radio frequency exposure guidelines outlined in ICNIRP. This 
should negate any concerns with regards public health. However, given the close proximity of the 
residential site immediately to the south of the application site, it would be prudent to obtain 
confirmation that no long-term exposure will result in adverse health effects. 
 
There appears to be no information provided on the potential noise impact associated with the 
cabinets or plant located at ground level. It would be useful to receive further information on any noise 
emissions in order to assess any potential impact on the adjacent residential site to the south of the 
application site.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
No comments received  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  52  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations received 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); DM11A 
(Telecommunications); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 (Design Principles); 
DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); ST03 (Adapting to Climate 
Change and Strengthening Resilience);  

Page 100



 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations for this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance  
3. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
4. Ecology 
5. Highways 
6. Critical Drainage Area 
7. Conclusion 
 
1. Principle of Development 
The application site is located within the development boundary of Bideford which is designated as a 
strategic centre; therefore, Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) must be 
applied. Policy ST06 states, sustainable development opportunities will be secured to increase self-
containment and achieve balanced development to enable the town to meet its own needs and those 
of the surrounding area. The Bideford Spatial Strategy (BID) states that development will seek to 
maximise the positive benefits that it can achieve whilst respecting the sensitive landscape and 
environmental setting of the town, its heritage, community spirit and sense of place. 
 
Alongside policy ST06, Policy DM11A: Telecommunications states:  
 
Proposals for new or upgraded telecommunications equipment and installations will be permitted 
(where planning permission or 'prior approval' is required) where: 
 
(a) the telecommunications equipment and installation would not have a significant adverse effect on 
its landscape setting, landscape character, heritage and visual amenity by reason of its siting and 
design or as a result of cumulative impact with nearby development; 
 
(b) opportunities have been sought to share masts or sites with other providers and, where 
appropriate, the erection of antennae on existing buildings or other structures; and 
 
(c) the proposal conforms to the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection 
(ICNIRP) guidelines, taking account where appropriate of the cumulative impact of all operators' 
equipment located on the mast/site. 
 
The application is seeking permission to install a number of pieces of equipment to allow for 
investment in to high-quality, reliable digital connectivity so that all communities can benefit.  
 
This development is considered to be appropriate for the site it will be located in and will enable a 
community an improvement to their telecommunications in terms of connectivity. Therefore, the 
proposal accords with Policy ST06 and Policy DM11A and is acceptable in principle, subject to other 
policy considerations. 
 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance  
Policies ST04 (improving the quality of development) and DM04 (design considerations) of the 
NDTLP, requires new developments to be of high quality design, including being well related to their 
surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the 
character and appearance of the local area.  
 

Page 101



The application is seeking permission to install a number of pieces of equipment to allow for 
investment in to high-quality, reliable digital connectivity so that all communities can benefit.  
 
The following works are proposed: 
- Replacement of 1 x 27.5 metre high floodlight tower for a 1 x 27.5 metre high ground based Swann 
Engineering 1S lattice tower 
- 6 x multi-band sector antenna fixed to tower headframe 
- 2 x 0.6m DIA transmission dishes fixed to tower headframe 
- 1 x ICD Airo cabinet (2100x750x600) 
- 1 x M35 Emerson cabinet (1600x1200x600) 
- 1 x MK5B Link AC cabinet (1200x500x1700) 
- 1 x ICD Furo cabinet (2100x750x600) 
- 2.1m high chainlink fence around with 1m wide gate 7m x 6m compound 
- Existing Stadium Lighting to be mounted on bespoke steel frame (10 x luminaires, 5 x control units 
and 1x electricity distribution panel) 
- Other ancillary equipment and cabling  
 
Mast to be galvanised and cabinets to be light grey (RAL 7035).  
 
The proposed scheme will be situated on a parcel of land within Bideford Football Club, which is 
already the site of a floodlight tower. The proposal will be against an existing boundary wall and will 
be seen in the context of the current setting of the area.  
 
Taking the above into account, the proposed scheme complies with policies ST04 and DM04 of the 
NDTLP.  
 
3. Impact on Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan relates to amenity considerations and notes, 
development will be supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  
 
No representations have been received for the application. The site is surrounded by a mix of 
residential, commercial and recreational facilities. Considering the form of development proposed, it is 
considered that it would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses. 
Environmental Protection has been consulted on the application and had initial concerns with noise 
impact associated with the cabinets or plant located at ground level. Further information was 
submitted by the Agent which allayed their initial concerns. Subsequently, the Environmental 
Protection Team has no objections to the application. Therefore, the application complies with policy 
DM01 of the NDTLP.  
 
4. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which state that development 
proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests. 
 
The application was accompanied by a wildlife trigger list and after assessing the information it is 
considered that the proposal complies with Policies DM08 and ST14 of the NDTLP.  
 
 

Page 102



5. Highways 
Paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework indicates that access should be safe and 
suitable for all users. Paragraph 111 proceeds to advise that development should only be prevented 
or refused on transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. In addition, Paragraph 112 notes 
that development should minimise the scope for conflict between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, 
respond to local character and design standards, allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access 
by service and emergency vehicles.  
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways, and notes: 
 
(1) All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking 
and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highways users including cyclists and 
pedestrians. 
(2) All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, cycle ways and 
bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where 
practical to do so. 
 
In addition, policy DM06 of the NDTLP relates to parking provision, and notes that developments will 
be expected to provide adequate parking depending on the needs of the scheme. 
 
There are no alterations proposed to the existing access on site for the proposed development. In 
light of the above it is considered that the development accords with policies DM05 and DM06 of the 
NDTLP.  
 
6. Critical Drainage Area 
Policy ST03: Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience requires that development 
adopts effective water management and sustainable drainage systems.  
 
Consideration has been given to the fact that the site is located within an extensive area of low-lying 
land that lies in Flood Zone 3a and is part of the Bideford CDA. However due to the level of 
development and the existing precautions on site it is considered that the proposal will not have 
consequences in terms of loss of flood area or increase the risk of flooding to other areas. After 
assessing the plans and information submitted it is considered that the size and form of development 
would not result in a significant risk to flooding within the Critical Drainage Area of Bideford.  
  
7. Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to result in an acceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area and would not result in a harmful impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers.  In addition, the development would not result in a harmful impact on 
protected species. Considering the above, the application complies with the policies outlined in the 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 

Page 103



 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 

     
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

002 Site Location Plan  12.01.2022 
     

150 Proposed Site Plan  12.01.2022 
   

250 Proposed Site Elevation A  12.01.2022 
 

 Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
     
In this instance the Council required clarification on a couple of points following the consultation 
process. These were clarified by the Agent and submitted for further consideration.  
     
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 104



 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 14 April 2022  

 

Appeal decisions for the period 24.02.2022 – 31.03.2022 
Application No. 
 

Address/Proposal 
 

Appeal 
Decision 
 
 

Officer 
Recommendation 
 

Committee/ 
Delegated 

Costs 
 

1/0913/2020/FUL Former Tantons Hotel 
New Road 
Bideford 
Devon –  
Change of use of ground floor to three flats, 
alterations and refurbishment 
 

 
Appeal 
Dismissed 

 
Refusal  

 
Delegated  

 
N/A 

1/1180/2020/FUL Goats Hill House 
Goats Hill Road 
Northam 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 1AJ –  
Proposed replacement dwelling, to include the 
demolition of the existing dwelling (affecting a 
public right of way) (Variation of condition 2 of 
planning permission 1/0639/2020/FUL) 

 
Appeal 
Allowed  

 
Refusal  

 
Delegated 

 
    Yes 

 
 
 
 

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 8



Room 3/D 
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Direct Line: 0303 444 5387
Customer Services:
0303 444 5000

Email:  
West1@planninginspectorate.gov.
uk

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Your Ref:  1/0913/2020/FUL
Our Ref:   APP/W1145/W/21/3283406

Shaun Harrington
Torridge District Council
Development Control
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

25 February 2022

Dear Mr Harrington,

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Appeal by TANTON TWO LTD
Site Address: TANTONS HOTEL, NEW ROAD, BIDEFORD, DEVON, EX39 2HR

I enclose a copy of our Inspector’s decision on the above appeal(s).

If you have queries or feedback about the decision or the way we handled the appeal(s), you 
should submit them using our “Feedback” webpage at https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure.

If you do not have internet access please write to the Customer Quality Unit at the address 
above.

If you would prefer hard copies of our information on the right to challenge and our 
feedback procedure, please contact our Customer Service Team on 0303 444 5000.

Please note the Planning Inspectorate is not the administering body for High Court 
challenges. If you would like more information on the strictly enforced deadlines for 
challenging, or a copy of the forms for lodging a challenge, please contact the Administrative 
Court on 020 7947 6655.

The Planning Inspectorate cannot change or revoke the outcome in the attached decision. If 
you want to alter the outcome you should consider obtaining legal advice as only the High 
Court can quash this decision.

We are continually seeking ways to improve the quality of service we provide to our 
customers. As part of this commitment we are seeking feedback from those who use our 
service. It would be appreciated if you could take some time to complete this short survey, 
which should take no more than a few minutes complete:

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey


Thank you in advance for taking the time to provide us with valuable feedback.

Yours sincerely,

Linda Hutton
Linda Hutton

Where applicable, you can use the internet to submit documents, to see information and to check the 
progress of cases through GOV.UK. The address of the search page is - https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-
inspectorate 

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 1 February 2022  
by M Bale BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  25 February 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/21/3283406 

Tantons Hotel, New Road, Bideford, Devon EX39 2HR  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Adam Walker, Tanton Two Ltd against the decision of 

Torridge District Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0913/2020/FUL, dated 30 September 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 1 April 2021. 

• The development proposed is change of use of ground floor to three flats and 

alterations and refurbishment. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issue 

2. The main issue is whether future occupiers would be safe from flood risk.  

Reasons 

3. The grade II listed, former Tantons Hotel faces the tidal Torridge estuary 

across New Road. The EA flood maps show New Road to be in Flood Zone 3, 
the highest risk zone. They show the hotel itself to be in Flood Zone 1, the 

lowest risk zone, where a detailed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is not usually 
required. I understand that the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment also shows 
that the site would not be affected by the 1 in 200 year tidal event.  

4. However, internal ground floor levels are only marginally above the level of 
New Road. The Environment Agency (EA) has confirmed that the 1 in 200 year 

flood depth on New Road would be 1.8m, not accounting for climate change. 
The EA also says that the floor level is only just above the highest annual tide, 

collectively putting the proposed accommodation at risk of flooding. Although 
similar advice may not have been given by the EA on other sites in the vicinity, 
I cannot simply ignore their advice in this case, even though the EA would not 

normally be consulted on development in Flood Zone 1. 

5. The EA has stated that the flood maps are incorrect due to errors in the survey 

technique, but has not changed the maps, or explained why they have not 
been changed. Nor has the EA clarified what flood levels have been used to 
determine the flood zones at this location. However, while the appellant may 

feel aggrieved that they cannot rely upon the flood maps, the appellants own 
Flood Risk Assessment1 for the appeal concludes, amongst other things, that 

 
1 Evans Rivers and Coastal Ltd (June 2021): Flood Risk Assessment, Ref 2567/RE/09-20/01 Revision A 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/21/3283406

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

the ground floor could be flooded to a depth of 2.01m. This clearly indicates 

that the area is at risk of flooding.  

6. Future residents would have a safe egress to higher ground at the rear of the 

site, could sign up to the EA flood warning system and the appellant has 
suggested that further physical mitigation could be installed. The mitigation 
could take the form of automatic flood doors or shutters that need no manual 

operation. I understand that similar solutions have been accepted by the EA 
elsewhere in the country. Example pictures and specifications have been 

provided and the appellant has confirmed that the building itself is structurally 
capable of withstanding the water pressures.  

7. However, even if I were to accept the mitigation against EA advice, I have 

insufficient evidence on which to base an assessment of its effects on the listed 
building. In the absence of that, I cannot judge whether the public benefits, 

including the delivery of housing or finding a long-term use for the listed 
building would outweigh any harm that there may be. Furthermore, the 
shutters would likely affect the external appearance of the building and 

interested parties have not had the opportunity to comment upon them. For 
these reasons, I cannot use a condition to secure the mitigation.  

8. The Council cannot demonstrate 5 year supply of deliverable housing land. 
However, even though it is outside the mapped flood zones, the evidence 
shows it is an area at risk from flooding. Development here, therefore, results 

in a conflict with policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework) that protect areas or assets of particular importance and provide a 

clear reason for refusing the development. As such, the proposal does not 
benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in 
Framework Paragraph 11.  

9. Even without the mitigation, there would still be benefits arising from the 
proposal. These include the provision of housing in an accessible location, the 

use of underutilised previously developed land and a probable end to anti-social 
behaviour that I understand has occurred at the building. There would also be 
benefits arising from finding a long-term use for the deteriorating listed 

building, the conservation of which must be given great weight.   

10. However, there would remain a risk to human life and the clear reason to 

refuse permission when the Framework is read as a whole. The proposal would 
also be contrary to those aims of Policy ST03 of the North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan 2018 that seek to avoid development of land for vulnerable uses in 

areas at risk of flooding.  

11. I, therefore, conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.   

M Bale  

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Room 3D 
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Direct Line: 0303 444 5405
Customer Services:
0303 444 5000

Email:  
West1@planninginspectorate.gov.
uk

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Your Ref:  1/1180/2020
Our Ref:   APP/W1145/W/21/3279537

Shaun Harrington
Torridge District Council
Development Control
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

04 March 2022

Dear Mr Harrington,

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Appeal by Mr & Mrs M Jarvis
Site Address: Goats Hill House, Goats Hill Road, Northam Bideford, Devon, EX39 
1AJ

I enclose a copy of our Inspector's decision on the above appeal(s), together with a copy 
of the decision on an application for an award of costs.

If you wish to learn more about how an appeal decision or related cost decision may be 
challenged, or to give feedback or raise complaint about the way we handled the appeal(s), 
you may wish to visit our “Feedback & Complaints” webpage at https://www.gov.uk/
government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure.

If you do not have internet access you may write to the Customer Quality Unit at the 
address above.  Alternatively, if you would prefer hard copies of our information on the 
right to challenge and our feedback procedure, please contact our Customer Service Team 
on 0303 444 5000.

The Planning Inspectorate is not the administering body for High Court challenges and 
cannot change or revoke the outcome of an appeal decision. If you feel there are grounds 
for challenging the decision you may consider obtaining legal advice as only the High 
Court can quash the decision. If you would like more information on the strictly enforced 
deadlines and grounds for challenge, or a copy of the forms for lodging a challenge, please 
contact the Administrative Court on 020 7947 6655.

Guidance on Awards of costs, including how the amount of costs can be settled, can be 
located following the Planning Practice Guidance.

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-
application-for-an-award-of-costs/

We are continually seeking ways to improve the quality of service we provide to our 
customers. As part of this commitment we are seeking feedback from those who use our 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/


service. It would be appreciated if you could take some time to complete this short survey, 
which should take no more than a few minutes complete:

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey

Thank you in advance for taking the time to provide us with valuable feedback.

Yours sincerely,

Heather Langridge
Heather Langridge

Where applicable, you can use the internet to submit documents, to see information and to check the 
progress of cases through GOV.UK. The address of the search page is - https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-
inspectorate

Page 111

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 23 February 2022 

by Matthew Jones BA(Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 4 March 2022 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
Goats Hill House, Goats Hill Road, Northam, Bideford EX39 1AJ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission under section 73 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with 

conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted. 

• The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs M Jarvis against the decision of Torridge District 

Council. 

• The application Ref 1/1180/2020/FUL, dated 21 December 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 12 February 2021. 

• The application sought planning permission for proposed replacement dwelling, to 

include the demolition of the existing dwelling (affecting a public right of way) without 

complying with a condition attached to planning permission Ref 1/0639/2020/FUL, 

dated 5 November 2020. 

• The condition in dispute is No 2 which states that: ‘The development hereby permitted 

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed in the Plans Schedule.’ 

• The reason given for the condition is: ‘To ensure the development is carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans.’ 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for proposed 
replacement dwelling, to include the demolition of the existing dwelling 

(affecting a public right of way) at Goats Hill House, Goats Hill Road, Northam, 
Bideford EX39 1AJ in accordance with the application Ref 1/1180/2020/FUL 
dated 21 December 2020, without compliance with condition numbers 1, 2 and 

4 previously imposed on planning permission Ref 1/0639/2020/FUL dated 5 
November 2020 and subject to the conditions in the attached schedule. 

Applications for Costs 

2. Separate applications for costs were made by Mr and Mrs M Jarvis against 
Torridge District Council and by Torridge District Council against Mr and Mrs M 

Jarvis. The applications are the subject of separate decisions. 

Background and Main Issue  

3. In 2020 the Council granted planning permission for the replacement of Goats 
Hill House. On site, I observed that the previous dwelling has been demolished 
and construction of its replacement is well underway. Amongst other, more 

modest alterations, the appellants now seek to amend the accord with plans 
condition in order for the replacement dwelling to have a higher ridge line and 

to be constructed larger at its east side.  

4. The main issue, therefore, is the effect that varying the condition would have 
on the character and appearance of the area.  

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

5. The appeal site is within the countryside set above the west bank of the River 
Torridge at the north edge of Bideford. Policy DM26 of the North Devon and 

Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 2018) (the Local Plan) supports the 
replacement of dwellings in the countryside where the replacement would, 
amongst other things, respect the character of its surroundings and be no more 

visually intrusive than the existing dwelling. In this case, for the sake of this 
policy test, I interpret the ‘existing dwelling‘ to be that now demolished.  

6. The stretch of the Torridge between Bideford and the Appledore Shipyard to 
the north is picturesque. However, the east garden of Goats Hill House is set on 
a ridge, with the existing house location on its southern slope, facing Bideford. 

What this does, is separate the location of the house from the more 
undeveloped riverside area to the north and draw it towards Bideford’s edge.  

7. This is an area with a fringe, and almost suburban, residential character. 
Several of the buildings are large or are clustered, offering sizeable amalgams 
of built form visible from public areas, such as the Torridge Bridge and also the 

Tarka Trail to the east of the river. There is a line of neighbouring houses along 
Goats Hill Road which the Council considers have a consistent scale. However, I 

could not readily identify such an attribute. Instead, I observed a variety of 
houses and bungalows, some of which were large and appeared to be 
undergoing or had already undergone significant alteration and/or extension.  

8. The presence of the replacement dwelling would be softened by trees around it. 
The dwelling would also be viewed at a slight angle from the adjacent section of 

the Tarka Trail, which would reduce the perception of its mass. Whilst more of 
its width and scale would be visible from the Torridge Bridge, the effects of such 
would be limited by the long distance between the bridge and the site. Much of 

the roof would also appear recessive, as it would comprise pitched and hipped 
roofs of muted colour, with just the one, more strident, forward gable set within 

the approximate location of a similar gable within the existing dwelling.  

9. For these reasons, whilst I recognise that the replacement would be far larger 
than the existing dwelling, it would nonetheless respect its surroundings without 

being any more visually intrusive.  

10. This leads me to draw the conclusion that varying the condition as proposed 

would have an acceptable effect on the character and appearance of the area. 
Doing so would accord with the relevant aims of Policies ST04, DM04, DM08A 
and DM26 of the Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Conditions and Conclusion  

11. I therefore conclude that the appeal should be allowed and grant a new 

permission with a varied accord with plans condition but retaining those 
conditions that appear still to be relevant. This does not include condition No 4, 

which related to historic building recording and analysis, and was discharged by 
the Council. Given that development has already commenced through the 
demolition of the existing dwelling, there is also no need for a time condition.  

 
Matthew Jones 
INSPECTOR 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Schedule of Conditions  

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 18116/L1B, 18116/P1L, 18116/P3L, 

18116/P2M, 18116/P5B, 18116/P4L.  

2) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended), (or 

any Order revoking and reenacting that Order) no development of the types 
described in Part 1, Classes A and B (relating to alterations and extensions); 

of Schedule 2, other than that hereby permitted shall be carried out without 
the further grant of planning permission.  

3) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out within the Bat and Nesting Bird Survey produced 
by Penpont Ecology, dated May 2020. In particular, mitigation and 

enhancements shall include:  

- Suitable habitat for roosting crevice-dwelling bats shall be made by the 
installation of at least one integrated bat box to the north or west elevations 

- Suitable habitat for nesting birds shall be incorporated by the installation of 
at least one integrated bird box to the north or east elevations.  

The mitigation and enhancement methods shall be implemented prior to the 
approved dwelling being occupied and retained thereafter. 

4) The materials indicated on the submitted application form and on the plans 

hereby permitted shall be used in the construction of the development 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

materials shall be installed before the development hereby permitted is 
brought into use and shall thereafter be retained as such. 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 23 February 2022 

by Matthew Jones BA(Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 4 March 2022 
 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
Goats Hill House, Goats Hill Road, Northam, Bideford EX39 1AJ 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act), 

sections 78, 322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr and Mrs M Jarvis for a full award of costs against Torridge 

District Council. 

• The appeal was against the for refusal of planning permission for proposed replacement 

dwelling, to include the demolition of the existing dwelling (affecting a public right of 

way) without complying with a condition attached to planning permission  

Ref 1/0639/2020/FUL, dated 5 November 2020. 
 

Decision 

1. The application is refused.  

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) advises that, irrespective of the 
outcome of an appeal, costs may be awarded against a party who has behaved 
unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs to incur 

unnecessary expense in the appeal process.  

3. The applicants consider that the Council has behaved unreasonably as it did not 

have due regard to the extant permission at the site and wrongly dismissed the 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which accompanies the 
proposal. The Council has not adequately substantiated its position and has 

wrongly assessed the scheme against the previous dwelling at the site.  

4. The Council did acknowledge the existence of the permitted scheme but took 

the view that it was not relevant to the application of Policy DM26, which, given 
it relates to replacement dwellings, must be assessed against the original 
dwelling that has now been demolished. I agree with this approach.  

5. The officer report refers to a perceived consistency in scale across the housing 
in the area along Goats Hill Road and concludes that the proposal would divert 

from that. It also considers that the ‘eye drawing’ increase in scale, combined 
with the prominence of the site, would be intrusive. Whilst I have not agreed 
with the Council on these points, they demonstrate site specific reasoning, so it 

cannot be held that the Council failed to reasonably substantiate its decision.  

6. Given the inherently subjective and site-specific nature of the issue of 

character and appearance, the appeal decision I have been shown, which also 
relates to a separate local planning authority, is of limited relevance1. 
Furthermore, the applicants’ have made several criticisms of the Council’s case, 

but these amount to a rehearsal of arguments as to the planning merits of the 

 
1 Appeal Ref APP/X1118/W/21/3266917 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

scheme, more appropriately addressed to the appeal itself. This includes the 

issue of the relative stock that the Council placed on the conclusions of the 
applicants’ LVIA, and the reasons given by the Council for doing so. 

7. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted 
expense in the appeal process, as described in the PPG, has not been 
demonstrated. An award of costs is not justified. 

 

 

Matthew Jones 
INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 23 February 2022 

by Matthew Jones BA(Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 4 March 2022 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 

Goats Hill House, Goats Hill Road, Northam, Bideford EX39 1AJ 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act), 

sections 78, 322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Torridge District Council for a full award of costs against Mr 

and Mrs M Jarvis. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for proposed replacement 

dwelling, to include the demolition of the existing dwelling (affecting a public right of 

way) without complying with a condition attached to planning permission  

Ref 1/0639/2020/FUL, dated 5 November 2020. 
 

Decision 

1. The application is refused.  

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) advises that, irrespective of the 
outcome of an appeal, costs may be awarded against a party who has behaved 

unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs to incur 
unnecessary expense in the appeal process.  

3. The Council asserts that the appellants acted unreasonably as there are a 
number of factual inaccuracies in their statement of case and because the 
appellants’ costs application is speculative. The Council also criticises the way 

the appellants reacted to previous discussions regarding the appeal site.   

4. I found that varying the condition would accord with the development plan. In 

doing so, I agreed that, given the wording of Policy DM26, and within the 
context of an appeal to vary a condition, the policy should be interpreted 

against the original dwelling. However, I do not find the alternative argument 
that the scheme be assessed against the extant permission to be manifestly 
unreasonable. It is, after all, an extant permission in its own right.  

5. With regard to any perceived difference between ‘landscape impact’ and 
matters of character and appearance, the Council swiftly addressed this issue 

in less than a page of its appeal statement, logically without substantive cost.  

6. The Council has also referred to costs incurred in response to the appellants’ 
costs application itself. However, these costs are not relevant as they relate to 

the costs regime, which is distinct from the entirely separate appeal process.  

7. The Council considers that previous discussion which took place between the 

main parties was ignored. However, the appellants cannot be found to have 
acted unreasonably by submitting a planning application or undertaking their 
right to make an appeal. Also, that the applicants previously reverted to a 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/W1145/W/21/3279537 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

smaller scheme to gain planning permission does not convey any form of 

acceptance that the larger scheme was in conflict with the development plan.   

8. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted 

expense in the appeal process, as described in the PPG, has not been 
demonstrated. An award of costs is not justified. 

 

 

Matthew Jones 
INSPECTOR 

 

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

AGMB DECISIONS 24.02.2022 – 31.03.2022 

 

Application 
Number 

Address/Proposal Decision 
 

 

Permitted 

1/0057/2022/
AGMB 

Tristan 
Otten 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under Class Q - 
Building At Priestacott Farm, 
Ashwater, Beaworthy. 

Mr J Beare PER 

15.03.2022 

 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 24.02.2022 and 31.03.2022 

 

List of Applications 
 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

 

Permitted 
 
1/1180/2018/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Retrospective application for the 
change of use of a former 
agricultural silage barn to be used 
as a camping barn - Lane Barton 
Leisure Barn, Woolsery, Devon. 

Mr Derek Lott PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/0702/2020/
OUT 

Helen 
Smith 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for 1 no. dwelling to be 
used as managers accommodation  
 - Land At Libbear Barton, 
Shebbear, Devon. 

Libbear Barton 
Ltd 

PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/0947/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Erection of agricultural shed and 
access track, part retrospective 
(Amended description) - Land At 
Grid Reference 226976 101254, 
Bridgerule, Devon. 

Mr D Stephens PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/1018/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of general purpose 
agricultural building - The Cut , 
Winkleigh, Devon. 

E.Knight 
Woodland 
Management 

PER 
18.03.2022 

 
1/1099/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Demolition of existing lean to and 
replacement with two storey 
extension - Horton Cross, 
Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr John Cowx PER 
16.03.2022 

 
1/1149/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replace existing ground floor 
windows and to install a downstairs 
toilet wash and basin. - Durdon 
Cottage, Winkleigh, Devon. 

Mr Anthony 
Baird 

PER 
03.03.2022 

 
1/1157/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Extension to dwelling and 
alterations - Newacott House, 
Bridgerule, Holsworthy. 

Mr Jordan 
Lakhpuri 

PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/1188/2021/
OUT 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for one dwelling - Land 
Adjoining The Willows, Winterland 
Lane, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Dave 
& Kathy Bromell 

PER 
24.02.2022 

 
Page 120

Agenda Item 11



1/1245/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Retrospective application for 
creation of drive way and change of 
use land from agricultural to 
domestic for erection of domestic 
dog kennels/aviary. - Walland Barn, 
Bucks Cross, Devon. 

Mr And Mrs 
Braund-Phillips 

PER 
28.02.2022 

 
1/1253/2021/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Retrospective application for the 
retention of mobile home for 
ancillary domestic use - West Villa, 
Chilsworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr and Mrs 
Harris 

PER 
11.03.2022 

 
1/1281/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Repairs to bellcote and copings, 
rendering and facade redecoration. - 
Great Torrington Heritage Museum, 
Market House, Pannier Market. 

Torridge District 
Council 

PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/1317/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Small front porch extension to 
terraced house. - 6 The Rocks, 
Stanwell Hill, Westward Ho!. 

Mr Nick Page PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/1320/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Removal of existing shed and 
erection of garage - 3 High View, 
East Street, Sheepwash. 

Mr Tom 
Sandford 

PER 
17.03.2022 

 
1/1327/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey rear extension with 
raised patio (Amended plans) - 
Cluden Lodge, Cluden Road, 
Northam. 

Mr and Mrs 
Burchill 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/1328/2021/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Erection of agricultural shed with 
bokashi waste management. - Land 
At Grid Reference 232958 120638, 
Woolsery, Devon. 

Prince Albert 
Road Limited 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/1339/2021/
REM 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Reserved matters application for 
appearance, landscaping, layout & 
scale pursuant to planning approval 
1/0535/2020/OUT - Springfield 
Meadows, Halwill Junction, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Langford 

PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/1361/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Conversion of barns to dwelling and 
utility area (Variation of condition 2 
of planning permission 
1/1057/2020/FUL) - Barn At Glen 
Cottage, Parkham, Devon. 

Mr R Allin PER 
25.03.2022 

 
1/1363/2021/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Conversion and alterations of 
games room situated above existing 
garage into a holiday let - The Old 
Rectory, Weare Giffard, Bideford. 

Mr Craig Piercy PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/1368/2021/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Machinery shed and store - Land 
Adjacent To Churchtown Barn, 
Virginstow, Devon. 

Mr Britton PER 
10.03.2022 

 
 

Page 121



1/1392/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replace existing bedroom and 
downstairs study windows - Bramble 
Bounsells, Merton, Okehampton. 

Nigel and 
Lynne Lang 

PER 
17.03.2022 

 
1/1402/2021/
REM 

Laura 
Davies 

Reserved matters application - 
appearance, landscaping, layout & 
scale pursuant to planning approval 
1/0262/2019/OUT (5 Dwellings) - 
Land Adjacent Barn Park, Sanders 
Lane, Holsworthy. 

Mr Graham 
Skinner 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/1408/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of agricultural building 
and erection of 1 dwellinghouse with 
associated works in lieu of Class Q 
permission 1/0971/2019/AGMB. - 
Barn At Grid Reference 257022 
117175, Roborough, Devon. 

Mr And Mrs J 
Folland 

PER 
17.03.2022 

 
1/1409/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Creation of off road parking area - 
Oaklands, Bodmin Street, 
Holsworthy. 

Miss Gabrielle 
Axford 

PER 
09.03.2022 

 
1/1430/2021/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Proposed Extensions - Pippins, 
Derril, Pyworthy. 

Mr And Mrs 
Francis 

PER 
25.03.2022 

 
1/0001/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Increase in roof pitch and creation of 
dormer window to accommodate loft 
conversion - 29 Swanswood 
Gardens, Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr Jon Webb PER 
14.03.2022 

 
1/0003/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Use of an agricultural worker's 
dwelling as an unrestricted dwelling 
- 2 South View, Frithelstock, 
Torrington. 

Mrs Ruth Ham PER 
14.03.2022 

 
1/0004/2022/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Single storey extension - Little 
Stowford, Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr and Mrs P 
Watts 

PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/0006/2022/
SOLPD 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Notification for prior approval for the 
installation of solar photovoltaic (PV) 
equipment on roof of building - 
Advanced Pallet Systems Ltd, 
Chubb Road, Bideford. 

Advanced 
Pallet Systems 
Ltd 

PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/0007/2022/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Part retrospective extension to 
existing agricultural building - Land 
At East Hele, Buckland Brewer, 
Devon. 

Mr David Brown PER 
03.03.2022 

 
1/0011/2022/
REM 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Reserved matters application for 
appearance of No.2 dwellings 
pursuant to planning approval 
1/1095/2018/OUT - Land Adjacent 
To Witten Lodge , Heywood Road, 
Northam. 

Mr Keith 
Burgess 

PER 
04.03.2022 

 
 
 

Page 122



1/1432/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of new roof to existing 
slurry pit - Land At Hill View Farm, 
Parkham, EX39 5PG. 

Mr Jason Lang PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/1433/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use of land and erection 
of equine stables and hay store for 
private use - Land Adjacent 
Northchurch Farm, Yarnscombe, 
Barnstaple. 

Mrs Joy Ellison PER 
07.03.2022 

 
1/1434/2021/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Change of use of existing garage to 
additional bedroom and addition of 
boiler house to rear of garage - 
Stowford Meadow, Langtree, 
Torrington. 

Mrs Helen Bunn PER 
23.03.2022 

 
1/0009/2022/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Change of use of part of existing 
storage building to provide amenity 
facilities to serve approved camping 
and caravan site - Higher Alsworthy 
Farm Caravan Site, Bradworthy, 
Devon. 

Ms J Holmes 
and Mr C 
Furness 

PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/0010/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of barn and erection of 
new dwelling and associated works 
- Barn At Grid Reference 256865 
110651, Dowland, Devon. 

Mrs Kingston PER 
11.03.2022 

 
1/0012/2022/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Change of use of agricultural 
building and yard area to storage 
(B8) of equine and agricultural 
recycling - Building At Merryfield 
Farm, Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs 
McKnee 

PER 
08.03.2022 

 
1/0018/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Creation of gateway for livestock 
access - Land At Grid Reference 
249410 125994, Woodtown, East 
The Water. 

Mr Ian Ratcliffe PER 
17.03.2022 

 
1/0016/2022/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Conversion of workshop to dwelling 
- Foxcote Stables, Derril, Pyworthy. 

Mr And Mrs O' 
Carroll 

PER 
02.03.2022 

 
1/0017/2022/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Alterations to existing dwelling 
including single storey side 
extension, demolition and 
replacement of existing rear 
extension and garage, loft 
conversion with dormer window and 
widening of the existing driveway 
including partial removal of an 
adjacent bank - Amendments to roof 
design (Re-submission of 
1/0251/2021/FUL) - North Green, 
North Road, High Bickington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Trevellick 

PER 
25.03.2022 

 
 
 
 

Page 123



1/0021/2022/
CPL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Certificate of proposed lawful 
development for use as property as 
a dwellinghouse - not more than six 
residents living together as a single 
household where care is provided 
for residents; class C3(b) - The 
Gables, First Raleigh, Bideford. 

Legacy 
Partnership 
(Devon) Ltd 

PER 
02.03.2022 

 
1/0026/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey extension to rear of 
dwelling, internal alterations & 
external works - 34 Irsha Street, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs F 
Hutton 

PER 
08.03.2022 

 
1/0028/2022/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement battens, felt and slates 
of roof - 13 Silver Street, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Miss Laura 
Dockings 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/0029/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Proposed single storey extension - 
Buckleigh House, 133 Bay View 
Road, Northam. 

Mrs Alice 
Champion 

PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/0030/2022/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Erection of timber carport - Platts 
Down, Ashreigney, Chulmleigh. 

Ms Ann Lonie PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/0032/2022/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Change of use of barn to a dwelling 
together with associated works 
(Removal of condition 6 of Planning 
Application 1/1260/2016/FUL) - 
Barn At Arscott Roundhouse, 
Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr Nick May PER 
04.03.2022 

 
1/0033/2022/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Conversion of garage to kitchen and 
creation of additional parking space 
- 34 Woodland View, Holsworthy, 
Devon. 

Mr And Mrs 
Barkwill 

PER 
08.03.2022 

 
1/0044/2022/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Ancillary accommodation for care - 
12 Holywell Park, Halwill Junction, 
Beaworthy. 

Ms Elisha 
Brown 

PER 
16.03.2022 

 
1/0050/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Construction of a wooden veranda - 
34 Rowe Close, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Mario 
D'Agostino 

PER 
22.03.2022 

 
1/0051/2022/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Retrospective conversion and 
change of use of garage building 
into holiday accommodation. - 
Holme Farm, Fore Street, Bradford. 

Mr And Mrs 
Bowman 

PER 
23.03.2022 

 
1/0057/2022/
AGMB 

Tristan 
Otten 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under Class Q - 
Building At Priestacott Farm, 
Ashwater, Beaworthy. 

Mr J Beare PER 
15.03.2022 

 
 
 

Page 124



1/0061/2022/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed replacement conservatory 
- 22 Moorfield Road, St Giles On 
The Heath, Launceston. 

Mr and Mrs C 
Jones 

PER 
02.03.2022 

 
1/0062/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Erection of a single storey rear 
extension and change from door to 
window to front elevation - 25 Town 
Park, Torrington, EX38 7AQ. 

Mr Ian Perry PER 
01.03.2022 

 
1/0063/2022/
CPL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Certificate of Proposed lawful use 
for single storey side extension and 
detached log cabin. - Larkspur, 
Weare Giffard, Bideford. 

Mr Nick 
Atkinson 

PER 
25.03.2022 

 
1/0064/2022/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - removal of Silver Birch (T1) - 
138 Irsha Street, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Smugglers 
Young 

PER 
04.03.2022 

 
1/0076/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of carport - Meadow View, 
18 Marshalls Mead, Beaford. 

Mr Dennis 
Buswell 

PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/0068/2022/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement of windows - 19 The 
Village, St Giles In The Wood, 
Torrington. 

Mr Brace PER 
17.03.2022 

 
1/0071/2022/
TCA 

Angelo 
Massos 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - reduction in height of 3 trees 
1 x Oak (T2) and 2 x Elm (T1 and 
T3) - Holmans, West Road, 
Sheepwash. 

Mr D Moys PER 
04.03.2022 

 
1/0069/2022/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Proposed extension and new 
vehicular access, parking and 
landscaping. - Triskelion House, 
Ashreigney, Chulmleigh. 

Mrs Sarah 
Upright 

PER 
25.03.2022 

 
1/0077/2022/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Renovation and modifications to 3 
existing window frames - Putford 
Methodist Chapel, Putford, Devon. 

Adrian 
Blackmore 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/0080/2022/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

T1 - birch fell to ground, T2 - oak 
tree Crown lift to 4m and T3 - 
remove limbs - Badgers House, The 
Square, Sheepwash. 

Mrs Jackie 
Hornby 

PER 
09.03.2022 

 
1/0082/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Extension of and change of use of 
existing woodland shed to form 1no. 
holiday let - Highmoor Plantation 
Lodge, Shebbear, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs D 
Balsdon 

PER 
22.03.2022 

 
1/0084/2022/
FUL 

Tristan 
Otten 

Conversion of attached garage into 
additional bedroom - 10 Gate Field 
Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Colin Beer PER 
22.03.2022 

 
 
 
 

Page 125



1/0002/2022/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non-material amendment to 
1/0615/2021/FUH - amendment to 
the approved colour of the windows 
and doors. - 25 Dudley Way, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr Mike Harris PER 
25.02.2022 

 
1/0086/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Proposed two storey side extension 
- 12 Chopes Close, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Ms Susan 
Guttridge 

PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/0088/2022/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

New front gable roof to first floor and 
minor alterations to existing dwelling 
- Three Elms, Lakenham Hill, 
Northam. 

Mr James Cole PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/0094/2022/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey side extensions, 
demolition of existing garage and 
construction of new workshop with 
annexe above - Moorlands, 
Gammaton, Bideford. 

Mr Keith Baxter PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/0091/2022/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement of existing entrance 
door and frame with removal of 
internal lobby. - 23A South Street, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mrs C Simmons PER 
18.03.2022 

 
1/0097/2022/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

First floor extension over existing 
single storey ground floor side 
extension - Borough View, 
Bridgerule, Holsworthy. 

Mr Nigel Reid PER 
29.03.2022 

 
1/0100/2022/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Demolition of existing chalet house 
and garage and construction of new 
2-storey replacement and 
associated groundworks & 
landscaping - 9 Brookfield, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Jerry & Jan 
Sharpe 

PER 
25.03.2022 

 
1/0108/2022/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Extension of existing porch. - Middle 
Langdon, Littleham, Bideford. 

Mrs Victoria 
Scott 

PER 
22.03.2022 

 
1/0109/2022/
PIP 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of existing barns to No.2 
dwellings and associated works - 
Land Adjacent To Southcott, 
Frithelstock, Torrington. 

Mr Connor PER 
09.03.2022 

 
1/0113/2022/
CPE 

Angelo 
Massos 

Certificate of existing lawful uses to 
regularise the residential use of the 
property as a C3 dwellinghouse. - 
Old School House, Alverdiscott, 
Barnstaple. 

Dr Erin Saxon PER 
30.03.2022 

 
1/0116/2022/
FUH 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Erection of summerhouse and 
associated works - 23 Burwood 
Road, Torrington, Devon. 

Mr Potts PER 
28.02.2022 

 
 

Page 126



1/0129/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Proposed single storey side 
extension - 71 Atlantic Way, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr And Ms 
Cooper And 
Jeffery 

PER 
10.03.2022 

 
1/0130/2022/
FUL 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Retrospective application for 
regularisation of existing fence - 
Gone Surfin, 19 Eastbourne 
Terrace, Westward Ho!. 

Mr and Mrs 
Constable 

PER 
11.03.2022 

 
1/0160/2022/
TCA 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - removal of conifer tree - 
Cross House, Fore Street, Northam. 

Wills Tree 
Services 

PER 
24.03.2022 

 
1/0007/2022/
NMAT 

James 
Jackson 

Non material amendment to 
planning approval 
1/0788/2019/FULM - Increase to 
floor levels of Plots 5-15 - Land 
North Of East Hill Park, Buckland 
Brewer, Devon. 

Pearce 
Construction 
Ltd 

PER 
15.03.2022 

 
1/0203/2022/
TRE 

Mary-
Ellen 
Whalley 

Removal of Scots Pine uprooted in 
storm, covered by TPO/0051/2015 - 
Land At Grid Reference 245309 
128441, Durrant Lane, Northam. 

Mr Richard 
Thurlow 

PER 
25.02.2022 

 
1/0224/2022/
AGR 

Tristan 
Otten 

Roof & side walls to existing Silage 
Clamp - Whitecroft Farm, Clawton, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Luke 
Furse 

PER 
24.03.2022 

 

Refusal 
 
1/1119/2021/
OUT 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for the conversion of 2 no. 
former almshouses to 2 no. units of 
holiday accommodation - The 
Laurels Inn, Petrockstowe, 
Okehampton. 

Mr & Mrs 
Johnson 

REF 
10.03.2022 

 
1/1276/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

 Application for approval of technical 
details for a single dwelling and 
associated works following grant of 
permission in principle. - Land South 
Of 1 North Town, Petrockstowe, 
Devon. 

Mr Grahame 
Phillips 

REF 
18.03.2022 

 
1/1373/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Formation of first floor gallery/void 
over ground floor dining area - The 
Old Smithy, Welcombe, Bideford. 

Mr Murrough 
McHugh 

REF 
10.03.2022 

 
1/0048/2022/
TRE 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Works to beech tree covered by 
TPO/0004/1971 - reduction of lateral 
branches & large limbs by 3 meters. 
- 4 Shute Wood, Hollocombe, 
Chulmleigh. 

Ms Eleanor 
Thornycroft 

REF 
29.03.2022 

 
 
 
 Page 127



Not Permitted Development 
 
1/0089/2022/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Timber cladded barn to store and 
process hemp - Land At Grid 
Reference 229077 125617, 
Hartland, Devon. 

Nick Osipczak NPD 
24.02.2022 

 
1/0092/2022/
AGR 

Tristan 
Otten 

Extension to agricultural barn - 
Headon Farm, Chilsworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr R Tratt NPD 
28.02.2022 

 
1/0114/2022/
AGR 

James 
Jackson 

Erection of agricultural shed for 
machine storage - Land At Grid 
Reference 242032 096087, 
Ashwater, Devon. 

Mr Jon 
Middleton 

NPD 
01.03.2022 

 

Page 128


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7a Application No. 1/1057/2021/FULM
	7b Application No. 1/0910/2021/FUL
	7c Application No. 1/1351/2021/FUL
	7d Application No. 1/0081/2022/FUL
	7e Application No. 1/1340/2021/FUL
	7f Application No. 1/0036/2022/FUL
	8 Appeal Decisions Summary
	8a - Appeal Decision 09132020
	Despatch Cover Letter - Shaun Harrington - 25 Feb 2022.pdf (p.1-2)
	Appeal Decision 3283406.pdf (p.3-4)

	8b - Appeal Decision  11802020
	Despatch Cover Letter - Costs - Shaun Harrington - 04 Mar 2022.pdf (p.1-2)
	3279537 Decision.pdf (p.3-5)
	3279537 Appellant Costs Deceision.pdf (p.6-7)
	3279537 Council Costs Decision.pdf (p.8-9)


	9 Costs on Appeals
	Despatch Cover Letter - Costs - Shaun Harrington - 04 Mar 2022.pdf (p.1-2)
	3279537 Decision.pdf (p.3-5)
	3279537 Appellant Costs Deceision.pdf (p.6-7)
	3279537 Council Costs Decision.pdf (p.8-9)

	10 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	11 Planning Decisions

